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May 2, 2019 

Corporate Relationship Department, 
BSE Limited 
Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers 
Dalal Street, Mumbai- 400001. 
Fax No. 022-22723121/3027/2039/2061/2041. 

Dear Sir/ Madam, 

Re- Scrip Code : 540526; Symbol : IRBINVIT 

Listing Department, 
National Stock Exchange of India Limited 
Exchange Plaza, C-1 Block G 
Sandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (E), Mumbai. 
Fax No. 022-26598237/38; 66418126 

Sub - Outcome of the Meeting of the Board of Directors of Investment Manager held on May 2, 2019. 

Please note that the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager of IRB Inv!T Fund (the Trust) at its meeting held on 
May 2, 2019 has: 

I) Approved Audited Consolidated & Standalone Financial Results of the Trust for the half year and financial year 
ended March 31,2019. A copy ofthe results alongwith the Audit Report is enclosed herewith. 

A copy of Corporate Presentation is being made available under Investor Relation Section of the website of the 
Trust (vvww.irbinvit.co.in). 

2) Declared 4th Distribution of Rs.3.1 0/- per Unit, for the financial year 2018-19. The distribution will be paid as 
Rs.2.20/- per Unit as Interest and Re.0.90/- per Unit as Return of Capital, subject to applicable taxes, if any. 

Please note that May 10, 2019 has been fixed as the Record Date for the purpose of Payment of this Distribution 
and it will be paid I dispatched to the eligible Unitholders on or before May 16,2019. 

3) Pursuant to Regulation I 0 of SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulation, 2014, the Net Asset Value are 
disclosed in the financials of the Trust. 

4) Noted assignment of rights and obligations of Project Manager under Project Implementation Agreement(s) to IRB 
Infrastructure Developers Limited (the Sponsor) subject to consultation with Trustee. 

The meeting commenced at 12.00 noon and concluded at _.2,_~ _' __ p.m. 

You are requested to take note of the same. 

For IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager to IRB InviT Fund) 

v 
Vinodkumar Menon 
Whole time Director 

Encl.: As above 



Auditor's Report On Half yearly Consolidated Financial Results and Year to Date Results 

To, 
The Board of Directors 

IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager to IRB lnviT Fund) 

IRB Complex, Chandivali Farm, 
Chandivali Village, 
Andheri (East), 
Mumbai 400 072, India. 

1. We have audited the accompanying statement of consolidated financial results of IRB lnviT Fund 
(hereinafter referred to as "the Fund") comprising its subsidiaries (the Fund and its subsidiaries 

together referred to as "the Group"), consisting of the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
including Other Comprehensive Income, explanatory notes thereto and the additional disclosures 
as required in paragraph 6 of Annexure A to the SEBI Circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/127/2016 dated 
November 29, 2016 ("SEBI Circular") for the half year ended March 31, 2019 and the 
consolidated results for the year ended March 31, 2019, attached herewith, being submitted by 

the Fund pursuant to the requirements of Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment 
Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular. The half yearly 
consolidated financial results are the derived figures between the audited figures in respect of the 
year ended March 31, 2019 and the published year-to-date figures up to September 30, 2018, 
being the date of the end of the first half of the current financial year, which were subject to 

limited review. 

The consolidated financial results for the half year ended March 31, 2019 and year ended March 
31, 2019 have been prepared on the basis of the consolidated financial results for the half year 
ended September 30, 2018, the audited annual consolidated lnd AS financial statements as at 

and for the year ended March 31, 2019, and the relevant requirements of the SEBI (Infrastructure 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular, 
which are the responsibility of the Investment Manager and have been approved by the Board of 
Directors of the Investment Manager. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial results based on our review of the consolidated financial results for the half 

year ended September 30, 2018 which was prepared in accordance with the recognition and 
measurement principles laid down in Indian 



Accounting Standard (lnd AS) 34 - Interim Financial Reporting, specified under Rule 2(1 )(a) of 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended read with relevant rules 
issued thereunder and other accounting principles generally accepted in India; our audit of the 

annual consolidated I nd AS financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 20 19; 
and the relevant requirements of Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) 
Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular. 

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in India. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial results are free of material misstatement(s). An audit 

includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts disclosed as financial 
results. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates 

made by management We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us and the audit evidence 
obtained by the other auditors in terms of their reports referred to in paragraph 4 below, is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial results. 

3. In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 
half yearly consolidated financial results as well as the year to date results: 

a. include the results of the following entities: 

i. IRB lnviT Fund 
ii. IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited 
iii. IDAA Infrastructure Limited 
iv. IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited 
v. IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited 

v1. M.V.R. Infrastructure and Tollways Limited 
vii. IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited 
viii. IRB Pathankot and Amritsar Toll Road Limited 

b. are presented in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 23 of SEBI 

(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended, read with SEBI 
Circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/127/2016 dated November 29, 2016, in this regard; and 

c. give a true and fair view of the consolidated total comprehensive income (comprising of 
net profit and other comprehensive income) and other financial information for the half 
year ended March 31, 2019 and for the year ended March 31, 2019. 

4. Further, read with paragraph 1 above, we report that the figures for the half year ended March 31, 
2019 represent the derived figures between the audited figures in respect of the financial year 
ended March 31, 2019 and the published year-to-date figures up to September 30, 2018, being 
the date of the end of the first half of the current financial year, which were subjected to a limited 
review as stated in paragraph 1 above, as required under Regulation 23 of the SEBI 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time read with 
SEBI Circular No CIR/IMD/DF/127/2016 dated November 29, 2016. 



5. We did not audit the financial statements and other financial information of 7 subsidiaries 
(mentioned in the paragraph (3)(a)(ii) to (viii) above), whose financial statements reflect total 
revenues (before eliminating intra-group transactions) of Rs. 63,140.27 Lakhs and Rs. 
122,227.72 Lakhs for the half year ended March 31, 2019 and for the year ended March 31, 

2019, respectively. These financial statements and other financial information have been audited 
by the other auditors and whose reports have been furnished to us by the management and our 
opinion on the consolidated financial results in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures 
included in respect of these subsidiaries and our reports in terms of lnviT regulations, in so far it 

as relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries is based solely on the reports of the other auditors. 

Our opinion above on the consolidated financial results is not modified in respect of the above 
matters with respect to our reliance on the work done and the reports of the other auditors. 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Reg. No.121750W I W-100010 

(Ramesh Gupta) 
Partner 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 
Dated: 02 May 2019 



Registered Office: IRB Complex, Chandivali 
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Part- I 

\ r 1 c · U( l{N .onso I< Me . I ·tnancta I f th I If rcsu ts or C Hl year en 

IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

(Rs. in lakhs ) 

---·----- ·---
d I ~ 1 I J I 2019 C( 1' arc 1 

Six Month ended I~"""';:"'" Six Month ended 
Year en de~- ended 

Sr. 
!\larch 31, 

eptcmbet· 30, March 31, 
Mat·ch 31, !\larch 31, 

Partieulars 2019 2018 

'"'' I '"" 

C\o. 
(l!nauditcd)-

2018 
(Unaudited)-

Refer Note 3 (Unaudited) 
Refct· Note 3 (Audited) (Audited) 

f---------
I L Incomes and gains J 

1----
Revenue from operations 62,674.78 58,610.28 59,425.66 121,285.06 99.200.84 
Interest 182.34 205.38 51.39 387.72 120.65 
Prof1t on sale of investments/assets 692.71 656.00 615.85 U48.71 883.04 

---~ -·-- .. -··---··------ ... 

Other income * 96.97 222.13 29!.74 319.10 311.24 
1----

_______ ,_ 
---

Total Income and gains 63,646.80 59,693.79 60,384.64 123,340.59 100,515.77 
·-··--·--·---

IL Expenses and losses 

Operation expenses 1,771.25 1,080.72 3,834.56 2,851.97 6,057.66 
Valuation expenses 23.65 17.09 7.14 40.74 7.14 
Annual Listing Fees - 60.81 - 60.81 -

Trustee Fees 14.71 14.79 - 29.50 -

Audit fees 45.84 37.75 36.11 83.59 67.17 
Insurance & sccunty expenses 667.65 563.39 616.88 1,231.04 I ,062.58 
Employee benefits expenses 1,280.51 I ,243.73 I ,234.64 2,524.24 2,026.64 
Investment management fees 
(Refer Note b below) 638.94 607.85 656.10 I ,246.79 I ,053.36 
Project management fees 
(Refer Note c below) 6,968.50 6,968.50 4,063.38 13,937.00 6,790.77 
Depreciation on property. plant and 
equipment 2.05 1.98 3.22 4.03 5.70 
Amortisation of intangible assets 32,269.62 31,780.64 28,008.65 64,050.26 48.707.18 
Finance costs (Interest) 7,802.80 7,572.43 7,207.29 15,375.23 9,050.01 

1--- . ---- ---
Finance costs (Others) 286.95 246.51 371.96 533.46 874.69 

1----
Repairs and maintenance 297.32 99.11 291.10 396.43 362.94 
Legal and professional fees 230.49 90.58 82.57 230.76 I 142.40 
Other expenses ** 796.42 430.74 613.92 817.47 1,031.65 
Total Expenses and losses 52,596.70 50,816.62 47,027.52 103,413.32 77,239.89 

III. 
Profit for the period before income 

11,050.10 8,877.17 13,357.12 19,927.27 23,275.88 tax (I)- (II) 

IV. 
Tax expenses (erm·ent tax and deferred 
tax)/rcversal 70.64 80.13 46.95 150.77 33.61 I 

v. Profit for the period after income tax 
I 0,979.46 8,797.04 13,310.17 19,776.50 23,242.27 (Ill)- (IV) ---

VI. Items ot'Other Comprehensive Income (32.81) - 6.26 (32.81) 6.26 

VII. 
Total Comprehensive Income (V) + 

10,946.65 8,797.04 13,316.43 19,743.69 23,248.53 (VI) 



Notes to consolidated r·esults: 

IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Twsts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

I. Investors can view the results of the IRB InviT Fund ('Fund' or 'Trust') on the Trust's website 
(~~V~\f..ii:.Qinvit.co.in) or on the websites of BSE (www.bseindia.com) or NSE (www .nseindia.com). 

2. IRB InviT Fund was registered as an irrevocable trust under the Indian Trusts Act, I 882 on October 16, 2015 
and as an infrastructure investment trust under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 on March 14,2016. Units ofiRB lnvlT fund has been listed on both the 
stock exchanges on l\1ay 18, 20 I 7. 

3. The half yearly Consolidated Financial Results are the derived figures between the audited figures in respect of 
the year ended March 31, 2019 and the published year-to-date figures up to September 30, 2018, being the date 
of the end of the first half of the current financial year, which were subject to limited review. The Consolidated 
Financial Results for the half year ended March 3 I, 20 I 9 have been prepared on the basis of the Consolidated 
Financial Results for the half year ended September 30, 2018. the audited annual consolidated financial 
statements as at and for the year ended March 3 I, 20 I 9, and the relevant requirements of the SEBJ 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular. 

The half yearly Consolidated Financial Results for the half year ended March 31, 2018 are the derived figures 

between the audited figures in respect of the year ended March 31, 2018 and published year-to-date figures up 

to September 30,2017, being the date of the end of the first half of the previous financial year, which were 

subject to limited review 

4. The audited Consolidated Financial Results for the year ended March 31, 20 I 9 have been reviewed by the 
Audit Committee of the Investment Manager at their meeting held on May 2, 20 I 9 and thereafter approved by 
the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager at their meeting held on May 2, 2019. 

5. The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager have declared 4th Distribution of Rs. 3.10 per unit which 
comprises of Rs. 2.20 per unit as interest and Rs. 0.90 per unit as return of capital in their meeting held on May 
02,2019. 

Total distribution made by the Fund is Rs. 12.25 per unit (including 1st Distribution ofRs. 3.05 per unit. 2"d 

Distribution ofRs.3.00 per unit and 3rd Distribution ofRs.3.10 per unit) for the year ended March 31,2019. 

6. (a) During the previous year, pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement(s) dated May 9, 2017, the Fund had 
acquired the six subsidiary companies (Project SPVs) (IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISDTL), IDAA 
Infrastructure Limited (IDAATL), IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (ITATL), IRB Jaipur Deoli 
Tollway Limited (IJDTL), M.V.R. Infrastructure and Tollways Limited (MITL) and IRB Tumkur Chitradurga 
Tollway Limited (ITCTL)). Accordingly, the revenue and corresponding expenses in these companies have 
been included ft·om May 09, 2017 to September 30, 2017 in the Consolidated Financial Results of the 
respective periods. 

(b) During the previous year, pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated September 28, 2017, the Fund 
had acquired the subsidiary company (Project SPV) IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IPATRL). 
Accordingly, the revenue and corresponding expenses in these companies have been included tl·om September 
28, 2017 to September 30, 2017 in the Consolidated Financial Results. 

(c) Subsidiaries were acquired fi-om the dates mentioned above. Accordingly the previous period 1s not 
comparable. 



IRB hwiT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Additional Disclosures as rcquir·cd by Paragraph G to SEBI Circular· 1\o. CIR/1:\fl)fi)F/127/2016: 

a. 1\et Distributable Cash Flows for the half year ended March 31, 2019 

(i) IRB lnviT Fund (Fund) 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Six Months Six months 
Six month Yeat· ended 

Year I 
Sc ended ended 

ended Mat·ch Mat·ch 31, ended 

I 
Particulat·s 

MatTh 31, Septembet· Mat·ch No. 
31, 2018 2019 

2019 30,2018 31,2018 
I ... --· 

Cash flows received from Project SPVs 

I 
I 30,358.12 31,367.83 32,045.95 61,725.95 

in the form of Interest 51,122.81 

2 
Cash flows received from Project SPVs 

- - - - -j in the form of Dividend 

Any other income accruing at the Trust _:J '"> level and not captured above, including 
509.79 607.35 430.69 Ll 17.14 .) 

but not limited to interest/return on 
surplus cash invested by the Trust 
Cash flows received from the project 

4 
SPVs towards the repayment (Net) of 

I 7,438.78 13,670.74 I 3,589.34 31,109.52 
21,911.70 the debt issued to the Project SPVs by 

the Trust 

5 
Total cash inflow at the Tmst level 

48,306.69 45,645.92 46,065.98 93,952.61 
(A) 73,480.65 
Less: 

Any payment of fees, interest and 
I 

6 
expense incurred at the Trust level, 

(7,177.43) (7,075.56) (7 ,045.20) ( 14,252.99) I including but not limited to the fees of (7.546.97) I 
the Investment Manager 

7 
Income tax (if applicable) at the 

- - 1.36 -
Standalone Trust Level 

8 Repayment of external debt (1,562.19) (1,749.50) (389.50) (3,311.69) (389.50) 

9 
Total cash outflows I t·etcntion at the 

(8,739.62) (8,825.06) (7,433.34) (17,564.68) Tt·ust level (B) (7,936.47) 

76,387.93 ~,544.18 10 
Net Dist.-ibutable Cash Flows (C)= 

39,567.07 36,820.86 3 8,632.64 
(A+B) 



(ii) IDAA Infr·astructur·c Limited (IDAATL) 

Six Months 
Sr. 

Oescr·iption 
ended 

No. March 31, 
2019 

Profit after tax as per Statement of 
I profit and loss/income and ( 495.87) 

expenditure (A) 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as 

2 per Statement of profit and 7,906.97 
loss/income and expenditure 

·-·· ··~-----

Add/less: Any other item of non-cash 
expense I non cash income (net of 

3 actual cash flows for these items), if -

deemed necessary by the Investment 
Manager 

--· . 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 2,439.84 
~--- ·--~------· 

5 
AJd :- Provision for Resurfacing 

196.10 
Expenses 

6 Less :- NI-IAI Premium -

7 Less :- Principal repayment -

8 Total Adjustments (B) 10,542.91 

9 
Net Oistr·ibutable Cash Flows (C)= 

I0,047.05 
(A+B) 

(iii) IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISDTL) 

Six Months 

SLNO. Description 
ended 

Mat·ch 31, 
2019 

Profit after tax as per Statement of 
I profit and loss/income and (772.96) 

expenditure (A) 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation 

2 as per Statement of profit and 13,150.00 
loss/income and expenditure 
Add/less: Any other item of non-
cash expense I non cash income (net 

" of actual cash flows for these items), -,) 

if deemed necessary by the 
Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 3,360.09 

5 
Add :- Provision for Resurfacing 

(I ,240.50) 
Expenses 

6 Less :- NI-IAI Premium -

7 Less :- Principal repayment -

8 Total Adjustments (B) I 5,269.59 

9 
Net Distl'ibutable Cash Flows (C) 

14,496.63 
= (A+B) 

IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Six months Six Months Year· Year· 

! ended ended ended ended 
September· Mar-ch 31, March Mat-ch 31, 

30,2018 2018 31,20I9 2018 

(I ,672.86) (61.86) (2,168.73) (I ,848.54) 

---j 
i 

7,760.30 6,649.59 15,667.27 12,213.171 

- - - -

2,742.21 3,130.41 5,182.05 5,555.46 

383.19 272.50 579.29 685.48 

- - - -

- - - -

10,885.69 10,052.50 2I,428.61 18,454. I I 

9,212.83 9,990.64 19,259.88 16,605.57 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Six months Six Months Year Yw .. I 

ended ended ended ended 
September· March 31, Mar·ch 31, Mar-ch 

30,2018 2018 2019 31,2018 

(2,550.18) (1,159.91) (3,323.14) (4,014.61) 

13,196.82 II ,850.74 26,346.82 21,291.40 

- - - -

3,942.11 4,300.92 7,302.20 7,964.43 

(1,240.50) (I ,031.90) (2,481 .00) (183.35) 

- - - -

- - - -

15,898.43 15,119.76 31,168.02 29,072.48 

13,348.25 13,959.85 27,844.88 25,057.87 



Sr. No. 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

Sc 
No. 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under tl1e Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment twst with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

(iv) IRB Talcgaon Amra\'ati Tollway Limited (ITATL) 
(Rs in lakhs) 

Six Months Six months Six Months Year· Year 
I 

I 

Descdption 
ended ended ended ended ended I 

March 31, Septembe1· Mar-ch 31, Mar·ch 31, Mar·ch 31, i 
2019 30,2018 2018 2019 2018 I 

Profit after tax as per Statement of (2,071.80) I profit and loss/income and (718 .41) (969.04) ( 1 ,036.46) (1,687.45) 
expenditure (A) 
Add: Depreciation and 
amoriisation as per Statement of I i 

profit and loss/income and 
478.18 484.37 428.74 I -962551 ~80:1 expenditure 

r 
Add/less: Any other item of non-
cash expense I non cash income 
(net of actual cash flows for these - - -

I - ! - I 
items). if deemed necessary by the 

I I r 

Investment Manager 

Add: Interest paid to the Fund 2,985.65 3,002.06 2,985.65 5,987.71 5,216.69 
Add :- Provision for Resurfacing 

158.00 158.00 111.90 316.00 283.10 
Expenses 

Less :- NHAI Premium - - - - I -

Less :- Principal repayment - - - - -

Total Adjustments (B) 3,621.83 3,644.43 3,526.29 7,266.26 6,280.32 
Net Distributable Cash Flows 

2,903.42 2,675.39 2,489.83 5,578.81 4,206.52 
(C)= (A+B) 

-··-----

(v) M.V.R Infrastructure and Tollways Limited (MITL) 
(Rs in lakhs) 

Six Months Six months Six Months Year Year· 

Description 
ended ended ended ended ended 

March 31, September 30, Mat·ch 31, Mat·ch 31, Mar·ch 
2019 2018 2018 20l9 31, 2018 

Profit after tax as per Statement of I 
profit and loss/income and 259.57 14.46 109.82 274.03 252.971 
expenditure (A) 
Add: Depreciation and amoriisation I 
as per Statement of profit and 1,030.52 1,032.89 882.65 2,063.41 1,588.141 
loss/income and expenditure 
Add/less: Any other item of non- ~----1 cash expense I non cash income (net 
of actual cash flows for these items), - - - -

if deemed necessary by the 
Investment Manager 

Add :- Interest paid to the Fund 1,616.14 1,674.08 1,659.41 3,290.22 2,772.67 
.... ---· -~~----- -·--~--····· ·~- -- ------------- -- ·--·---·-~ 

Add :- Provision for Resurfacing 
(213.50) (213.50) 300.76 (427.00) 762.40 

Expenses I 

Less:- NHAI Premium - . - . -

Le~s :-Principal repayment - - - - -
---· 

Total Adjustments (B) 2,433.16 2,493.47 2,842.82 4,926.63 5,123.21 
Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) 

2,692.73 2,507.93 2,952.64 5,200.65 I 5,376.18 = (A+B) 



IRB lnviT Fund 
{An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with tile Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

(vi) IRB Jaiput· Oeoli Tollway Limited (lJOTL) 

,----,---------------.--------.-------.-------.----(Rs in lakhs) 
Year 

1

1 Yea•· l 
Sr. No. 

2 

4 

Description 

Six Months 
ended 

Mat·ch 31, 
2019 

Six months 
ended 

Septem bet· 30, 
2018 

Six Months 
ended 

Mat·ch 31, 
2018 

ended ended I 
Mat·ch 31, ~~ Man·h 31, 

2019 . 2018 j 

Add :-Provision for Resurfacing 
Expenses 191.36 404.28 284.98 59~.64 --·---~2_2_.4~-~ 

6 Less:- NHAI Premium - - - - ~-

5 

7 Less:- Principal repayment - - - - ~-J 

8 Total Adjustments (B) 7,644.06 7,686.10 7,397.73 15,330.16 13,195.18 i 

9 
Net Oistdbutable Cash Flows ' 

L-----~~cc~·)~=~CA~+~B~) ______________ L_ ___ 4,_2_71_.6_o~ ______ 4_,_29_9_.8_5~----4,_3_45_._o5_L __ s,_s_7_L4_~ __ 8,868.06 1 

(vii) IRB Pathankot Amdtsat· Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) 

St·. 
No. 

2 

3 

Description 

Profit after tax as per Statement of 
profit and loss/income and 
expenditure (A) 
Add: Depreciation and 
amo1iisation as per Statement of 
profit and loss/income and 
expenditure 
Add/less: Any other item of non­
cash expense I non cash income 
(net of actual cash flows for these 
items), if deemed necessary by 
the Investment Manager 

Six Months 
ended 

Mat·ch 31, 
2019 

(4,928.11) 

2,470.35 

Six months 
ended 

September 30, 
2018 

(5,090.84) 

2,537.95 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 7,055.58 7, I 02.57 
1----+------~-------~---~--+----~ 

5 Add:- Provision for Resurfacing 494_96 497 _68 
Expenses 

6 Less :- NHAI Premium 

7 Less :- Principal repayment 

Six Months 
ended Mat·ch 

31,2018 

(4,763.16) 

2,252.60 

7,069.70 

494.96 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Year 
ended 

Mat·ch 31, 
2019 

(10,018.95) I 

5,008.30 1 

I 

I 

14.158151 
992.64 

Year I 
ended I 

March 31, 

1 
2018 

(4.825.47) 1 

2.289.531 

- I 
I 
I 

7,147.71 J 

503.121 

8 Total Adjustments (B) 10;020.89 10,138.20 9,817.26 20,159.09 9,940.36 

9 Net Oistdbutable Cash Flows : I 
L_ __ __L-'(-"-CL) _=__,( A:___+cc_Bt___) ------~~-.~_j__ ___ s_,_o9_2_. 7_8___L_ ______ s_,_o4_7_.3_6__j _________ 5,_o_s4_._1 o__.__ __ 1_o_, 1_4_0._14_1 __ s, 114.89 _j 

_, 



Sr. 
No. 

I 

2 

., 

.) 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

IRB hwiT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

(viii) IRB Tumkur Chitt·adur·ga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) 
(Rs. in lakhs) 

Six Months Six months Six Months 
Year· ended Year· ended ended ended ended 

Description 
Mat-ch 31, September March 31, 

March 31, Mar·ch 31, 

2019 30,2018 2018 
2019 2018 

Profit after tax as per Statement of 

(5.414.53) I , 4.615.02) profit and loss/income and (2,835.03) (2,579.50) (2,457.17) 
expenditure (A) 
Add: Depreciation and 
amoriisation as per Statement of 

6,325.84 6,066.00 5,340.96 12,391.84 9,595.72 profit and loss/income and 
I 

I expenditure 
---~-

_____ ____j 
Add/less: Any other item of non-
cash expense I non cash income 
(net of actual cash flows for these - - - - -
items), if deemed necessary by the 
Investment Manager 

---
Add: Interest paid to the Fund 6,703.58 6,672.83 6,701.47 13,376.41 II ,628.56 
Add :-Provision for Resurfacing 

186.02 480.96 339.03 666.98 859.40 Expenses 
Less :- NHAI Premium (6,912.00) (7,026.25) (7,892.38) (13,938.25) ( 13,928.75) 
Less :- Principal repayment - - - - -

Total Adjustments (B) 6,303.44 6,193.54 4,489.08 12,496.98 8,154.93 I ···---··--··· 

Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) 
3,468.41 3,614.04 2,031.91 7,082.45 3,539.91 =(A+B) 

b. Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager is entitled to an Investment 
Management fees to be calculated@ I% per annum, exclusive of Service Tax I GST, of the consolidated 
toll revenue (net of premium paid I revenue shared with NHAI) of the Fund at the end of the reporiing 
period subject to a floor of Rs. I 00 million and a cap of Rs. 250 million. 

c. In accordance with the Project Implementation Agreements, the fees and remuneration payable by the 
Project SPVs to the Project Manager has been worked out and agreed upon for the duration of current 
financial year, between the Project Manager, Investment Manager and the respective Project SPV, on an 
arm's length basis, after taking into account the extent of work to be done in respect of maintenance and 
other services to be provided by the Project Manager to such Project SPV. 

d. Statement of Earnings per· unit 
(Rs in lakhs except for unit data) 

Six Months Six Months Six Months Year ended I 
ended ended ended 

Year· ended 
March 31, 

I 
Par·ticular·s March 31, 

March 31, Septembet· March 31, 
2019 2018 

2019 30,2018 2018 
Profit for the period 10,979.46 8,797.04 13,310.17 19,776.50 23 ,242.?2__ 

-~ 

Number of units outstanding for 
comput?tion of basic and diluted 580,500,000 580,500,000 580,500,000 580,500,000 580,500,000 
earnings per unit 
Earnings per unit (basic and 1.89 

1.52 2.29 3.41 4.00 diluted) 



IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

c. Statement of contingent liabilities and commitments 

Contingent liabilities 

Contingent liabilities not provided for 

(Rs in lakhs) 

As at As at As at 1 
Par·ticular·s Mat-ch 31, September· 30, Mar·ch 31, ' 

2019 2018 2018 

NI-IAI claim for shortfall in Revenue share 3,289.08 3.289.08 3.289 08 

3,289.08 3,289.08 3,289.08 

Capital commitments 

(Rs in lakhs) 

As at As at As at 
Particular-s Mar-ch 31, September· 30, Mar·ch 31, 

2019 2018 2018 

Estimated value of contracts In capital account 
34.53 

remaining to be executed 
- -

Commitment for acquisition of toll equipment & 
- - 16.74 

machineries 
---··-------- ----·~--~---·- ··-·-·-----~-~-------- ---------- - ·----11.98-f Other commitments - 32.98 

- 32.98 63.25 

f. Statement of r·elated par·ty tr·ansactions 

I. List of Related Par·ties 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) (Sponsor) 
IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL) (Investment 

i. Par·ties to the Fund 
Manager) 
Modern Road Makers Private Limited (MRMPL) (Project 
Manager) 
lOBI Trusteeship Services Limited (ITSL) (Trustee) 



IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

--
~ ii. Promoters/ Dir·ector·s of the par·ties to the IRB lnviT Fund specified in (i) above I 

Particular·s 

Pr-omoters 

Directors 

IRB Infrastructure IRB Infrastructur-e Modem Road Makers lOBI Tr-usteeship I 
Developers Limited Private Limited Pr·ivate Limited 

Services Limited 
(Trustee ofthe IRB I (Sponsor) (Investment manager·) I (Project manager·) 
lnviT Fund) 

Mr. Virendra D. IRB Infi·astructure IRB Infrastructure lOBI Bank Limited 
Mhaiskar Developers Limited Developers Limited Life Insurance 
Mrs. Deepali V. Corporation of India 
Mhaiskar General Insurance 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar Corporation of India 
HUF I 

Mr. Virendra D. Mr. Vinodkumar Menon Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta Mr.G.M. 
Mhaiskar Yadwadkar 
Mrs. Deepali V. Mr. Dhananjay I<.. Joshi Mr. Ravishankar G. 
Mhaiskar Shinde 
Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta Mr. A jay P. Deshmukh Ms. Madhuri J. 

Kulkarni 
Mr. Sudhir Rao Hashing Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma Mr. Swapan Kumar 

Bag chi 
Mr. Saurabh 
Chandra 
(w.e.f. 21.05.2018) 
Ms. Sashikala 
Mural idharan 

Independent dir·ector·s Independent director-s Independent dir·ector·s 
Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Mr. R P Singh Mr. Chandrashekhar S. 
I<.aptan I<.aptan 
Mr. Sunil H. Talati Mr. B L Gupta Mrs. Heena Raja 

Mr. San deep J. Shah Mr. Sumit Banerjee 

Mr. Sunil Tandon 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon 

Mr. Tushar Kawedia 

Mr. Urmil Shah 

Mr. Bajrang La! Gupta 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee 

Mr. J itendra Sharma 

Mrs. Heena Raja (w.e.f.30.03.20 19) 
iii. Oir·cctors of Subsidiar-ies -----------------1 

Mr. Raj paulS. Sharma (resigned on I 0.05.20 17) 
Mrs. Kshama Vengsarkar (resigned on 
10.05.2017) 
Mr. Sandeep Shah (resigned on I 0.05.20 17) 

Mr. C S Kaplan (resigned on I 0.05.20 17) 

Mr. Ajay P. Deshmukh (resigned on 10.05.2017) 
Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar (resigned on 
10.05.2017) 
Mr. Naresh Taneja (resigned on I 0.05.20 17) 

Mr. Mukesh Lal Gupta (resigned on I 0.05.20 17) 

Mrs. Arati Taskar (resigned on 10.05.2017) 

Mr. Om Prakash Singh (resigned on I 0.05.20 17) 



II T . I ransactwns w1t 1 •·c ate d part1cs ,-- -

Sr. 
No. 

Pat·ticulars Relation 

I 
~---~··· 

Pt·oject Manager Fees 
MRMPL Project 

Manager 

2 Investment 
Management fees paid 
(including indit·ect 
taxes) 
IRBFL Investment 

Manager 

3 Repayment of loan 
given 
IRBIDL Sponsor 

4 Repayment of loan 
taken 
IRBIDL Sponsor 
MRMPL Project 

Manager 

5 Subm·dinated debts 
t·epaid 
IRBIDL Sponsor 
MRMPL Project 

Manager 

~ Repayment of t·etention 
money/ Security 
Deposit 

-
MRMPL Project 

Manager 

7 Perfot·mance security 
t·eceived 
MRMPL Project 

Manager 

------ ---· 
8 Dit·ectot· sitting fees Director 

Mr. Ajay Deshmukh 
Mr.Rajpaul Shanna 

1-- -----

Mr. Sandeep Shah 
Mr. Chandrashekhar 
Kaptan 
Mrs. Kshama Vengsarkar 

IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust witfl the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

d 'd u nno t 1c pcno Sill a {IS ( R . I II ) 

Six 
Six Months 

Six 
Months 

ended 
Months Year ended Year ended 

ended 
Septembet· 

ended Mat·ch 31, March 31, 
March 31, March 2019 2018 

2019 
30,2018 

31,2018 
6,968.-50 6,968.50 5,581.43 13,937.00 8,308.82 
6,968.50 6,968.50 5,581.43 13,937.00 8,308.82 

~-----------f--------------

638.94 607.85 656.10 1,246.79 1,053.36 

638.94 607.85 656.10 I ,246.79 I ,053.36 

- - - - 2,353.21 

- - - - 2,353.21 

1 

- - - - 62,742.77 

- - - - 47,521.20 

- - - - 15,221.57 
--------- ----------

- - - - 99,431.00 
---

- - - - 81,305.51 

- - - - 18,125.49 

- - - - 25,750.00 

- - - - 25.750.00 

- - - - 2,950.00 

- - - - 2,950.00 

·-·- --
12.74 14.72 9.70 27.46 20.89 

- - - - 0.70 
- - - - 0.60 
- - - - 0.47 

- - - - 0.47 

- - - - 0.30 



Six 

Sr. Months 

No. 
Particular·s Relation ended 

Mar·ch 31, 
2019 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon 1.86 
Mr.Tushar Kawedia 0.94 
Mr. Urmil Shah 0.94 

··-------

Mr.Sumit Banarjee 3.30 
Mrs. H~e_l1<.~_~aj_'!___ ______ 4.10 

f--------- -~--~ ~---·--- --
Mr. Jitendra Sharma 0.40 
Mr. M L Gupta -

Mr. Omprakash Singh -

Mrs. Arati Taskar -

Mr. Bajrang La! Gupta 1.20 
Mr. Darshan 

-
Sangurdekar 
Mr.Naresh Taneja -

9 Put·chase of equity 
shares of subsidiat·ies 

-
through issue of Unit 
Capital* 

·--· 

IRBIDL Sponsor -

MRMPL Project 
-

Manager 

-------
10 Purchase of equity -shar·es of IPATRL 

IRBIDL Sponsor -

MRMPL Project 
-

Manager 

11 Tnding sales -
MRMPL Project 

-
Manager 

!-----
12 Payment against tt·ade 

-
payable 
MRMPL Project 

-
Manager 

13 Tt·usteeship Fees ---
ITSL Trustee -

!---

14 Contract expenses 23.72 
Project MRMPL 

23.72 
Manager 

15 Distdbution in the fonn 
4,675.77 

of inter·est 
IRBIDL Sponsor 4,079.02 
Mr. Virendra D. Director of 514.80 

IRB hwiT Fund 
{An irrevocable trust set up under t!Je Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with tiJe Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Six Months 
Six 

ended 
Months Year· ended Year· ended 

September· 
ended Mar·ch 31, Mar·ch 31, 
Mar·ch 2019 2018 30,2018 

31,2018 
2.60 2.32 4.46 4.74 
1.16 1.50 2.10 3.46 
1.16 1.60 2.10 3.56 
3.40 1.48 6.70 1.78 
3.90 1.71 8.00 1.81 

·--" ~----- -------- --
1.00 0.45 1.40 0.96 

- - - 0.29 
- - - 0.40 
- - - 0.11 

1.50 0.64 2.70 0.83 
--

- - - 0.31 

- - - 0.10 

- - - 106,501.76 

-
- - - I 01,795.26 

- - - 4,706.50 

-- ---

- - - 9,909.00 

- - - 8,918.10 

- - - 990.90 

- 96.12 - 96.12 

- 96.12 - 96.12 

- 1,807.98 - 1,807.98 

- 1,807.98 - 1,807.98 

29.50 - 29.50 -
29.50 - 29.50 -

44.90 - 68.62 -
·--

44.90 - 68.62 -

4,140.62 3,960.55 8,816.39 4,874.89 

4,125.37 3,955.27 8,204.39 4,869.61 
5.56 - 520.36 -



SL 
No. 

Particula1·s 

Mhaiskar 
Mrs. Deepali V. 
lvlhaiskar 
Mr. Sudhir Rao Hashing 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon 

Relation 

Sponsor 
Director of 

Sponsor 
Director of 

Sponsor 
Director of 

Sponsor & 
Project 
Manager 
Director of 

Investment 

Six 
Months 
ended 

March 31, 
2019 

63.80 

IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Six Months 
ended 

Scptembc1· 
30,2018 

5.46 

Six 
Months 
ended 
Mat·ch 

31,2018 

\'cat· ended 
Mat·ch 31, 

2019 

Year ended 
Mat-ch 31, 

2018 

I 

3.74 69.26 3.74 

1

, 

4.40-- ·--3-.3-4---+1~-~-]_2_- _2:74_J ~32_1 
4.29 - 4.29 -

1.32 1.32 
Manager 

1----+--------------------~----~------~---------+---------~-------------------+--------~ 
Mr. B.L.Gupta Director of 

0.22 0.22 0.44 

!------- . . 
Mr. Sumit BaneiJee 

Investment 
Manager 
Director of 

Project I.IO 0.67 0.22 !.77 0.22 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi 
Manag~c..r __ ~--+-----------1------------+---------+----·-----l-------......J 
Director of 

0.66 0.66 Project 
Manager 

'-------------·--·-c--:-:---+---c-::--'--"''-'----::---l------l------+----t--------+--------1 
Mr. Ajay P. Deshmukh Director of 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma 

Project 
Manager 
Director of 

Project 
Manager 

5.72 5.72 

0.44 0.44 

~~--~----------~--~-------------+------li---------~-------+--------i-----~ 
16 Distdbution in the fot·m J 

f f 
. I 1,806.71 1,488.76 1,440.20 3,295.47 1,875.60 

o return o captta ~ 

IRBIDL Sponsor I ,575.99 I ,483.28 I ,438.28 3,059.27 I ,873.68 
Mr. Virendra D. Director of 

I k 
I 98.90 2.00 - 200.90 

M 1ais ·ar Sponsor 

24.75 !.36 
Mrs. Deepali V. Director of 
Mhaiskar Sponsor 

!.96 26.71 1.36 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hashing Director of i 

S 
I.70 I.20 0.48 2.90 0.48 1 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon 

Mr. B.L.Gupta 

Mr. Sumit Bane1jee 

ponsor ~ 

Sponsor & 
Director of _ / 

P 
. 1.70 - - I. 70 

rGJeCt 

Director of 
Investment 

0.09 

0.43 

0.08 0.17 

0.24 0.08 0.67 0.08 



SL 
No. 

f--~ 

---

L 

s.-. 
No. 

I 

2 

--
3 

4 

Six 
Months 

Particulars Relation ended 
Mar·ch 31, 

2019 
Manager 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi Director of 
Project 0.26 
Manager 

Mr. Ajay P. Deshmukh Director of 
Project 2.21 
Mananer 

~-- ·-~ 

_____ ----'2_ ___ ~ -------
Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma Director of 

Project 0.17 
Manager 

Ill. Related party outstanding balances 

Par·ticular·s Relation 

Tr·ade Payables 

MRMPL Project Manager 

IRB hwiT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Six Months 
Six 

ended 
Months \'ear· ended Year ended 

September· 
ended Mar·ch 31, Mar·ch 31, 

30,2018 
Mar·ch 2019 2018 

31,2018 

- - 0.26 -

- - 2.21 -

-·-~--·------~ --- -~- ------·---~---~ -~---------

- - 0.17 -

··--·-~·"-

( Ks m lakhs ) 
As on 

As on 
As on September· 

Mar·ch 31, 
Mar·ch 31,2019 30, 

2018 
2018 

9,291.09 132.15 11,382.91 

8,999.60 104.99 11,116.61 

IRBFL Investment Manager 291.49 27.16 266.30 
---~-----~ 

------

Per·for·mance security 2,950.00 - 2,950.00 

MRMPL Project Manager 2,950.00 - 2,950.00 

--
Dir·ector· sitting fees payable Director - 0.52 3.60 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon - 0.08 0.85 
--

Mr. Tushar Kawedia - 0.05 0.50 

Mr. Urmil Shah - 0.05 0.55 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee - 0.12 0.71 
-~--

Mrs. Heena Raja - 0.13 0.71 

Mr. J itendra Sharma - 0.04 0.14 

Mr. Bajaranglal Gupta - 0.05 0.14 

Retention money/ Secm·ity Deposit 759.23 370.52 750.00 

MRMPL Project Manager 759.23 370.52 750.00 

* IRBIDL and MRMPL has sold units 111 Offer for sale amounting to Rs. 12,973.66 lakhs and Rs. 4, 706.50 lakhs 
respectively. 

During the FY 2018-19, IRB lnv!T Fund has not acquired any asset from related parties 



IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under t11e Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

During the previous half year ended September 30,2017, the Fund had acquired seven projects i.e. IDAATL, ISDTL, 
ITATL, IJDTL, MITL, ITCTL and IPATRL ft-om IRBIDL and its subsidiary Companies. 

• Pursuant to Share Purchase Agreement(s) dated May 9, 2017, the Fund has acquired six projects i.e. IDAATL, 
ISDTL, ITATL, IJDTL, MITL and ITCTL fi·om IRBIDL and its subsidiary companies. The investment for the 
said acquisition was raised through Initial Public Issue. 

Summary of valuation report dated March 29, 2017 issued by the independent valuer under the lnviT 
Regulations is as follows: 

Fair Enterprise value of6 SPVs' as on March 31, 2017 is as under:-
(Rs. in million) 

Name of the SPV Fait· enterprise 
value 

1-------
IDAATL 7, I 70.33 

IJDTL 23,1 14.58 

ISDTL 13,879.05 

ITATL 7,176.06 

ITCTL 15,503.79 

MITL 3,663.85 

Total Ente1·prise value of all the 6 SPVs' 70,507.66 

• Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated September 28, 2017, IRB lnv!T Fund has further acquired 
IPATRL from IRBIDL and MRMPL. 

Summary of valuation report dated August 31, 2017 issued by the independent valuer under the Inv!T 
Regulations is as follows:-

Fair Enterprise value of IPA TRL as on September 30, 20 I 7 is as under:-
(Rs in million) 

Fai1· ente•·prise 
Name of the SPV value 

IPATRL I 7,857.30 

After considering the aforesaid Valuation Repotis submitted by the relevant independent intermediaries and 
pursuant to the negotiations between the Investment Manager and the Sponsor, IPATRL has been acquired at 
an enterprise value of Rs. I 5,693.30 million. The acquisition price of IPATRL, negotiated between the 
Investment Manager and the Sellers, represents a discount of I 2% to the Fair Enterprises Value mentioned 
above. 
The project was acquired through external borrowings of Rs. I 5,500 million @ 8. I 5% p.a. rate of interest. 

• The following approach and assumptions have been considered for the valuation exercise:-

a. The Free Cash Flows to Firm under the Discounted Cash Flow Method has been used for the purpose of 
valuation of each of the above SPVs. 

b. The Weighted Average Cost of Capital for each of the SPVs has been considered as the discount rate for 
respective SPV for the purpose of valuation. 

• There is no material condition or obligation in relation to the transaction. 



IRB lnviT Fund 
(All irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with tile Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

• No fees or commission were received or to be received by any associate of the related party in relation to the 
transaction. 

For· IRB lnfr·astr·uctur·e Private Limited 
(Investment Manager· to IRB lnviT Fund) 

\ "" O:s.-----~~ 
Vinodkumar· Menon 
Whole time Director 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 02, 2019 



Auditor's Report on Half yearly Standalone Financial Results and Year to Date Results 

To, 
The Board of Directors 

IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager to IRB lnviT Fund) 

IRB Complex, Chandivali Farm, 
Chandivali Village, 
Andheri (East), 

Mumbai 400 072, India. 

1. We have audited the accompanying statement of standalone financial results of IRB lnviT Fund 
("Fund"), consisting of the Statement of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive Income, 
explanatory notes thereto and the additional disclosures as required in paragraph 6 of Annexure 

A to the SEBI Circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/127/2016 dated November 29, 2016 ("SEBI Circular") for 
the half year ended March 31, 2019 and for the year ended March 31, 2019 ('standalone financial 
results'), attached herewith, being submitted by the Fund pursuant to the requirements of 
Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended 
from time to time read with SEBI Circular. The standalone financial results are the derived figures 
between the audited figures in respect of the year ended March 31, 2019 and the published year­
to-date figures up to September 30, 2018, being the date of the end of the first half of the current 
financial year, which were subject to limited review. 

The standalone financial results for the half year ended March 31, 2019 and year ended March 
31, 2019 have been prepared on the basis of the standalone financial results for the half year 
ended September 30, 2018, the audited annual standalone lnd AS financial statements as at and 
for the year ended March 31, 2019, and the relevant requirements of the SEBI (Infrastructure 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular, 
which are the responsibility of the Investment Manager and have been approved by the Board of 

Directors of the Investment Manager. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
standalone financial results based on our review of the standalone financial results for the half 
year ended September 30, 2018 which was prepared in accordance with the recognition and 
measurement principles laid down in Indian Accounting Standard (lnd AS) 34 - Interim Financial 
Reporting, specified under Rule 2(1)(a) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 
2015, as amended read with relevant rules issued thereunder and other accounting principles 
generally accepted in India; our audit of the annual standalone lnd AS financial statements as at 



and for the year ended March 31, 2019; and the relevant requirements of Regulation 23 of the 
SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read 
with SEBI Circular. 

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in India. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial results are free of material misstatement(s). An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts disclosed as financial results. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

3. In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
the standalone financial results as well as the year to date results: 

i. are presented in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 23 of SEBI (Infrastructure 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended, read with SEBI Circular No 
CIR/IMD/DF/127/2016 dated November 29, 2016 in this regard; and 

ii. give a true and fair view of the total comprehensive income (comprising of net profit and other 
comprehensive income) and other financial information for the half year ended March 31, 2019 
and for the year ended March 31, 2019. 

4. Further, read with paragraph 1 above, we report that the figures for the half year ended March 31, 
2019 represent the derived figures between the audited figures in respect of the financial year 
ended March 31, 2019 and the published year-to-date figures up to September 30, 2018, being 
the date of the end of the first half of the current financial year, which were subjected to a limited 
review as stated in paragraph 1 above, as required under Regulation 23 of the SEBI 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time read with 
SEBI Circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/127/2016 dated November 29, 2016. 

FOR SURESH SURANA & ASSOCIATES LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Reg. No. 121750W/W-100010 

~ 

(Ram 
Partner 
Membership No.:102306 

Place: Mumbai 
Dated: 02 May 2019 
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Part I 

IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

(Rs. in lakhs, except per unit data) 

Audited Standalone Financial Result for the half year ended March 31, 2019 

Six month Six month Six month Year Year 
ended ended ended ended ended 

Sr. 
Particulars March September March March March 

No. 31,2019 30,2018 31,2018 31,2019 31,2018 
(Audited- (Unaudited) (Audited- (Audited) (Audited) 

Refer note 3) Refer note 3) 

I Incomes and gains 

Interest on loan 30,358.12 31,367.83 32,045.95 61,725.95 

Profit on sale of investments 353.00 408.88 340.77 761.88 

Interest on bank deposits 174.96 127.38 0.78 302.34 

Other income (fair value gain) (18.17) 71.09 89.14 52.92 

Total income and gains 30,867.91 31,975.18 32,476.64 62,843.09 

II Expenditure 

Valuation expenses 23.65 17.09 7.14 40.74 

Annual listing fee - 60.81 - 60.81 

Audit fees 5.85 6.84 7.94 12.69 

Investment management fees (refer 
638.94 607.85 656.10 1,246.79 

note b below) 

Trustee fees 14.71 14.79 - 29.50 

Finance cost (interest) 6,435.05 6,340.69 6,343.64 12,775.74 

Legal and professional expenses 58.96 8.23 28.93 67.19 

Other expenses* 0.27 19.26 1.45 19.53 

Total Expenses 7,177.43 7,075.56 7,045.20 14,252.99 

III 
Profit from ordinary activities 

23,690.48 24,899.62 25,431.44 48,590.10 before tax (I) - (II) 

IV 
Tax expense (current tax and - - (1.58) -deferred tax) I reversal 

v Profit for the period after income 
23,690.48 24,899.62 25,433.02 48,590.10 tax (III)- (IV) 

VI 
Items of Other Comprehensive - - - -Income 

VII 
Total Comprehensive Income (after 

23,690.48 24,899.62 25,433.02 48,590.10 tax) (V) +(VI) 

*Other expenses include bank charges, rates & taxes, communication cost, printing & stationary and other 
miscellaneous expenses. 

51,122.81 

348.82 

0.78 

96.54 

51,568.95 

7.14 

-

12.66 

1,053.36 

-

6,412.99 

55.47 

5.35 

7,546.97 

44,021.98 

-

44,021.98 

-

44,021.98 



Notes: 

IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust witll the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

1. Investors can view the results of the IRB InviT Fund ('Fund' or 'Trust') on the Trust's website 
(www.irbinvit.co.in) or on the websites ofBSE (www.bseindia.com) or NSE (www.nseindia.com). 

2. The Audited Standalone Financial Results comprises of the Standalone Statement of profit and loss, 
explanatory notes thereto and additional disclosures as required in paragraph 6 of Annexure A to the SEBI 
Circular no. CIR/IMD/DF/127/2016 dated November 29, 2016 ('SEBI Circular') of IRB InviT Fund 
('Fund') for the half year ended March 31, 2019 ("Standalone Financial Results"). 

3. The half yearly Standalone Financial Results are the derived figures between the audited figures in respect 
of the year ended March 31, 2019 and the published year-to-date figures up to September 30, 2018, being 
the date of the end of the first half of the current financial year, which were subject to limited review. The 
Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended March 31, 2019 have been prepared on the basis of 
the Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended September 30, 2018, the audited annual standalone 
financial statements as at and for the year ended March 3 1, 2019, and the relevant requirements of the 
SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI 
Circular. 
The half yearly Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended March 31, 2018 are the derived 
figures between the audited figures in respect of the year ended March 31, 2018 and published year-to-date 
figures up to September 30,2017, being the date ofthe end ofthe first halfofthe previous financial year, 
which were subject to limited review. 

4. The Audited Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended March 31, 2019 have been reviewed by 
the Audit Committee of the Investment Manager at their meeting held on May 02, 2019 and thereafter 
approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager at their meeting held on May 02, 2019. 

5. The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager have declared 41
h Distribution of Rs. 3.10 per unit 

which comprises of Rs. 2.20 per unit as interest and Re.0.90 per unit as return of capital in their meeting 
held on May 02, 20 19. 

Total distribution made by the Fund is Rs. 12.25 per unit (including 1 '1 Distribution ofRs. 3.05 per unit, 2"d 
Distribution ofRs.3.00 per unit and 3rd Distribution ofRs.3.10 per unit) for the year ended March 31, 2019. 

6. IRB lnvlT Fund was registered as an irrevocable trust under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 on October 16, 
2015 and as an infrastructure investment trust under the Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 on March 14, 2016. Units of IRB InviT Fund have 
been listed on both the stock exchanges on May 18, 2017. 



IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Additional Disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 of Annexure A to SEBI Circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/127/2016: 

a) Net Distributable Cash Flows as at the Standalone Trust level 

(Rs. in lakhs) 
Six month Six month Six month Year Year 

Sr. 
Particulars 

ended ended ended ended ended 
No. March 31, September March 31, March 31, March 31, 

2019 30,2018 2018 2019 2018 
-···· 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

Cash flows received from 
Project SPVs in the form of 30,358.12 31,367.83 32,045.95 61,725.95 51,122.81 
Interest 

Cash flows received from 
Project SPVs in the form of - - - - -
Dividend 

Any other income accruing 
at the Trust level and not 
captured above, including 

509.79 607.35 430.69 1,117.14 446.14 but not limited to 
interesUreturn on surplus 
cash invested by the Trust 
Cash flows received from 
the project SPVs towards 
the repayment of the debt 17,438.78 13,670.74 13,589.34 31,109.52 21,911.70 
issued to the Project SPVs 
by the Trust 

Total cash inflow at the 
48,306.69 45,645.92 46,065.98 93,952.61 73,480.65 Trust level (A) 

Less: 

Any payment of fees, 
interest and expense 
incurred at the Trust level, 

(7, 177.43) (7,075.56) (7,045.20) (14,252.99) (7,546.97) including but not limited to 
the fees of the Investment 
Manager 

Income tax (if applicable) 
at the Standalone Trust - - 1.36 - -
Level 

Repayment of external (1 ,562.19) (1 ,749.50) (389.50) (3,311.69) (389.50) debt 

Total cash outflows I 
retention at the Trust (8,739.62) (8,825.06) (7,433.34) (17,564.68) (7,936.47) 
level (B) 

Net Distributable Cash 
Flows 39,567.07 36,820.86 38,632.64 76,387.93 65,544.18 
(C)= (A+B) 

b) Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager is entitled to an Investment 
Management fees to be calculated @ 1% per annum, exclusive of Service Tax I GST, of the consolidated 
toll revenue (net of premium paid I revenue shared with NHAI) of the Fund at the end of the each quarter 
subject to a floor ofRs. 100 million and a cap ofRs. 250 million. 



IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust witl1 the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

c) Statement of earnings per unit 
(R . I kh s. m a s, excep1 or um a a t f 't d t ) 

Particulars Six month ended Six month ended Six month ended Year ended Year ended 
March 31, 2019 September 30, 2018 March 31,2018 March 31,2019 March 31, 2018 

Profit for the period 23,690.48 24,899.62 25,433.02 48,590.10 44,021.98 

Number of units 
outstanding for 

580,500,000 580,500,000 580,500,000 580,500,000 580,500,000 
computation of basic and 
diluted earnings per unit 
Earnings per unit in Rs. 

4.08 4.29 4.38 8.37 7.58 
(basic and diluted) 

d) Statement of contingent liabilities and commitments 
(Rs. in lakhs) 

Particulars 
As at As at As at 

March 31, 2019 September 30, 2018 March 31,2018 

Contingent liabilities Nil Nil Nil 
Commitments Nil Nil Nil 

e) Statement of Related party transactions 

I. List of Related Parties 

i. Subsidiaries/ SPVs IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAAIL) 
(Formerly known as IDAA Infrastructure Private Limited) 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IJDTL) 
(Formerly known as IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Private Limited) 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IP A TRL) 
(Formerly known as IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Private Limited) 

IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISDTL) 
(Formerly known as IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Private Limited) 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (IT A TL) 
(Formerly known as IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Private Limited) 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) 
(Formerly known as IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Private Limited) 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) 
(Formerly known as M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Private Limited) 

ii. Parties to the Fund IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) (Sponsor) 
IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL) (Investment Manager) 
Modern Road Makers Private Limited (MRMPL) (Project Manager) 
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (ITSL) (Trustee) 



IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment twst with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

iii. Promoters/ Directors of the parties to the Fund specified in (ii) above 

IRB Infrastructure 
IRB Infrastructure Modern Road IDBI Trusteeship 

Particulars Developers Limited 
Private Limited Makers Private Services Limited 
(Investment Limited (Trustee of the IRB 

(Sponsor) 
manager) (Project manager) InviT Fund) 

Promoters Mr. Virendra D. IRB Infrastructure IRB Infrastructure IDBI Bank Limited 
Mhaiskar Developers Limited Developers Limited 

Mrs. Deepali V. Life Insurance 
Mhaiskar Corporation of India 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar General Insurance 
HUF Corporation of India 

Directors Mr. Virendra D. Mr. Vinodkumar Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta Mr. G.M. Yadwadkar 
Mhaiskar Menon 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mr. Dhananjay K. Mr. Ravishankar G. 
Mhaiskar Joshi Shinde 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta Mr. Ajay P. Ms. Madhuri J. 
Deshmukh Kulkarni 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Mr. Rajpaul S. Mr. Swapan Kumar 
Hoshing Sharma Bagchi 

Mr. Saurabh Chandra 
(w.e.f. 21.05.2018) 

Ms. Sashikala 
Muralidharan 

Independent Independent Independent 
directors directors directors 
Mr. Chandrashekhar Mr. R P Singh Mr. Chandrashekhar 
S. Kaptan S. Kaptan 

Mr. Sunil H. Talati Mr. B L Gupta Mrs. Heena Raja 

Mr. Sandeep J. Shah Mr. Sumit Banerjee 

Mr. Sunil Tandon 

Mrs. Heena Raja 
(w.e.f.30.03.20 19) 



II. Transactions with related parties 

Six month 
Sr. 

Particulars Relation ended 
No. March 31, 

2019 

1 Subordinate debt 
given -
IJDTL Subsidiary -

IPATRL Subsidiary -
ITATL Subsidiary -
ITCTL Subsidiary -

2 Secured loans given . 
(Long term) 

ISDTL Subsidiary -
IJDTL Subsidiary -
IDAAIL Subsidiary -
IPATRL Subsidiary -
ITATL Subsidiary -
ITCTL Subsidiary -
MITL Subsidiary -

Repayment of 
3 secured loan (Long 17,438.78 

term) 

ISDTL Subsidiary 9,884.06 

IDAAIL Subsidiary 6,870.08 

IPATRL Subsidiary 4.88 

MITL Subsidiary 679.76 

4 Unsecured loans 
given (Long term) -
ISDTL Subsidiary -
IJDTL Subsidiary -
IDAAIL Subsidiary . 
IPATRL Subsidiary . 
ITATL Subsidiary . 
ITCTL Subsidiary . 
MITL Subsidiary . 

Six month 
ended 

September 
30,2018 

-
-

-
-

-

. 

-
-
-

-
-
-
-

13,670.74 

8,288.84 

4,456.68 

144.88 

780.34 

-
-
-
-
-
. 

-
. 

IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under tlw Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Six month 
Year ended Year ended ended 
March 31, March 31, March 31, 

2019 2018 2018 

- - 99,431.00 

- - 39,525.00 

- - 29,581.00 

- - 14,775.00 

- - 15,550.00 

. - 4,28,879.23 

- - 66,182.05 

- - 92,661.77 

- - 25,115.73 

- - 93,603.44 

- - 37,153.84 

- - 93,712.76 

- - 20,449.64 

13,589.34 31,109.52 21,911.70 

7,621.76 18,172.90 14,421.76 

5,864.62 11,326.75 7,386.98 

102.96 149.77 102.96 

- 1,460.10 -

. . 73,258.47 

- . 11,006.23 

- . 3,107.71 

- - 25,767.36 

- . 15,490.04 

. . 8,905.47 

- - 7,338.07 

. . 1,643.59 



Six month 
Sr. 

Particulars Relation ended 
No. March 31, 

2019 

5 Unsecured loans 
1 '11 0.00 given (Short term) 

ITCTL Subsidiary 1,110.00 

MITL Subsidiary 

Repayment of 
6 unsecured loan 20.00 

given (Short term) 

ITCTL Subsidiary 20.00 

MITL Subsidiary 

7 Interest income 30,368.84 

ISDTL Subsidiary 3,360.09 

IJDTL Subsidiary 6,207.96 

IDAAIL Subsidiary 2,439.84 

IPATRL Subsidiary 7,055.58 

ITATL Subsidiary 2,985.65 

ITCTL Subsidiary 6,703.58 

MITL Subsidiary 1,616.14 

Investment 

8 Management fees 
638.94 (including indirect 

taxes) 

IRBFL Investment 
638.94 Manager 

Purchase of equity 
shares of 

9 Subsidiaries 
through Issue of 
Unit Capital * 

IRBIDL Sponsor 

MRMPL Project 
Manager 

10 Purchase of equity 
shares of 

IPATRL 

IRBIDL Sponsor 

MRMPL Project 
Mana er 

Six month 
ended 

September 
30,2018 

1,000.00 

1,000.00 

31,377.93 

3,942.11 

6,242.07 

2,742.21 

7,102.57 

3,002.06 

6,672.83 

1,674.08 

607.85 

607.85 

IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian TnJsts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Six month 
Year ended Year ended ended 
March 31, March 31, March 31, 

2018 2019 2018 

6,600.00 2,110.00 8,352.20 

2,300.00 2,110.00 3,052.20 

4,300.00 5,300.00 

3,725.00 20.00 3,725.00 

2,200.00 l 20.00 2,200.00 

1,525.00 1,525.00 

32,045.93 61,746.77 51,122.81 

4,300.92 7,302.20 7,964.43 

6,207.96 12,450.03 10,846.88 

3,130.41 5,182.05 5,555.46 

7,060.11 14,158.15 7,138.12 

2,985.65 5,987.71 5,216.69 

6,701.47 13,376.41 11,628.56 

1,659.41 3,290.22 2,772.67 

656.10 1,246.79 1,053.36 

656.10 1,246.79 1,053.36 

106,501.76 

101,795.26 

4,706.50 

9,909.00 

8,918.10 

990.90 



Six month 
Sr. 

Particulars Relation ended 
No. March 31, 

2019 

11 Distribution in the 
4,675.77 form of interest 

IRBIDL Sponsor 4,079.02 
Mr. Virendra D. Director of 

514.80 Mhaiskar Sponsor 
Mrs. Deepali V. Director of 

63.80 Mhaiskar Sponsor 
Mr. Sudhir Rao Director of 

4.40 Hashing Sponsor 
Director of 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta Sponsor & 
4.29 Project 

Manager 

Mr. Vinodkumar Director of 

Menon Investment 1.32 
Manager 

Director of 
Mr. B.L.Gupta Investment 0.22 

Manager 
Director of 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee Investment 1.10 
Manager 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Director of 
Project 0.66 Joshi 

Manager 

Mr. Ajay P. Director of 
Project 5.72 Deshmukh 

Manager 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Director of 
Project 0.44 Sharma 

Manager 

12 Distribution in form 
1,806.71 of capital 

IRBIDL Sponsor 1,575.99 
Mr. Virendra D. Director of 

198.90 Mhaiskar Sponsor 
Mrs. Deepali V. Director of 

24.75 Mhaiskar Sponsor 
Mr. Sudhir Rao Director of 

1.70 Hashing Sponsor 
Director of 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta Sponsor & 
1.70 Project 

Manager 

Mr. Vinodkumar Director of 

Menon Investment 0.51 
Manager 

Director of 
Mr. B.L.Gupta Investment 0.09 

Manager 
Director of 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee Investment 0.43 
Manager 

Six month 
ended 

September 
30, 2018 

4,140.62 

4,125.37 

5.56 

5.46 

3.34 

-

-

0.22 

0.67 

-

-

-

1,488.76 

1,483.28 

2.00 

1.96 

1.20 

-

-

0.08 

0.24 

IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under tile Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Six month Year ended Year ended ended March 31, March 31, March 31, 2019 2018 2018 

3,960.55 8,816.39 4,874.89 

3,955.27 8,204.39 4,869.61 

- 520.36 -

3.74 69.26 3.74 

1.32 7.74 1.32 

- 4.29 -

- 1.32 -

- 0.44 -

0.22 1.77 0.22 

- 0.66 -

- 5.72 -

- 0.44 -

1,440.20 3,295.47 1,875.60 

1,438.28 3,059.27 1,873.68 

- 200.90 -

1.36 26.71 1.36 

0.48 2.90 0.48 

- 1.70 -

- 0.51 -

- 0.17 -

0.08 0.67 0.08 



Six month Six month 
Sr. ended ended 
No. 

Particulars Relation March 31, September 
2019 30, 2018 

Mr. Dhananjay K. 
Director of 

Project 0.26 -Joshi 
Manager 

Mr. Ajay P. 
Director of 

Project 2.21 -Deshmukh 
Manager 

Mr. Rajpaul S. 
Director of 

Project 0.17 -Sharma 
Manager 

13 Trustee fee - 29.50 

ITSL Trustee - 29.50 

III. Related party outstanding balances 

Sr. 
Particulars Relation 

As on 
No. March 31,2019 

1 Equity Investment 1,27,505.48 

ISDTL Subsidiary 53,232.48 

IJDTL Subsidiary 13,175.00 

IDAAIL Subsidiary 19,812.00 

IPATRL Subsidiary 9,909.00 

ITATL Subsidiary 4,925.00 

ITCTL Subsidiary 15,550.00 

MITL Subsidiary 10,902.00 

2 Subordinated debt 99,431.00 

IJDTL Subsidiary 39,525.00 

IPATRL Subsidiary 29,581.00 

ITATL Subsidiary 14,775.00 

ITCTL Subsidiary 15,550.00 

3 
Secured loan receivable 

3,75,858.01 (Long term) 
ISDTL Subsidiary 33,587.39 

IJDTL Subsidiary 92,661.77 

IDAAIL Subsidiary 6,402.00 

IPATRL Subsidiary 93,350.71 

ITATL Subsidiary 37,153.84 

ITCTL Subsidiary 93,712.76 

MITL Subsidiary 18,989.54 

IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Six month Year ended Year ended ended 
March 31, March 31, March 31, 

2018 2019 2018 

- 0.26 -

- 2.21 -

- 0.17 -

- 29.50 -
- 29.50 -

(Rs. in lakhs) 

As on As on 
September 30,2018 March 31,2018 

1,27,505.48 1,27,505.48 

53,232.48 53,232.48 

13,175.00 13,175.00 

19,812.00 19,812.00 

9,909.00 9,909.00 

4,925.00 4,925.00 

15,550.00 15,550.00 

10,902.00 10,902.00 

99,431.00 99,431.00 

39,525.00 39,525.00 

29,581.00 29,581.00 

14,775.00 14,775.00 

15,550.00 15,550.00 

3,93,296.78 4,06,967.53 

43,471.45 51,760.29 

92,661.77 92,661.77 

13,272.08 17,728.75 

93,355.59 93,500.48 

37,153.84 37,153.84 

93,712.76 93,712.76 

19,669.29 20,449.64 



Sr. 
Particulars Relation As on 

No. March 31,2019 

4 
Unsecured loan 

73,258.47 
receivable (Long term) 
ISDTL Subsidiary 11,006.23 

IJDTL Subsidiary 3,107.71 

IDAAIL Subsidiary 25,767.36 

IPATRL Subsidiary 15,490.04 

ITATL Subsidiary 8,905.47 

ITCTL Subsidiary 7,338.07 

MITL Subsidiary 1,643.59 

5 
Unsecured loan 

6,717.20 
receivable (Short term) 
ITCTL Subsidiary 2,942.20 

MITL Subsidiary 3,775.00 

6 Trade payables 
291.49 

IRBFL 
Investment 

291.49 
Manager 

IRB lnviT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

As on As on 
September 30,2018 March 31,2018 

73,258.47 73,258.47 

11,006.23 11,006.23 

3,107.71 3,107.71 

25,767.36 25,767.36 

15,490.04 15,490.04 

8,905.47 8,905.47 

7,338.07 7,338.07 

1,643.59 1,643.59 

5,627.20 4,627.20 

1,852.20 852.20 

3,775.00 3,775.00 

271.63 266.30 

271.63 266.30 

* IRBIDL and MRMPL has sold units in Offer for sale amounting toRs. 12,973.66 lakhs and Rs. 4,706.50 lakhs 
respectively. 

During the FY 2018-19, IRB InviT Fund has not acquired any asset from related parties. 

During the previous year, IRB InviT Fund had acquired seven projects i.e. IDAAIL, ISDTL, IT ATL, IJDTL, MITL, 
ITCTL and IPA TRL from IRBIDL and its Subsidiary Companies. 

Pursuant to Share purchase agreement dated May 8, 2017, IRB InviT Fund has acquired six projects i.e. IDAAIL, 

ISDTL, IT ATL, IJDTL, MITL and ITCTL from IRBIDL and its subsidiary companies. The investment for the said 
acquisition was raised through Initial Public Issue. 

• Summary of valuation report dated March 29, 2017 issued by the independent valuer under the InviT Regulations is 
as follows:-

Fair Enterprise value of6 SPVs' as on March 31,2017 is as under:-

(Rs. in millions) 
Name of SPY's Fair enterprise value 

IDAAIL 7,170.33 
IJDTL 23,114.58 
ISDTL 13,879.05 
ITATL 7,176.06 
ITCTL 15,503.79 
MITL 3,663.85 
Total Enterprise value of all the 6 SPVs' 70,507.66 



IRB hwiT Fund 
(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 

an infrastructure investment twst with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated September 28, 2017, IRB InviT Fund has further acquired 
IPA TRL from IRBIDL and MRMPL. 

Summary "of valuation report dated August 31, 2017 issued by the independent valuer under the InviT Regulations 
is as follows:-

Fair Enterprise value of IPA TRL as on September 30, 2017 is as under:-

Name of SPV's 

IPATRL 

( Rs. in millions) 

Fair enterprise 
value 

17,857.30 

After considering the aforesaid Valuation Reports submitted by the relevant independent intermediaries and 
pursuant to the negotiations between the Investment Manager and the Sponsor, IRBPA has been acquired at an 
enterprise value of Rs. 15,693.30 million. The acquisition price of IRBPA, negotiated between the Investment 
Manager and the Sellers, represents a discount of 12% to the Fair Enterprises Value mentioned above. The project 
was acquired through external borrowings ofRs. 15,500 million@ 8.15% p.a. rate of interest. 

• The following approach and assumptions have been considered for the valuation exercise:-

1. The Free Cash Flows to Firm under the Discounted Cash Flow Method has been used for the purpose of valuation 
of each of the above SPVs. 

2. The Weighted Average Cost of Capital for each of the SPVs has been considered as the discount rate for 
respective SPY for the purpose of valuation. 

• There is no material condition or obligation in relation to the transaction. 

• No fees or commission were received or to be received by any associate of the related party in relation to the 
transaction. 

For IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager to IRB InviT Fund) 

Vinodkumar Menon 
Whole time Director 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 02, 20 19 



I. 

"'l' ''i i'i'' 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To The Unit holders of IRB lnviT Fund 

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of IRB lnviT Fund (hereinafter 
referred to as "the Fund") and its subsidiaries (the Fund and its subsidiaries together referred to as 
"the Group"), which comprise the consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2019, the consolidated 
Statement of Profit and Loss (including other comprehensive income), the consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Unit Holders' Equity and the consolidated Statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and the consolidated Statement of Net Assets at fair value as at March 31, 2019, the consolidated 
Statement of Total Returns at fair value and the Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows ('NDCFs') 
of the Fund and each of its subsidiaries for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as "the consolidated 
financial statements"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and based on 
the consideration of reports of other auditors on separate financial statements and on the other financial 
information of the subsidiaries, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required 
by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as 
amended from time to time including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder, in the manner so 
required and give a true and fair view in conformity with Indian Accounting Standards (lnd AS) and/or any 
addendum thereto as defined in the Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rule, 
2015 and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the 
Group as at March 31, 2019, its consolidated profit including other comprehensive income, its consolidated 
cash movements and its consolidated movement of the unit holders' funds for the year ended March 31, 
2019, its consolidated net assets as at March 31, 2019, its consolidated total returns and the net distributable 
cash flows of the Fund and each of its subsidiaries for the year ended March 31, 2019. 

Basis of Opinion 

We conducted our audit of consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Standards on 
Auditing (SAs) issued by Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ("ICAI"). Our responsibilities under 
those Standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by ICAI and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the ICAI's Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

,)'' 

()'i' 



Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matters 
described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. 

Sr. No. 

2 

Key Audit Matter 
Provisioning for resurfacing expense 

As per the Concession Agreement, the Group is 
obligated to carry out resurfacing of the roads. The 
Group estimates the provision required towards 
resurfacing in accordance with lnd AS 37 "Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. The 
estimate made by the 
Group over the concession period, involves detailed 
calculation and judgment. In view of the nature of 
provision and amount involved, the provision for 
resurfacing expense is considered to be a key audit 
matter. 

Refer Note 3.17 and Note 39 to the consolidated 
financial statements 
Impairment of Toll Collection Rights 

The Group operates toll assets which is constructed 
on Build Operate and Transfer (BOT) basis. The 
carrying value of the toll collection rights as at March 
31, 2019 is Rs.648,912.95 Lakhs. In accordance with 
its accounting policy (Refer Note 3.21) and 
requirements under lnd AS 36 "Impairment of Assets", 
the Management has performed an impairment 
assessment by comparing the carrying value of the toll 
collection rights to their recoverable amount. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, value in use has been 
determined by forecasting and discounting future cash 
flows. Further, the value in use is highly sensitive to 
changes in critical variable used for forecasting the 
future cash flows including traffic projection and 
discounting rate. The determination of the recoverable 
amount of the toll collection right involves significant 
judgment and accordingly, the evaluation of 
impairment of toll collection rights has been 
determined as a key audit matter. 

Also, refer Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

Auditor's Response 
Our audit procedures included the following: 

- Understood the Group's process 
associated with the estimation of 
resurfacing obligation; 

- Verified the requirement under 
Concession Agreement and Group's 
policies; 

- Tested the assumption used in 
determining the resurfacing provisions. 
Also compared these assumptions with 
previous year and enquired into the 
reasons for any variations; 

- Tested the arithmetical accuracy and 
also verified the disclosure in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Our audit procedures included the following: 
- Assessed the appropriateness of the 

Group's valuation methodology applied 
in determining the recoverable amount. 
In making this assessment, we also 
evaluated the objectivity, independence 
and competency of specialists involved 
in the process; 

Assessed the assumptions around the 
key drivers of the cash flow forecasts, 
discount rates, revenue projection based 
on the independent experts traffic study 
report, etc.; 

Assessed the appropriateness of the 
weighted average cost of capital used in 
the determining recoverable amount by 
engaging valuation expert; 

Discussed/Evaluated potential changes 
in key drivers as compared to previous 
year I actual performance with 
management in order to evaluate 
whether the inputs and assumptions 
used in the cash flow forecasts were 
suitable; 



Assessed the recoverable value 
headroom by performing sensitivity 
analysis of key assumptions used 

Tested the arithmetical accuracy of the 
model. 

~~~-,--=~------~------~~~~---~~----~--~---r~~-----
3 Toll revenue in respect of toll collection under the Our audit procedures included the following: 

Service Concession Agreement 

The Group's right to collect toll under the concession 
agreement with National Highway (NHAI) 
Authority of India falls within the scope of Appendix C 
of lnd AS 115, "Service Concession Arrangements". 
The Group operates and earns revenue by collecting 
toll on the road constructed. This involves large 
volume of cash collection and use of customized 
equipment installed at the toll plaza for correctly 
identifying vehicle type, calculating fare and for 
appropriate billing and collection on information 
technology systems for the related automated and IT 
dependent controls. 

Refer Note 3.8 and Note 22 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

Obtained an understanding of the 
processes and control placed for toll 
collection and evaluating the key 
controls around such process and 
testing those controls for the operating 
effectiveness 

Tested a selection of Information 
Technology General Controls (ITGCs) 
supporting the integrity of the tolling 
system operation, including access, 
operations and change management 
controls; 

Verified the reconciliation of toll 
collection as per transaction report 
(generated from toll system) with cash 
deposited in bank and revenue recorded 
in the books; 

Reviewed the management 
rationalization, by multiplying that toll 
rate charged for each category 
of vehicle as per NHAI's notification with 
the number of vehicles (as per Schedule 
M submitted with NHAI) and its 
reconciliation with the revenue recorded 
in accounts. 

On test check basis, traced the daily 
collection from bank statement to daily 
cash toll collected and the revenue 
recorded in the books. 

Performed analytics procedures on 
transactions to detect unusual 
transactions for further examination; 

On test check basis, verified 
classification of vehicle independently 
from stored images and videos recorded 
by the Group; 

Pertormed revenue cut off pmcedures to I 
ensure completeness of revenue. 

_______________ _L ________ _ 



4 Unused tax credits ( MAT credit Entitlement) 

One of the subsidiary companies has unused tax 
credits of Rs 3,257.84 lakhs as at 31st March 2019 
(MAT Credit Entitlement). Since the subsidiary 
Company has incurred losses in the last two financial 
years, the utilization of unused tax credits in the 
remaining tenure of the Concession period has been 
determined to be a key audit matter. 

Refer Note 3.12 and Note 8 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Our audit procedures included the following: 

We have obtained the estimates and 
projections from the management 
Discussed with the management the key 
drivers in the projections 
Assessed the assumptions used in the 
projections 
Checked the mathematical accuracy of 
the projections 

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon 

The management of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (" Investment Manager") is responsible for the 
preparation of the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Management Discussion and Analysis, Investment Manager's Report including Annexures to Investment 
Manager's Report and Investment Manager's Information, but does not include the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Investment Manager is responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position as at March 31, 2019, consolidated financial 
performance including other comprehensive income, consolidated cash movements and the consolidated 
movement of the unit holders' funds for the year ended March 31, 2019, the consolidated net assets as at 
March 31, 2019, the consolidated total returns of the Fund and the net distributable cash flows of the Fund 
and each of its subsidiaries in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in India, including 
the Indian Accounting Standards (lnd AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended read with the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to 
time including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder (together referred to as the "lnviT 
Regulations"). 

The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are responsible for maintenance 
of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets 
of the Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities: the selection and application 
of appropriate accounting policies: making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating 
effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the 
preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view and are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the management of the Fund, as aforesaid. 



In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the Companies 
included in the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

The respective Board of Directors of the Companies included in the Group are also responsible for 
overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficiP.nt 8ppropriatP. audit evidP.nce regarding the financial information of thP. entitiP.s or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. For companies included in the consolidated financial statements, which have been 
audited by other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision 



and performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the consolidated financial statements that, individually or 
in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the 
financial statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) 
planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the 
effect of any identified misstatements in the consolidated financial statements. 

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Fund included in the consolidated financial 
statements of which we are the independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Other matters 

We did not audit the financial statements and other financial information of 7 subsidiaries, whose financial 
statements reflect total assets of Rs. 1 ,283,963.35-Lakhs and net assets of Rs. 147,935.65 Lakhs as at 
March 31, 2019, total revenues of Rs 122,227.72 Lakhs and net cash outflows amounting toRs. 2,334.67 
Lakhs for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial statements before 
giving effect to elimination of intra-group transactions. These financial statements and other financial 
information have been audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us by the 
management and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in so far as it relates to the 
amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries and our report in terms of lnviT 
regulations, in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries is based solely on the reports of the other 
auditors. 

Our opinion above on the consolidated financial statements, and our reports on the Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our reliance on the 
work done and reports of the other auditors. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Based on our audit and as required by lnviT Regulations, we report that; 

a) We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and 
belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit; 



b) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, and the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss are in 
agreement with the books of account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements; and 

c) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Accounting 
Standards (lnd AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. 

FOR SURESH SURANA & ASSOCIATES LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Firm's ~ 121750WNV-100010 

(Ramesh Gupta) 
Partner 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Dated: 02 May 2019 



IRB ln\'IT Fund 

('onsolidated Balaucesheet as at 'larch 31,2019 

ASSETS 

.'\on-current <lssds 

Property, plant and equt pment 

Capital \\'Ork-tn-progrcss 

Intangible assets 

F1nancJa! assets 

1 J Investments 

ii) Loan~ 

iii) Other financial assets 

Deferred Ul\ assets 1 net) 

Other non-current assets 

Total non-cu rrcnt assets 

Current Assds 
Financial assets 

i) Investments 

ii) Trade receivables 

iii) Cash and cash equivalents 

iv) 13ank balances other than (iii) abow 

v) Loans 

vi) Other financial assets 

Income ta' assets (net) 
Other current assets 

Total current assets 

Total assets 

EQUITY A!\() LIAHILITIES 

Equity 

Initial se!llemcnt amount 

Unit capital 

Other equity 

Total Equity 

Non-curTcnt liaiJiliti<"s 

Financial liabilities 

i) Borrowings 

ii) Other linancialliabilitics 

Provisions 

l'ot.al non-curTcnt liabilities 

Current liabilities 

Financial liabilities 

i) Trade payablcs 

a) total outstanding dues of micro entc1priscs and 

small enterprises 

b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than 

micro enterprises and small enterprises 

ii) Other financial liabilities 

Other current liabilities 

Provisions 

Total curTent liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Total equity and liabilities 

Summary of significant accounting policies 

I\otc!-. 

4 

6 

7 

8 
9 

5 
10 

II 

12 

6 

7 

13 

14 

15 

15 
16 

17 

18 
I \I 

20 

18 

21 
19 

3 

As at ~larch 31, 

2019 

!Ill ~X 

1,297.4111 6·1 

() 40 

1.72 

3.223 02 

1,300,737.26 

22,703.96 

-1147 
1.413 Ill 

5,061.31 

124.00 

1.535.67 

58·116 

531.40 
31,995.07 

1 ,332, 732.33 

0.10 

560,763.00 
(49,911 00) 

510,852.10 

175,226.20 

(Fs 111 Lakhsi 

As at 'larch 31, 
2018 

II~ t1o 

278.16 
362,633 . .f3 

5,027.68 

122.33 

3,223.02 

0.05 
1,371,399.30 

16.432.80 

55.41 
9.303.70 

70.73 
441 10 

1,134.03 
830.83 

793.52 
29,062.12 

I ,400,461.42 

010 
579,919.50 
( 18,280.44) 

561,639.16 

173,858.66 

580.948.83 604,Jn.Js 

4,672 ~-8 _____ 18,833.74 
760,847.91 797,014.78 

3444 85.25 

9,695.41 12,107.22 

32,618.50 25,487.73 

17078 71.79 
18,513.19 4,055.49 
61,032.32 41,807.48 

821,880.23 838,822.26 
1,332,732.33 1,400,461.42 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated llnancial statements. 

As per our rcpon of even date 

For· Surcsh Sur·ana & Associates LLP 

Chanered Accountants 

Finn's Re!!. No. 121750\V /W-100010 

'"""~ Par1ne;~ 
Membership No. I 02306 

Place Mumbai 

Date May 02. 2019 

For· and on behalf of IRB lnfr·astr·uctur·e l't·i,·ate Limited 

(Investment Managet· of IRB lnviT Fund) 

Vinod Kuma1· l\1cnon 

\Vholetime Director 

DIN 03075345 

/(Jl~ 
Tusha · Kawedia 

CJ1icf Financial Of'llcer 

Place Mumbai 

Date May 02, 2019 

~--A,·r--· "-"'--·~--'.,/ 

~
n: ranglal Gupta 

rector 

IN 07175777 

,, .::,'T-~ 
0'"' 
l irmil Shah 

Company Secretary 



IRB ln\'IT Fund 

Consolidated Statement of Pnlfit and Loss for the ~·ear ended \larrh 31,2019 

\'otcs 
For the year· t'rHicd 

\larch 31,2019 

(Rs in Lakhs) 

For· the ye::u· ended 
\larch 31,2018 

---------------------------------------------------------- -------------------~ 

Income 

Re,·enue ii·om operations 

Other income 

Total income 

Expenses 

Operating expenses 

Employee benefits expense 

Insurance and security expenses 

Trustee fees 

Annual listing ICes 

Project manager fees 

Investment manager fees 

Repairs and maintenance 

Depreciation and amortisation eXJKnses 

Finance costs 

Other expenses 

Total expenses 

Profit I (loss) befor·e tax 

Tax expenses 

CuiTcnt tax 

Deferred tox 

Total tax expenses 

l'r·ofit/ (loss) after tax (A) 

Other· C<llll(H'ehensivc income 

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassilled to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods 

Re-measurcment gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans (net of tax) 

Other· COIIIJH·ehensivc income/(loss) for· the year, net of tax (B) 

Total compr·ehensivc income/ (loss) fo1· the year, net of tax: (A+B) 

Pmfit/(loss) for· the year 

AHributable to: 

Unit holders 

Non-controlling interests 

Ean~ings per unit 

- Basic 

-Diluted 

Summary of significant accounting policies 

Sec accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

As per our repo11 of even date 

For Suresh Sur·ana & Associates LLI' 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Reg. No. 121750W /W-100010 

Membership No. I 02306 

Place · !\.1umbui 

Date May 02, 2019 

22 

13 

24 

25 

38 

38 

26 

27 

28 

29 

3 

121 2S'l 06 

2 055 53 

123,340.59 

2.8'1 1.97 

2.524.24 

1.231.04 

29.50 

60.81 

13,93 7.00 

1.246.79 

:19641 

64,054.29 

15.908.69 

1.172.56 

103,413.33 

19,927.26 

150.77 

150.77 

19,776.49 

(32 81) 

(32.81) 

19,743.69 

19,776.49 

19,77649 

3.41 

3.41 

99.200 g~ 

1.314.94 

I 00,515.78 

(J,(J57.66 

2.026.64 

I ,062.58 

6.790.77 

1.053.36 

362.94 

48,712.88 

9,924.70 

I ,248.36 

77,239.90 

23,275.88 

33.61 

33.61 

23,242.27 

6.26 

6.26 

23,248.53 

23,242.27 

23,242.27 

4.00 

4.00 

For· and on behalf of IRB lnfr·ast.-uc(ur·e Private Limited 

(Investment Manager· of IRB lnviT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar· Menon 

Wholctime Director 

DINO~~ 

Tushar l\.awedia 

Chief Financial Officer 

Place , Mumbai 

Date , May 02, 2019 

t ~· ./' !'--~) ·,,,~-"~··'/"~/ \.. 

I ajranglal Gupta 

)ircclor 

DIN: 07175777 

,, j\<Y' 
0'" 
llnnil Shah 

Company Secretarv 



IRB ln\'IT Fund 

Consolidated Statement of cash flows fot· the yea•· ended Man·h 31, 2019 

Partirulars 

Cash llow from operating artivitics 

Profit I (loss) befot·e tax 

Adjustment to t·cconcile profit before tax to net cash llows: 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 

Resurfacing expenses 

Gain on sale or property, plant and equipment (nel) 

Fair value gain on mutual funds 

Cia in on sale or Investment (nel) 

Finance costs 

Interest income on fixed deposits 

Opet·ating pmfit bcfot·c working capital changes 

Movement in working capital: 

Increase/( decrease) in trade payablcs 

lncrcasc/(dccrcasc) in provisiOns 

Increase/( decrease) in other financial liabilities 

lncrease/(decrease) in other liabilities 

Decrease/( increase) in trade receivables 

Decrease/( increase) in loans 

Decrease/( increase) in other financial assets 

Decrease/( increase) in other CUtTent assets 

Cash gcnet·ated from/( used in) operations 

Taxes paid (net) 

1\et cash llow fr·om oper·ating activities 

Cash llows from investing activities 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment * 
Acquisition of intangible assets * 
Acquisition of other assets I (liabilities) (net)* 

Purchase of proper1y, plant and equipment including capital work in progress 

Proceeds from propet1y, plant and equipment 

Purchase of intangible assets 

Sale I (Purchase) of non-current investments (net) 

Purchase of current investments 

Acquisition I Redemption of bank deposits (having original maturity of more than 
three months) (net) 

Interest received 

i\'ct cash flow (used in) investing artivities 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from unit capital # 

Unit issue expenses 

Acquisition of borrowings * 
Distribution to unit holders 

Proceeds from non-current borrowings 

Repayment of non-current borrowings 

Repayment of current botTowings (net) 

Finance costs paid 

Net cash llows ft·om/(used in) financing activities 

For the yea1· ended 
31 2019 

19,927.26 

64,05~ .29 

242.55 

(0.06) 

(52 92) 

( L348 7 I) 

13,182.67 

(30S 42) 

95,696.66 

(2,462.62) 

21.49 

281.23 

98.99 

13.94 

315.39 

(272.91) 

262.21 

93,954.38 

95.92 

94,050.30 

(9,666.83) 

5,027.28 

(4,86953) 

(4,972. 70) 

302 02 

(14,179.76) 

(70,530. 75) 

(3,31169) 

(13,918 70) 

(87,761.14) 

Fot· the y<~ar ended 
\laHh 31 2018 

23,275.88 

48.712.88 

3,624.39 

(38 73) 

(10077) 

(883.04) 

9,924.71 

(99 85) 

84,415.47 

109.94 

5.3X 
(1,103 09) 

20.90 

802 04 

(379 77) 

789.67 

857.96 

85,518.50 

(54 99) 

85,463.51 

(174.60) 

(663,155A3) 

94,723.01 

(133) 

1.47 

( 18,746 83) 

(5,027.28) 

(12,39182) 

I 0,555.34 

98.36 

(594,119.1 I) 

503.293.50 

(9,89170) 

529,918.05 

(43,82775) 

155,000.00 
(389 50) 

(618,55848) 

(9,17779) 

506,366.33 



Pa rtirula r·s 

Net increase/( ckcrcasc) in cash and cash eqcm aknts (A +131 C) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning or the vear 

Acquisition or cash and cash equivalents * 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year· (r·cfer· note 11) 

Components of cash and cash equivalents 
13alances with scheduled banks: 
- Trust retention and other escrow accounts 

-Others 

- In dc:posit accounts with originalmaturi!v less than 3 months 

Cash on hand 

Total Cash and Cash Equi,·alents (refCI' note I I) 

* Pertains to projects acquired during the previous year 

For the year ended 
\lar·ch 31,2019 

I 7.890 (,()) 

9.303. 70 

1,413.10 

54699 

97.41 

768.70 

1,413.10 

For the year· ended 
\lar-ch 31,2018 

(2 2);<) 27) 

om; 
11.59289 

9,303. 70 

7.86 

1,474.06 

7,358.89 

462.89 

9,303.70 

if The Group had issued 870,075 units to the Sponsor as agamst part considcralion towards acqUis1lion or ProJects. The same being non-cash transaction 
is not reflected in the consolidated cash Jlow statement. 

Reconciliation between opening and closing balances for liabilities arising fr·om financing activities: 
(Rs in Lakhs) 

l'artit'ular·s Long tenn bon·owings 

01-Apt·-17 

Cash flow 

- Interest (9, 177.79) 

-Proceeds I (Repayment) 181,845.10 

Accrual for the year II ,822.80 

31-Mar-18 184,490.11 

Cash flow 

-Interest (13,918 70) 

-Proceeds I (Repayment) 2,620.31 

Accrual for the year I 5,908.69 

31-Ma•·-19 189,100.41 

Notes: 

I. All figures in bracket are outflow. 

2. The Consolidated cash flow statement has been prepared under Indirect Method as per lnd AS 7 "Statement of Cash Flows" 

3. Taxes paid arc treated as arising from operating activities and arc not bifurcated between investing and financing activities. 

Summary of Significant accounting policies (refer note 3) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

Fo•· Sut·csh Su1·ana & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Reg. 

Partner 

Membership No.: I 02306 

Place Mumbai 

Date . May 02, 2019 

For and on behalf of IRB lnfr·astJ·ucturc Private Limited 

(Investment 1\tanagu of IRB lnYIT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 

Wholetime Director 

!)]~~ 
Tushar Kawcdi:r 

~i:.t:::;~;c:;;~~:~---
1 11ZJ~:ror 
\WIN: 07175777 

\) ·'~<' ; "'&""' 
l'rmil Shah 

Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary 

Place : Mumbai 

Date : May 02, 20 19 



IRB ln\'IT Fund 

Di~closun:s fHll·suant to SEBI Circulars 

( SEI31 Cil ... :ulcll \.n Cl R 'I\ 11)/DF/ Il-l .·.:zo I 6 dated 20- Oct-20 l (J and llll Cl Rd \!I} I)!· 1 ~7 20 l () d<~tcd ]l). \.o\ -.?0 i () 1~:-;ucd the hl\'rl rcgulatHHl:..) 

..\.Consolidated statement of net ass<'IS at fair value 

(Rs in Lakh~l 

As at 1\1an:h 31,2019 As at ,\tarch 31,2018 -~ 

1--:--~----'-P-"a'-rt"-ic:.:'u:.:l:c<ll:.o"S:.__ _____ -j __ _:cllc_o<:.:>l.:_' .::''':::'l.::<>::_e __ +-__ _:_F.::a:.:ir_'c:·a:::l•:.:«:_' ---+Book value Fair value 
A Tot<1l assets J.:n2.7:l2 33 IA29.003 19 !.400_,16!.,n l.501.16-l.49 

B Total liabilities S21.XS0.23 823.726.05 838.822.26 829.341.21 

C Net Assets(:\ - !3) 510.852 I 0 605.277 I '1 561.639. 16 6 71.823.29 

D !'<umbe1 of units (in lakhs) .'i.S05 5.805 5.805 5.805 

!: \!AV (C/1)) 88.00 10~ 27 96 75 115 73 

Project wise bn~ak up of f:!i1· value oftot:il assets: 

(Rs 111 l~tkhs) 

!\a me of the pr.::<>Jc:-e:.:c~t ---------------~-·_:'::.' ::."':...:.:.M::a::r::.c::h _::3_._1 ''-'2::1:.:11_:_9-J--''-'-\s::_::.a '=-' l::a:::r::_cl::• _::3_._1 ''-'2::1::1 1_::8'------j 
IDA A Infrastructure Limited (IDAA) 57.-164.35 63.09-~. I 7 

JRB Talcgaon AmraYati Tollway Limited (!RBTA) 

IRil Jaipur Dcoli Toll was· Limited (IRBJD) 

IRB Sural Dahi,ar Tollway Limited (IRBSD) 

!RB Tumkur Chiaadurga Tollw<~y Limited 

(IRBTC) 

1V1.V.R Infrastructure and Tollways Limited 

(MVR) 

IRB Pathankot .Amritsar Toll Road Limited 

(IRBPA) 

Subtotal 

Assets in JRH lnviT Fund 

Total assets 

125.15-1.87 136.484.49 

783.263.45 797.424.82 

45.072.50 <12.519.78 

1•19.168.26 167_981 53 

I ,409,865.1 0 I ,483, 73 1.03 

19.138 09 

I ,429,003.19 1,501,164.49 

n. Consolidated statement of total retun1s at ttir· value : 

Pa ,·ticula r·s 

Total comprehensive income (As per the 

statement of profit and loss) 

Add/Less: other changes in fair value (e.g., in 

investment prope11y. property, plant & equipment 

(if cost model is followed)) not recognized in total 

comprehensive income 

Total Return 

Note· 

\'ear ended M~u·ch 31, 

2019 
I 9. 743.69 

96.270.86 

JJ(,,014.SS 

(Rs in I akhs) 

\'ear· ended l\1ar·ch 31, 
2018 

23.248.53 

100.703.07 

l23,9SL60 

Fair value of assets as <H March 31. 2019 and as at ~v1arch 31. 2018 and other changes in fair value for lht' year then ended as disclosed in the 

above tables are deri\·cd based on lhc fair valuation rep011s issued by the independent valuer appointed under the lnviT Rt>gulations. 

As per our rcpo11 of even date 

For Stu·csh SUt·ana & Associates LLP 

Chatiered Accounlants 

Finn R~en ~-~~~-1;750\1'/1\'-100010 

Ramesh C 

Pmincr t: 

Membership No .. I 02:l06 

Place. l'v1umbai 

Date May 02. 2019 

Fo•· and on behalf of I RB lnfntstructure Pr·h·ate Limited 

(Investment !\tanager· of IRB lnvfT Fund) 

a--\ ~ 

~ 
Vinod Kum<u· Menon 

\Vholetimc Dircct?r 
DIN 03075345 ,{v,_£)j 

/(,y . \ 
,:.""" 

Tushar Kawcdia 

Chief Financial Officer 

Place. Mumbai 

Date · t\·lay 02. 2019 

&
~r.t:;-~;:-;:;::/'~,--··· 

ector 

N: 07175777 

'V\ 
\.}"- £,~0-
lirmil Shah 

Company Secretary 



IRB lndT Fund 

Consolid;Jted St;.ltcmenl of dl<lng,es in unit holders equit~· for· the year {'JHll'd \1an:h 31,2019 

a. l 'nit c;Jpitc!l: 

At the beginning of the year 
Issued during the ycm 

Less. Capital reduction dtuint! the year (refer note 4J) 

At the end of the year 

h. Initial settlement amount 

At the beginning of the yca1 
Received during the year 

At the end of the yea1· 

c Other cquit.~ 
Retained earnings 

At the beginning of the year 

Profit/( loss) for the ycm 

Other comprehensive income 

Unit issue expenses 

Interest distribution* (refer note 43 J 

At tho end of the yea•· 

!\:o of units 

580.500.000 

580,500,000 

As at 

\larch 31,2019 

579,919.50 

( 19,156 50) 

560,763.00 

:'\o of units 

580.500.000 

580,500,000 

.~------- t:\llluunt 111 Lakhs) 
As at 

\brch 31,2018 

592.110 00 

(17.19050) 

579,919.50 

As at 

March 3L 2019 

0.10 

11.10 

As at 
March 31,2019 

( 18.28044) 
19.77(, 49 

(3281) 

(51374 25) 

(49,91 1.00) 

:'\'o of units 

(:\mount Ill Lah:hs) 

As at 

'larch 31,2018 

0.10 

0.10 

(Amount in Lakhs) 

As at 

\1arch 31,2018 
(0 02) 

23,242.27 

6.26 

(9.891.70) 
(31,637 25) 

( 18,280.44) 

* Pertains to the distributions made during the financial year along \\'ith the distribution related to the last qua11er of fY 2017-18 and does not include the distribution relating to 

the last qua11cr of FY 2018-19 which will be paid afler March 31, 2019. 

Summary of Significant accounting policies {refer note J) 

The accompanying notes arc an integral pa11 of the financial statements. 

As per our rep011 of even date 

For Sut-csh Surana. & Associates LLP 

Chartered Accounl<mts 

No. 121750\1' f\\'-100010 

Pm1ner 

Membership No.• I 02306 

Place: Jvlumbai 

Date May 02. 2019 

For and on behalf of IRB lnfi·astructure Private Limited 

(Investment ,\tanager of !RB ln\'IT Fund) 

Vinodkumar 1\lcnon 

V·/holetimc Director 

""_":;? 
"'\_l.<,?. 

Tushat· h:.awedia 
Chief Financial Olliccr 

Place· Mumbai 

Dale May 02, 2019 

~/"~ .. -, .~".. ./ 
JJ{j 
Di ector 

D N• 07175777 

Urmil Shah 
Company Secretary 



IRB lndT Fund 

Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Cirl'ulars 

(SI:I31 Circular No CIIVMDIDF/114/2016 dated October 20. 2016 and No CIR/MD/DJ:/127/2016 dated November 

29. 20 I 6 issued under the Jnv!T Regulations) 

Stal<'mcnt ofi\ct Distributable Cash Flows (1\DCFs) of IRB In \'IT Fund 

(Amount in Lakhs) 

Year· ended Year· ended 
Sr. i\'o. Particulars Mar·ch 31, March 31, 

2019 2018 

I Cash flows received fl·om Project SPVs in the form of Interest 
61.725.95 51.122.81 

- -
2 Cash flows received fl·om Project SPVs in the form of Dividend 

Any other income accruing at the Trust IC\ el and not captured 
" abmT. including but not limited to interest/return on surplus 1.117.14 446.14 ·' 

cash invested by the Trust 

Cash flows received fl·om the project SI'Vs towards the 
4 repayment (Net) of the debt issued to the Project SPVs by the 31.109.52 21.911.70 

Trust 

5 Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A) 93,952.61 73,480.65 

Less: 

Any payment of fees. interest and expense incurred at the Trust 
6 leveL including but not limited to the fees of the Investment (14.252.99) (7.546.97) 

Manager 

7 Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust Level - -

8 Repayment of external debt (3,311.69) (389.50) 

9 Total cash outflows I r·etention at the Tr·ust level (B) (17,564.68) (7,936.47) 

10 Net ()istributable Cash Flows (C)= (A+B) 76,387.93 65,544.18 



IRB lnviT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 

(SEBI Circular No CI R/MD/DF/ I l 4/2016 dated October 20, 20 I 6 and No CIR/MD/DF/1 27/20 !6 dated Novem 

issued under the lnviT Regulations) 

Statement of Net DistJ-ibutable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (IRBT A) 

(Amount in Lakhs) 

Year ended 
Year ended 

Sr- No. Description 
March 31,2019 

March 31, 
2018 

J 
Profit after tax as per Statement or profit and loss/income and 

expenditure (A) 
(J ,687.45) (2,073.80) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and am011isation as per Statement of profit 

and loss/income and expenditure 
962.'l5 780.53 

Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense I non cash income 
3 (net of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by - -

the Investment Manager 
4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 5,987.71 5,216.69 
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses 316.00 283.10 
6 Less :- NHAI Premium - -

7 Less :- Principal repayment - -

8 Total Adjustments (B) 7,266.26 6,280.32 
9 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C)= (A+B) 5,578.81 4,206.52 



IRB lnviT Fund 
Disclosur-es pursuant to SEBI Circulars 
(SE81 Circular No CIR/MD/DF/114/2016 dated October 20. 2016 and No CIR/MD/DF/127/2016 dated 
November 29, 2016 issued under the lnv!T Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRB Sura! Dahisar Tollway Limited (IRBSD) 
(Amount in Lakhs) 

Sr. No. Description 
Year ended Year ended 

March 31,2019 March 31,2018 

I 
Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and 

(3,323.14) (4,014.61) 
expenditure (A) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit 

26,346.82 21,291.40 
and loss/income and expenditure 

Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense I non cash 
3 income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed - -

necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 7,302.20 7,964.43 
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses (2,481.00) (183.35} 
6 Less :- NHAI Premium - -
7 Less :- Principal repayment - -
8 Total Ad_justments (B) 31,168.02 29,072.48 
9 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C)= (A+B) 27,844.88 25,057.87 



IRB InviT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEtH Cit-culars 

(SEBI Circular No C!R/MD/DF/!!4/2016 dated October 20, 2016 and No CIR/MD/DF/127/2016 dated 
November 29, 2016 issued under the lnviT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

M.VJ< Infrastructure and Tollways Limited (MVR) 

(Amount in Lakhs) 

Year ended 
Year ended 

Sr. No. Description 
March 31,2019 

Mat-ch 31, 
2018 

I 
Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and 

274.03 252.97 
expenditure (A) 

-----~·-""'--·- -·----~ 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and 

2,063.4 I 1,588.14 
loss/income and expenditure 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense I non cash income (net 

3 of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the - -

Investment Manager 
4 Add :- Interest paid to the Fund 3,290.22 2,772.67 
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses (427.00) 762.40 
6 Less :- NHAl Premium - -

7 Less :- Principal repayment - -

8 Total Adjustments (B) 4,926.63 5,123.21 
9 Net Distt·ibutable Cash Flows_(C) =_(A+B_l 5,200.65 5,376.18 



IRB lnviT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Cireulat·s 

(SEBI Circular No CIR/MD/DF/!14/2016 dated October 20, 2016 and No CIR/MD/DF/127/2016 dated 
November 29, 2016 issued under the lnvlT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IRBJD) 

(Amount in Lakhs} 

Year ended 
Year ended 

Sr. No. Description 
March 31, 2019 

Mat·ch 31, 
2018 

I 
Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and 

(6,758.71) (4,327.12) 
expenditure (A) 

---~--

2 
Add: Depreciation and amo11isation as per Statement of profit and 

loss/income and expenditure 
2,284.49 I ,625.90 

Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense I non cash income 
3 (net of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by - -

the Investment Manager 
4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 12,450.03 !0,846.88 
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses 595.64 722.40 
6 Less :- NHAI Premium - -
7 Less :- Principal repayment - -
8 Total Adjustments (B) 15,330.16 13,195.18 
9 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 8,571.45 8,868.06 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 

(SEBI Circular No CIR/MD/DF/1 14/2016 dated October 20, 2016 and No CIR/MD/DF/12712016 elated 

November 29. 2016 issued under the lnv!T Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distr·ibutable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of under·lying SPVs 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IRBPA) 

(Amount in Lakhs) 

Yeat·ended 
Year· ended 

Sr. No. Description 
March 31,2019 

Mat·ch 31, 
2018 

I 
Profit aller tax as per Statement of profit and 

expenditure (A) 
loss/income and 

(10,018.95) (4,825.47) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amo11isation as per Statement of profit and 
Joss/income and expenditure 

5,008.30 2,289.53 

Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense I non cash income 
3 (net of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the - -

Investment Manaaer 
4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 14,158.15 7,147.71 
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing EXj)enses 992.64 503.12 
6 Less :- NHAI Premium - -
7 Less :- Principal repayment - -

8 Total Adjustments (B) 20,159.09 9,940.36 
9 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C)= (A+B) I 0,140.14 5,114.89 



IRB InviT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 
(SEBI Circular No CIR/MD/DF/114/2016 dated October 20, 2016 and No CIR/MD/DF/127/2016 dated 

November 29. 2016 issued under the lnviT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distt·ibutable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRB Tumlwr Chitradurga Tollway Limited (IRBTC) 
(/\mount in Lakhs) 

Year ended 
Year ended 

Sr. No. Description 
March 31, 2019 

March 31, 
2018 

1 
Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and 

expenditure (A) 

loss/income and 
(5,414.53) (4,615.0:2) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and am01iisation as per Statement of profit and 

loss/income and expenditure 
12391.84 9,595.72 

Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense I non cash income 
3 (net of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by - -

the Investment Manaoer 
4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 13,376.41 11,628.56 
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses 666.98 859.40 
6 Less :- NHAI Premium ( 13,938.25) ( 13,928.75) 
7 Less :- Principal repayment - -

8 Total Adjustments (B) 12,496.98 8,154.93 
9 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C)= (A+B) 7,082.45 3,539.91 



IRB lndT Fund 
Disclosur·es pursuant to SEBI Circulars 

(SEBI Circular No ClR/MD/DF/114/2016 dated October 20, 2016 and No CIR/MD/DF/127/2016 dated 

November 29, 2016 issued under the lnviT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited (II)AA) 

(Amount in Lakhs) 

Year ended 
Year- ended 

Sr. No. Description 
March 31,2019 

March 31, 
2018 

-

1 
Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and 
expenditure (A) 

(2,168.73) (I ,848.54) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of 

I 5,667.27 12,213.17 
profit and loss/income and expenditure 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense I non cash 

3 income (net of actual cash flows for these items). if deemed - -

necessary by the Investment Manager 
4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 5,182.05 5,555.46 
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacino- Expenses 579.29 685.48 
6 Less :- NHAI Premium - -

7 Less :-Principal repayment - -

8 Total Adjustments (B) 21,428.61 18,454.11 
9 Net Distr·ibutable Cash Flows (C)= (A+B) 19,259.88 16,605.57 



IRB InviT Fund 
Summary of significant accounting policies and othe1· explanato1·y information fo1· the year 
ended March 31,2019 

-·· 

Sr. 

1. Nature of Operations 

The lRB !twiT Fund (the "Fund" I "Trust") is a trust constituted by "The Indenture of Trust" 
dated October 16, 2015 registered under the Registration Act, 1908 and under the Securities 
Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trust) Regulations, 2014. The Fund is settled 
by the Sponsor, lRB Infrastructure Developers Limited ("IRB" or the "Sponsor"), an 
infrastructure development company in India. The Trustee to the Fund is IDBI Trusteeship 
Services Limited (the "Trustee") and Investment manager for the Fund is IRB Infrastructure 
Private Limited (the "Investment Manager"). 

The Fund has been formed to invest in infrastructure assets primarily being in the road sector in 
India. All of the Fund's road projects are implemented and held through special purpose vehicles 
("Project SPVs/ Subsidiaries"). 

The consolidated financial statements comprise of financial statement of IRB Inv!T Fund and its 
seven subsidiaries (collectively, "the Group") for the year ended March 31, 2019. 

The road projects included in the Fund's pot1folio comprises as listed below:-

Extent of Extent of 
P1·incipal 

Country of 
Confl·ol Control 

No. 
Subsidiary Name Natu1·e of 

Incorporation 
as at as at 

activity March March 

I 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

... 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAA) M Infrastructure 

IRB Talegao11 Amravati Tollway Limited Infrastructure 
(IRBTA)M 
IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited I 11 frastructure 
(IRBJD) M 

IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited I 11 frastructure 
(IRBSD) M 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited Infrastructure 
(IRBTCY' * 
M.V.R Infrastructure and Tollways Infrastructure 
Limited (MVRY'* 
IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Infrastructure 
Limited (IRBPA) # 

!\Acquired on May 9, 2017 (refer note 39) 
#Acquired on September 28,2017 (refer note 39) 

31,2019 31,2018 
India 100% 100% 

India 100% 100% 

India 100% 100% 

India 100% 100% 

India 100% 100% 

India 100% 100% 

India 100% 100% 

* These companies have been convetied from private limited to public limited companies in the 
year ended March 3 1, 2018. 

The registered office of the investment manager is IRB Complex, Chandivali Farm, Chandivali 
Village, Andheri- East, Mumbai- 400 072. 

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with resolution 
passed by the board of directors of the investment manager on May 02, 20 19. 



2. Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements of the group have been prepared in accordance with Indian 
Accounting Standards as defined in Rule 2( I)( a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015, as amended, prescribed under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("Ind AS") 
read with SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended and the 
circulars issued thereunder ("!twiT Regulations") and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and under the 
historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and liabilities (refer accounting policy 
regarding financial instruments) which have been measured at fair value. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian Rupee ('INR') which is also the 
Group's functional currency and all values are rounded to the nearest lakhs, except when 
otherwise indicated. Wherever the amount represented '0' (zero) construes value less than Rupees 
five hundred. 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies 

3.1. Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Fund and its 
subsidiaries as at 3 1 March 2019. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the in vestee. 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the 
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the 
subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a Subsidiary acquired or disposed off 
during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group 
gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the Subsidiaries. 

Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like 
transactions and other events in similar circumstances. 
The financial statements of each of the subsidiaries used for the purpose of consolidation are 
drawn up to same rep01iing date as that of the Group, i.e., year ended on 31 March. 

Consolidation procedure: 

1. Combine like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows of the parent 
with those of its subsidiary. For this purpose, income and expenses of the Subsidiaries are 
based on the amounts of the assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements at the acquisition date. 

11. Offset (eliminate) the carrying amount of the parent's investment in each subsidiary and the 
parent's portion of equity of each subsidiary. Business combinations policy explains how to 
account for any related goodwill. 

iii. Eliminate in full intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows 
relating to transactions between entities of the group (profits or losses resulting from 
intragroup transactions that are recognised in assets, such as inventory and fixed assets, are 
eliminated in full. Intragroup losses may indicate an impairment that requires recognition in 
the consolidated financial statements. lnd AS 12 Income Taxes applies to temporary 

the elimination of profits and losses resulting from intragroup 
transactions. 



iv. Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries consists of: 
a) The amount of equity attributed to non-controlling interests at the date on which 

investment in a Subsidiary came into existence; 
b) The non-controlling interest share of movement in equity since the date parent 

relationship came into existence; 
c) Non-controlling interest share of net profit/(loss) of consolidated Project SPY for the year 

is identified and adjusted against the profit after tax of the Group. 

3.2. Business Combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair 
value and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business 
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at 
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised 
at their acquisition date fair values. For this purpose, the liabilities assumed include contingent 
liabilities representing present obligation and they are measured at their acquisition fair values 
irrespective of the fact that outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is not probable. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest 
held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net 
assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses 
whether it has coiTectly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and 
reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If 
the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the 
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity 
as capital reserve. However, if there is no clear evidence of bargain purchase, the entity 
recognises the gain directly in equity as capital reserve, without routing the same through OCI. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are 
assigned to those units. 

A cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or 
more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the 
other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. 

Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised 
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash­
generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated 
with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining 
the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the 
relative values of the disposed operation and the p01iion ofthe cash-generating unit retained. 

3.3. Asset acquisition 

The acquisition of an asset or a group of assets that does not constitute a business. In such cases 
the acquirer shall identify and recognise the individual identifiable assets acquired including those 



assets that meet the definition of, and recognttton criteria for, intangible assets in lnd AS 38. 
Intangible Assets and liabilities assumed. The cost of the group is allocated to the individual 
identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. 
Such a transaction or event does not give rise to goodwillll. 

3.4. Use of estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements and the results of operations during the reporting period end. 
Although these estimates are based upon management's best knowledge of current events and 
actions, actual results could differ from these estimates. 

3.5. Current versus non-current classification 

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/ non-current 
classification. 
An asset is treated as current when it is: 
- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle 
- Held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the repotiing period, or 
-Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 
least twelve months after the repotiing period. 
All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 
- It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle 
- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
-There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period. 
All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 
The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their 
realisation in cash and cash equivalents. The Group has identified twelve months as its operating 
cycle. 

3.6. Foreign cunencies 

The Group's financial statements are presented in INR, which is also the Group's functional 
currency. The group does not have any foreign operation and has assesseed the functional 
currency to be INR. 

Tr·ansactions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group at their respective 
functional currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency 
spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. 

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss. 



Non-monctuy items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. 

3.7. Fair value measUJ·ement 

The Group measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet 
date. 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either: 

e In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
e In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 

liability. 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their 
economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to 
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements 
arc categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

Level I -Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
Level J - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable 
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as 
a whole) at the end of each rep01iing period. 

The Group's Management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value 
measurement, such as derivative instruments and unquoted financial assets measured at fair value, 
and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for distribution in discontinued 
operations. 
At each rep01iing date, the Management analyses the movements in the values of assets and 
liabilities which are required to be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Group's accounting 
policies. For this analysis, the Management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation 
by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant 
documents. 
The management also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with 
relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable. 



On an annual basis, the Management of Investment Manager presents the valuation results to the 
Audit Committee and the Group's independent auditors. This includes a discussion of the major 
assumptions used in the valuations. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or I iabi I ity and the level of the fair 
value hierarchy as explained above. 

This note summarises accounting policy for fair value. Other fair value related disclosures are 
given in the relevant notes. 

• Disclosures for valuation methods, significant estimates and assumptions (note 34 and 40) 
e Financial instruments (including those carried at amortised cost) (note 34) 
• Quantitative disclosure oftair value measurement hierarchy (note 35) 

3.8. Revenue recognition 

Effective April I, 2018, the Company adopted Ind AS 115 "Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers" using the cumulative catch-up transition method, applied to contracts that were not 
completed as of April!, 2018. In accordance with the cumulative catch-up transition method, the 
comparatives have not been retrospectively adjusted. The Group did not have impact on adoption 
oflnd AS 115. 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are 
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Group has concluded that it is 
the principal in its revenue arrangements because it typically controls the services before 
transferring them to the customer. 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into 
account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duties collected on behalf 
of the government. 
The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recoenised. 

Toll revenue 

The income from Toll collection is recognised on the actual collection of toll revenue. 

Toll collection charges 

Revenue is recognised on actual collection of toll revenue (net of amount paid to NHAI) as per 
the Supplementary agreement with NHAJ. 

Contract t·evenue (construction contracts) 

Contract revenue associated with the utility shifting incidental to construction of road are 
recognized as revenue by reference to the stage of completion of the projects at the balance sheet 
date. The stage of completion of project is determined by the propotiion that contract cost 
incurred for work performed up to the balance sheet date bears to the estimated total contract 
costs. 
The Group's operations involve levying of VAT on the construction work. Sales tax/ value added 
tax (VAT) is not received by the Group on its own account. Rather, it is tax collected on value 



added to the commodity by the seller on behalf of the governme1~t. Accordingly, it is excluded 
from revenue. 

Claim Revenue 

Claims are recognised as revenue as per relevant terms of the concession agreement with the 
authority when it is probable that such claims will be accepted by the customer that can be 
measured reliably. 

Interest income 

For all debt instruments measured either at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR). EIR is 
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected 
I ife of the financial instrument or a shotier period, where appropriate, to the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial I iabi I ity. When calculating the 
effective interest rate, the Group estimates the expected cash flows by considering all the 
contractual terms ofthe financial instrument (for example, prepayment, extension, call and similar 
options) but does not consider the expected credit losses. Interest income is included in finance 
income in the statement of profit and loss. 

Dividends 

Revenue is recognised when the Group's right to receive the payment is established, which ts 
generally when shareholders approve the dividend. 

3.9. Government Grants 
Grants and subsidies from the Government are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that 
(i) the Group will comply with the conditions attached to them, and (ii) the 
grant I subsidy will be received. 

Grant received are considered as a pati of the total outlay of the construction project and 
accordingly, the same is reduced from the gross value of assets 

3.10. Property, plant ami equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses if any. Cost comprises the purchase price and any attributable cost of bringing the asset to 
its working condition for its intended use. Any trade discount or rebates are deducted in arriving 
at the purchase price. When significant parts of the plant and equipment are required to be 
replaced at intervals, the Group depreciates them separately based on their specific useful lives. 
All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in statement of profit or loss as incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated on written down value method (WDV) using the useful lives as 
prescribed under the Schedule II to the Companies Act, 2013 or re-assessed by the Group. 
The Group has estimated the following useful lives for its tangible fixed assets: 



Asset class Useful life I 

Plant & Machinery 9 years - I 5 years 

Office equipment 5 years 

Computers 3 years 

Servers 6 years 

Vehicles 8 years 
Furniture & fixtures I 0 years 

Toll Equipment 7 years 

An item of propetiy, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the 
statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecogn ised. 

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

3.11. Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are stated at cost, less accumulated amotiisation and impairment losses. 

Toll Collection Rights 

Toll collection rights are stated at cost net of accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
Cost includes: 
Toll Collection Rights awarded by the grantor against construction service rendered by the Project 
SPY on DBFOT basis - Direct and indirect expenses on construction of roads, bridges, culverts, 
infl-astructure and other assets at the toll plazas. 

Premium Obligation 

As per the service concession agreement, the Group is obligated to pay the annual fixed amount 
of premium to National Highway Authorities of India (NHAI). This premium obligation has heen 
capitalized as Intangible Asset given it is paid towards getting the right to earn revenue by 
constructing and operating the roads during the concession period. Hence, total premium payable 
as per the service concession agreement has been upfront capitalized at fair value of the obligation 
at the date of transition. 

Intangible assets are amotiised over the period of concession, using revenue based amortisation as 
per Exemption provided in lnd AS I 0 I. Under this method, the carrying value of the rights is 
amortised in the proportion of actual toll revenue for the year to projected revenue for the balance 
toll period, to reflect the pattern in which the assets economic benefits will be consumed. At each 
balance sheet date, the projected revenue for the balance toll period is reviewed by the 
management. If there is any change in the projected revenue from previous estimates, the 
amortisation of toll collection rights is changed prospectively to reflect any changes in the 
estimates. 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 



Intangible assets are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. 

3.12. Taxes 

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
Current income tax relating to items recognised outside the Statement of Profit and Loss is 
recognised outside the Statement of Profit and Loss (either in other comprehensive income or in 
equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI 
or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and 
establishes provisions where appropriate. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial rep01iing purposes at the 
reporting date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

- When the defen·ed tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, when the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profit will be availal.Jle againsl which lhe deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 
except: 

- When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, 
at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss 

-In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that 
it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each repotiing date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at 
each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 



Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that arc expected to apply in the 
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside statement of profit and loss is recognised outside 
statement of profit and loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Deferred tax 
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same 
taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) 

Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) paid as per Indian Income Tax Act 1961 is in the nature of 
unused tax credit which can be carried forward and utilised when the Group will pay normal 
income tax during the specified period. Deferred tax assets on such tax credit is recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that the unused tax credit can be utilised in the specified future period. 
The net amount of tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as pati of 
receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 

Sales/value added tax and goods and service tax paid on acquisition of assets or on incutTing 
expenses 

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales/value added taxes and goods and 
service tax paid, except: 
When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax 
authority, in which case, the tax paid is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or 
as part of the expense item, as applicable. 

When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included. The net amount of tax 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included as part of receivables or payables in 
the balance sheet. 

3.13. Bon·owing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable tu the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are 
capitalised as part of the cost ofthe asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in 
which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in 
connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also includes exchange differences to the 
extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs. 

3.14. Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if 
fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly specified 
in an arrangement. 

Group as a lessee 
A lease is classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease that 
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Group is classified 
as a finance lease. 



A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is 
depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term. 

Operating lease payments arc recognised as an expense in the statement of profit and loss on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 

3.15. Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, 
under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when 
the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss net of any reimbursement. 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre­
tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting IS 

used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

3.16. Premium Defer·ment 

Premium Deferral (i.e. premium payable less paid after adjusting premium deferment) is 
aggregated under premium deferred obligation in the balance sheet. The interest payable on the 
above is aggregated under premium deferral obligation. Interest on premium deferral is 
capitalised during the construction period and thereafter charged to the statement of profit and 
loss. 

3.17. Resurfacing expenses 

As per the Concession Agreement, the Group is obligated to carry out resurfacing of the roads 
under concession. The Group estimates the likely provision required towards resurfacing and 
accrues the cost on a straight line basis over the period at the end of which resurfacing would be 
required, in the statement of profit and loss. 

3.1 S. Contingent liabilities and Contingent assets 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the 
control of the Group or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that 
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also arises 
in extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be 
measured reliably. The Group does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence 
in the financial statements. 
A contingent assets is not recognised unless it becomes virtually ce1iain that an inflow of 
economic benefits will arise. When an inflow of economic benefits is probable, contingent assets 
are disclosed in the financial statements. 
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date. 

3.19. Retir·ement and other employee benefits 

Defined contribution plan 

Retirement benefits in the form of provident fund, Pension Fund and Employees state Insurance 
Fund are a defined contribution scheme and the contributions are charged to the Statement of 



profit and loss of the period when the employee renders related services. There are no other 
obligations other than the contribution payable to the respective authorities. 

Defined benefit plan 

Gratuity liability for eligible employees are defined benefit obligation and are provided for on the 
basis of an actuarial valuation on projected unit credit method made at the end of each financial 
year. Obligation is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows using discounted 
rate that is determined by reference to market yields at the balance sheet date on Government 
Securities where the currency and terms of the Government Securities are consistent with the 
currency and estimated terms of the defined benefit obi igation. 

Remeasurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses excluding amounts included in net 
interest on the net defined benefit liability are recognised immediately in the balance sheet with a 
corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through OCI in the period in which they occur. 
Remeasurements are not reclassified to statement of profit and loss in subsequent periods. 

Past service costs are recognised in statement of profit and loss on the earlier of: 
- The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and 
-The date that the Group recognises related restructuring costs 
Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. 
The Group recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation as an expense in 
the statement of profit and loss: 
- Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on 
curtailments and non-routine settlements; and 
- Net interest expense or income 

Short term benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations arc measured on an undisclosed basis and are expensed 
as the related services is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid i.e. 
under sho1i-term cash bonus, if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligations to pay 
this amount as a result of past service provided by the employees, and the amount of obligation 
can be estimated reliably. 

Leave encashment 

As per the leave encashment policy of the Group, the employees have to utilise their eligible leave 
during the calendar year and lapses at the end of the calendar year. Accrual towards compensated 
absences at the end of the financial year are based on last salary drawn and outstanding leave 
absence at the end of the financial year. 

3.20. Financial instr·ument 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not 
recorded at fair value through Statement of Profit and Loss, directly attributable transaction cost 

the acquisition of the financial asset. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 
assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular 



way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or 
sell the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in following categories; 
at amoriised cost 
at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

Financial instruments 

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not 
recorded at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the 
acquisition ofthe financial asset. 

Debt instruments at amortised cost 

A 'debt instrument' is measured at the amortised cost if both its following conditions are met: 

a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting 
contractual cash flows, and 
b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amoriised cost 
using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral pari of the EIR. The 
EIR amortisation is included in other income in the statement of profit or loss. The losses arising 
from impairment are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

Debt instrument at FVTOCI 

A 'debt instrument' is classified at FVTOCI if both of the following criteria are met: 

a) The objective of the business model is achieved oullr by cullecling contractual cash flows and 
selling the financial assets, and 
b) The asset's contractual cash flows represent SPPI. 

Debt instruments included within the FVTOCI category are measured initially as well as at each 
reporting date at fair value. Fair value movements are recognized in the other comprehensive 
income (OCI). However, the Group recognizes interest income, impairment losses & reversals 
and foreign exchange gain or loss in the Profit and Loss. On de-recognition of the asset, 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from the equity to Profit and 
Loss. Interest earned whilst holding FVTOCI debt instrument is reporied as interest income using 
the EIR method. 

Debt instrument at FVTPL 

FVTPL is a residual category for debt instruments. Any debt instrument, which does not meet the 
criteria for categorization as at amortized cost or as FVTOCI, is classified as at FVTPL. 

In addition, the Group may elect to designate a debt instrument, which otherwise meets amortized 
cost or FVTOCI criteria, as at FVTPL. However, such election is allowed only if doing so reduces 
or eliminates a measurement or recognition inconsistency (referred to as 'accounting mismatch'). 



The Group has designated certain debt instrument as at FVTPL. 

Debt instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes 
recognized in the statement of profit and loss. 

Equity investments 

All equity investments in scope of Ind AS I 09 are measured at fair value. Equity instruments 
which are held for trading are classified as at FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the Group 
may make an irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive income subsequent changes 
in the fair value. The Group makes such election on an instrument-by-instrument basis. The 
classification is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable. 

If the Group decides to classify an equity instrument as at FVTOCI, then all fair value changes on 
the instrument, excluding dividends, are recognized in the OCI. There is no recycling of the 
amounts from OCI to statement of profit and loss, even on sale of investment. However, the 
Group may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within equity. 

Equity instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recognized in the statement of profit and loss. 

De-1·ecognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or pat1 of a Group of similar 
financial assets) is primarily de-recognised (i.e. removed from the Group's balance sheet) when: 

- The rights to receive cash Jlows from the asset have expired, or 
- The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash Jlows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third pat1y under a 
'pass-through' arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash Jlows from an asset or has entered into a 
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards 
of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the 1 isks and 
rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also 
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured 
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Group could be required to repay. 

3.21. Impairment of assets 

Im painnent of financial assets 

Expected credit losses are recognized for all financial assets subsequent to initial recognition 
other than financial assets in FVTPL category. 

For financial assets other than trade receivables, as per Ind AS I 09, the Group recognizes 12 
month expected credit losses for all originated or acquired financial assets if at the repot1ing date 
the credit risk of the financial asset has not increased significantly since its initial recognition. The 



expected credit losses are measured as lifetime expected credit losses ifthe credit risk on financial 
assets increases significantly since its initial recognition. 

The impairment losses and reversals are recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss. 

Trade Receivable 

The Group has evaluated the impairment provision requirement under Ind AS 109 and has listed 
down below major facts for trade and other receivables impairment provisioning: 

Trade receivable from NHAI are considered to be good and there are neither been any past 
instances of default and also management doesn't expect any default in case of Group receivables. 

Other Financial Assets mainly consists of Loans to employees and Security Deposit and other 
deposits, interest accrued on Fixed Deposits, loans to related party, Retention money receivable 
from NI-IAI, Grant receivable from NI-IAI and other receivables and advances measured at 
amortised cost. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Group estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. 
Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or Group's assets. When the 
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, tn the case of loans and 
borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Groups financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including 
bank overdrafts, financial guarantee contracts and derivative financial instruments. 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading 
and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of 
repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered 
into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined 
by lnd AS 109. 



Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Loans and bonowings 

This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are de-recognised as well as through the 
EIR am011isation process. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs 
in the statement of profit and loss. 

Financial guat·antee contt·acts 

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that require a payment to be 
made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a 
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee 
contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at the 
higher of the amount of loss allowance determined as per impairment requirements of lnd AS 109 
and the amount recognised less cumulative amortisation. 

Retention money payable 

Retention money payable is measured at fair value initially. Subsequently, they are measured at 
amot1ised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in Statement pf Profit and 
Loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 

Financial liabilities at fair· value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading 
and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of 
repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered 
into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined 
by Ind AS I 09. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Loans and borrowings 

This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are de-recognised as well as through the 
EIR amortisation process. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs 
in the statement of profit and loss. 
This category generally applies to borrowings. 

Reclassification of financial assets 

The Group determines classification of financial assets and liabilities on initial recognition. After 
initial recognition, no reclassification is made for financial assets which are equity instruments 
and financial liabilities. For financial assets which are debt instruments, a reclassification is made 



only if there is a change in the business model for managing those assets. Changes to the business 
model are expected to be infrequent. The Group's senior management determines change in the 
business model as a result of external or internal changes which are significant to the Group's 
operations. Such changes are evident to external parties. A change in the business model occurs 
when the Group either begins or ceases to perform an activity that is significant to its operations. 
If the Group reclassifies financial assets, it applies the reclassification prospectively from the 
reclassification date which is the first day of the immediately next reporting period following the 
change in business model. The Group does not restate any previously recognised gains, losses 
(including impairment gains or losses) or interest. 

The following table shows various reclassification and how they are accounted for: 

Ot·iginal Revised classification Accounting tr·eatment 
classification 
Amortised cost FVTPL Fair value is measured at reclassification date. 

Difference between previous 
amortized cost and fair value is recognised in 
P&L. 

FVTPL Amotiised cost Fair value at reclassification date becomes its 
new gross carrying amount. EIR is calculated 
based on the new gross carrying amount 

Amotiised cost FVTOCI Fair value is measured at reclassification date. 
Difference between previous amortised cost 
and fair value is recognised in OCI. No change 
in EIR due to reclassification. 

FVTOCI Amortised cost Fair value at reclassification date becomes its 
new amortised cost carrying amount. However, 
cumulative gain or loss in OCI is adjusted 
against fair value. Consequently, the asset is 
measured as if it had always been measured at 
amotiised cost. 

FVTPL FVTOCI Fair value at reclassification date becomes its 
new carrying amount. No other adjustment is 
required. 

FVTOCI FVTPL Assets continue to be measured fair value. 
Cumulative gain or loss previously recognized 
in OCI is reclassified to P&L at the 
reclassification date. 

De-recognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts 
is recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Offsetting of financial instmments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is repotied in the standalone 
balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously. 



3.22. Contributed Equity 

Units are classified as equity. Incremental costs attributable to the issue of units are directly 
recorded in equity, net of tax. 

3.23. Distribution to unit holders 

The Group recognises a liability to make cash distributions to unit holders when the distribution is 
authorised and a legal obligation has been created. As per the Inv!T Regulations, a distribution is 
authorised when it is approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager. A 
corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity 

3.24. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered 
an integral part of the Group's cash management. 

3.25. Eamings Pet· Unit (EPU) 

Basic earnings per unit are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to unit 
holders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per unit, the weighted average numbers of units 
outstanding during the year are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential units. 

3.26. New pronouncements issued but not effective 

lnd AS 116 Leases: On March 30, 2019, Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified lnd AS 116, 

Leases. Ind AS 116 will replace the existing leases Standard, Ind AS 17 Leases, and related 

Interpretations. The Standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measun:lllcnl, 

presentation and disclosure of leases for both pa1iies to a contract i.e., the lessee and the lessor. 

lnd AS 116 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets 

and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than twelve months, unless the underlying asset is 

of low value. Currently, operating lease expenses are charged to the statement of Profit & Loss. 

The Standard also contains enhanced disclosure requirements for lessees. Ind AS 116 

substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in Ind AS 17. The effective date 

for adoption of lnd AS 116 is annual periods beginning on or after April I, 2019. The standard 

permits two possible methods of transition: 

• Full retrospective - Retrospectively to each pnor period presented applying lnd AS 8 

Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. 

• Modified retrospective - Retrospectively, with the cumulative effect of initially applying the 

Standard recognized at the date of initial application. Under modified retrospective approach, the 

lessee records the lease liability as the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted 

at the incremental borrowing rate and the right of use asset either as: 

' ' ' 
,., ! 



• Its carrying ~mount as if the standard had been applied since the commencement date, but 

discounted at lessee's incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application or 

• An amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease 

payments related to that lease recognized under Ind AS 17 immediately before the date of initial 

app I ication. 

Certain practical expedients arc available under both the methods. 

The Group does not have any material leases and therefore, the adoption of this standard is not 

likely to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements. 

lnd AS 12 Appendix C, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments: On March 30, 20 I 9, 

Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Ind AS I 2 Appendix C, Uncertainty over Income Tax 

Treatments which is to be applied while performing the determination of taxable profit (or loss), 

tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over 

income tax treatments under Ind AS I 2. According to the appendix, companies need to determine 

the probability of the relevant tax authority accepting each tax treatment, or group of tax 

treatments, that the companies have used or plan to use in their income tax filing which has to be 

considered to compute the most likely amount or the expected value of the tax treatment when 

determining taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates. 

The standard permits two possible methods of transition - i) Full retrospective approach - Under 

this approach, Appendix C will be applied retrospectively to each prior repotiing period presented 

in accordance with Ind AS 8- Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, 

without using hindsight and ii) Retrospectively with cumulative effect of initially applying 

Appendix C recognized by adjusting equity on initial application, without adjusting comparatives. 

The effective date for adoption of Ind AS I 2 Appendix C is annual periods beginning on or after 

April I, 20 I 9. The Group has evaluated the effect of this on consolidated financial statements and 

the impact of this arnendment is not material. 

Amendment to lnd AS 12 - Income taxes : On March 30, 20 I 9, Ministry of Corporate Affairs 

issued amendments to the guidance in I nd AS I 2, 'Income Taxes', in connection with accounting 

for dividend distribution taxes. 

The amendment clarifies that an entity shall recognise the income tax consequences of dividends 

in profit or loss, other comprehensive income or equity according to where the entity originally 

recognised those past transactions or events. 

Effective date for application of this amendment is annual period beginning on or after April I, 

20 I 9. The Fund is currently evaluating the effect of this amendment on the standalone financial 

statements. 

Amendment to lnd AS 19- plan amendment, cm·tailment o1· settlement- On March 30, 20 I 9, 

Ministry of Corporate Affairs issued amendments to Ind AS I 9, 'Employee Benefits·, in 

connection with accountin r for plan amendments, curtailments and settlements. The amendments 

require an entity: 



• to use updated assumptions to determine current service cost and net interest for the remainder 

of the period after a plan amendment, cu1iailment or settlement; and 

• to recognise in profit or loss as part of past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, any 

reduction in a surplus, even if that surplus was not previously recognised because ofthe impact of 

the asset ceiling. 

Effective date for application of this amendment is annual period beginning on or after April 1, 

2019. The Group has evaluated the effect of this on consolidated financial statements and the 

impact ofthis amendment is not material. 



IRB lnviT Fund 
CntL•wlidated FinanciHI Staterncnt.o; fO(· year rnded i\btrch 31,2019 

:"ic.tc -t: Prope1·ty. plant and equipment 

Particular~ 

Gross Block 
Opening Balance 
Additions on acquisition of subsidic...rics 
Additions 
Deletion/ Adiusnnent 
Closing Balance 

Depreciation 

Opening Balance 
Additions on 8CC1uisition of subsidiaries 
Additions 
Deletion/ Adjustment 
Closing B:-dancc 
Net Block 

Gross Block 
Opening Brdancc 
Additions on acctuisition ofsubsidi.:~rics 
Additions 
Deletion/ Adjustment 
Closing Bt11Hnce 

Ocpn~ciation 

Opening Balance 
Additions on 8CCltlisition ofsubsidi.wies 
Additions 
Deletion/ Adjustment 
Clo!\ing n~llancc 

i'ict Block 

Notes: 
1. Toll Collection Rip,hts includes 1:.111 equipments 

Land PI-tnt and machinerv Office eguipments 

A!' at :\larch As at \·Llrch As at ~-1 anh As at March Asat\lHrch As at March 
31. 2019 31' 2018 31, 20:9 31. 2018 31' 2019 31' 2018 

98.6 I 4.37 (J.90 

'l8.61 4.37 c •. os 
0.18 0.85 

98.61 98.61 4.37 4.37 7.08 6.90 

0.81 2.1 (J 

072 0.81 1.14 2.16 

I.S3 0.81 3.30 2.16 
9S.t11 9~U\1 2.84 .1.'>6 3.78 4.74 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

Toll Collection Riohts Prr:miurn to NHAI Total 
As at Mat-ch As at Mat·ch As at i'-l:-1rch As at March .-\sat ~larch As at March 

31. 2019 31. 2018 31. 2019 31. 2018 31 2019 31' 2018 

744.021 0 I 667.31)4.55 1 .. 111.:125.56 

715.279.38 667.304.55 1.~82.58~.93 

322.77 28.599.70 '.22.77 28.599.70 
1.504.30 ( 141.93) 1.50UO ( 141.93) 

742,839.48 744,021.01 667.304.55 667,304.55 1.410.144.03 I ,411,325.56 

40.084.46 8.6J7.67 48.692.13 

40.099 51 8.607.67 48.707 18 

53.842 I 0.2J8.18 M.050.26 
( 15.05) ( 15.05) 

93,926.54 40,084.46 18.815.85 8.60?.67 112.742.39 48,692.13 

648,912.95 703,936.S5 648.488.70 ___ 658,696.88 1,297.401.64 I ,362.633.43 

2. Adjustment comprises foreign e;;chnnge uain capitalised. for dctoils refer note 45 

Cnpitnl \\"ark in progr-ess 

Openinu balance 
Additions during the year 
Capitalised during the ycnr 

As Ht Mnrch 
31, 2019 

2?8.16 

278.16 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at March 
31. 2018 

278.16 

278.16 

Computer Vel1icles 

As at i\ .. lBrch As ;tt ;Vtnrch As at ':\Ia rch 
,\sat 

31,2019 31' 2018 31. 2019 
,\larch 31. 

2018 

1.09 ~ 74 
(1.()9 4.40 

on 0.·10 
2.39 0.66 

1.82 1.09 1.35 3.74 

0.52 0 72 

0.38 0.42 0.49 0.72 
0 10) 109 

0.90 0.52 0.12 0.72 

0.92 0.57 1.23 3.02 

Furniture Hnd fixtur(' 

..\sat 
:\larch 3l. A~ <lt i\h1rch 

2019 
31. 201 s 

::;.11 
:;_71 

0 ")"'; 

5.98 .5.71 

us 

uo 1 <s 

2.88 1.:<8 
3.10 ~.13 

(Rs 111 L<1Khsl 

Tot~1! 

,\.-;at 

.\Ltrch 31, 
2010 

i 2() ...!.': 

I i X 
2 ~<) 

119.21 

~ j() 

HI:< 
I ()<l 

S.73 
II 0.48 

\~ <lt 

.\l~ltTh 3!. 
21118 

II 'l S.' 
1.:< 

0.66 

120.42 

5 (lC) 

(()J()) 

.5.79 
114.63 



IRB lnviT Fund 

\/otes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31,2019 

FINANCIAL ASSETS 

'lote 5 : Investments 

1\) Non- cuJTent investments 

a) Investments in Government 01· trust securities 

(unquoted) (at amortised cost) 

National saving certificates 

b) Investments in mutual funds (quoted) 

(at fair value through profit and loss) 

SBI Magnum Insta Cash Fund Liquid Floater- Direct Plan-Growth 

Nil (March 31,2018: 172,812.26 units@ Rs.2,909.10) 

(All of the above units are marked as lien in favour of security trustee) 

Total (A) 

B) Current investments 

a) Investments in mutual funds (quoted) 

(at fait· value through p1·ofit and loss) 

IDBI Mutual Fund 

34,589.4630 units@ Rs.2002.9905 (March 31, 2018 : 4,680.67 units@ Rs. I ,860.48) 

SBI Magnum Mutual Fund 

Nil (March 31, 2018 : I 04,830.34 units@ Rs. 3,843.16) 

Sundaram Mutual Fund 

34,553,586.854 units@ I 0.440 I (March 31, 2018 : 567,141.34 units@ Rs. 36.61) 

Aditya Birla Sun Life Saving Fund 

533,248.902 units@ Rs.300.4362 (March 31,2018:4,335,309.18 units@ Rs.279.31) 

Reliance Money Market Fund 
I 27,040.226 units@. Rs.2,839.3181 (Mar-18- Nil units) 
L&T Ultra Short Term Fund 
11,582,079.9-19 units@. Rs.31.1393 (Mar-18 ·Nil units) 
Reliance Liquid Fund 
35, I 17.483 units @ Rs. 4,561.8889 (Mar-18 -Nil units) 
Canara Robeco Savings Fund 
5,083,797.936 units@. Rs. 29.5491 (Mar-18- Nil units) 
SBI Liquid Fund 
5,812.176 units@. Rs. 2,928.5700 (Mar- I 8 -Nil units) 
Aditya Birla Sun Life Money Manager Fund 
2,508,356.2IO units@. Rs. 251.7000 (Mar-I8- Nil units) 

Total (B) 

Total (A+B) 

Aggregate book value of quoted investments 

Market value of quoted investments 

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 

As at March 31, 
2019 

0.40 

0.40 

692.82 

3,607.43 

I ,602.07 

3,607.08 

3,606.58 

1,601.02 

I ,502.22 

170.2I 

6,313.53 

22,703.96 

22,704.36 

22,703.96 

22,703.96 

0.40 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at Ma1·ch 31, 
2018 

0.40 

5,027.28 

5,027.68 

87.08 

4,028.80 

207.77 

I2,109.15 

16,432.80 

21,460.48 

2 I ,460.08 

21,460.08 

0.40 



IRB lnviT Fund 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements fo1· the year ended M:u·ch 31,2019 

Note 6 : Loans 

(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 

Unamortised transaction cost 

Loans to employees 

Security and other deposits 

Total 

Note 7 : Othe1· financial assets 

Receivable from government authorities 

Security and other deposits 

Interest accrued on fixed deposits 

Retention money receivable 

Other receivables 

Total 

Note 8 : Defened tax assets (net) 

Defened Tax Liabilities (Net): 
Deferred tax assets: 

Effect of expenditure debited to profit and loss account in the 

current year but allowed for tax purposes in following years 

Deferred tax assets (A) 

Defened tax liabilities: 

Difference in depreciation and other differences in block of 

Propetiy, plant and equipment as per tax books & financial 

books 

Deferred tax liabilities (B) 

Deferred tax assets (n~t) (A-B) 

As at March 31,2019 

Current 

40.34 

83.66 

124.00 

I ,075.37 

7.89 

120.78 

331.63 

1,535.67 

Non-current 

1.72 

1.72 

(Rs. ir! Lakhs) 

As at March 31, 2018 

Current 

406.93 

34.17 

441.10 

I ,004.27 

0.16 

1.49 

24.36 

103.75 

1,134.03 

Non-ctu-rcnt 

80.53 

41.80 

122.33 

(Amount in Lakhs) 

As at March 
31, 2019 

3,260.53 

3,260.53 

37.51 

37.51 

3,223.02 

As at Ma1·ch 
31,2018 

3,260.53 

3,260.53 

37.51 

37.51 

3,223.02 



IRB InviT Fund 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended Mar·ch 31, 2019 

Note 9 : Other non- cuJTent assets 

Prepaid expenses 

Total 

Note I 0 : Tr·adc r·cccivablcs 

(Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated) 

Others 
Total 

As at March 
31,2019 

41.47 

41.47 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 30 to 90 days. 

(Amount in Lakhs) 

As at Mat·ch 31, 

2018 

0.05 

0.05 

55.41 

55.41 

No trade or other receivables are due from directors or other officers of the Group either severally or jointly 

with any other person. 

Note 11 :Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and bank balances 

Balances with banks: 

- on current accounts 

-on trust, retention and other escrow accounts* 

Cash on hand 

Deposits with banks 

-Original maturity less than 3 months (Earmarked) 

Total 

97.41 

546.99 

768.70 

1,413.10 

* Escrow account of the subsidiary companies are hypothecated in favour of lenders of the Fund. 

Note 12 : Bank IJalanccs o(hcr· (han cash and (~ash equivalen1 

- Unpaid distribution accounts 

Deposits with banks 
-Original maturity of more than 3 months but less than 12 months 

Total 

Note 13 : Income tax assets (net) 
Advance income-tax (net of provision for tax) 

Total 

Note 14 : Other· curTent assets 
Advance with suppliers 
Work-in-progress 
Prepaid expenses 
Duties and taxes receivable 
Total 

31.09 

5,030.22 
5,061.31 

584.16 
584.16 

3.60 
396.68 

5.29 
125.83 
531.40 

1,474.06 

7.86 

462.89 

7,358.89 
9,303.70 

13.20 

57.53 
70.73 

830.83 

830.83 

105.91 
455.51 

18.38 
213.72 
793.52 



RB ln\'IT Fund 

;otes to Consolidated Fi1u1neial Statements for the year ended \larch .ll, 201'! 

;ote: l:i: Eqoit~ 

. {;nit capital 

iX0.500.000 (31 March 18 5StJ.500.\;00) untts (tssue prtce Rs. I 0~) 

nitial scltkntcnt amount 

Rights of !'nit holders 

As at \larch 31, 
2019 

560.763 (JI) 

OIU 

560,763.10 

tRs. 111 Lakhs) 

As at \larch 31. 
201S 

579.919 50 

0.10 

579,919.60 

Sub1cct to the provisions oi'the lnviT Regulations. the Indenture ofFLPld. and appltcablc rules. regulations and guidelines. the rights of the unit holders include 

a) right to receive 1ncomc or distributions with respect to the units held: 

b) right to attend the annual general meeting and other meetings of the unit holders of the Fund: 

c) right to vote upon any matters/resolutions proposed in relation to the Fund: 

d) right to receive periodic information having a bearing on the operation or- pcrlormancc of the Fund in accordance with the lnviT Regulations: and 

c) right to apply to the Fund to take up certain issues at meetings f(lr unit holders approval 

In accordance with the lnviT Regulations. no unit holders shall enJO) superior voting or anv other rights ovc1 any other unit holders, and there shall not be muluplc classes of un1ts 
There shall be only one denomination of units. Not\\ithstanding the above. subordinate units mav be 1ssucd onlv to the Sponsor and its Associates. \\here such subordinate units shall 
carry onlv inferior voting or any other rights compared to the other units 

Limitation to the Liability of the unit holders 

The liabliity or each unit holders towards the payment of any amount (that mav arise in rc.lation to the Fund including any taxes, duties. lines, levies. liabilities. costs or expenses) 
shall be limited only to the extent of the capital contribution of such unit holders and alicr such capital contribution shall have been paid in full by the unit holders. the unit holders 
shall not be obligated to make any further payments. The unit holders(s) shall not have any personal liability or obligation with respect to the Fund 

II. Reconciliation of the number· of units outstanding and the amount of unit capital: 

At the beginning of the year 

Issued during the year 

Less: Capital reduction during the vear 

At the end of the year 

Details of unit holders holding more than S% units : 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 

Government Of Singapore 

Aditya Birla Sun Life Trustee Private Limited AIC Aditya 
Birla Sun Life Equity Hybrid '95 Fund 

As at Mar·ch 31,2019 

i'\o. of units Amount 
580.500.000 579.919.50 

19.156.50 

580,500,000 560,763.00 

As at March 31,2019 

No. of units 

92,705,000 

47,555,000 

37 .I 00.000 

"J\, of total unit 
ca 1ital 

15.97% 

8.19% 

640% 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at Mar·ch 31,2018 

1'\o. of units Amount 

580.500.000 592.110.00 

12.190.50 

580,500,000 579,919.50 

As at M:u-ch 31, 2018 

1\o. of units 

92,705.000 

41.650.000 

%of total 
unit ca ita! 

1597% 
7.17".1,, 

----------"(_Rs in Lakh') 

Retained earnings 
At the beginning of the year 

Prolit!(loss) lor the year 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) lor the year 

Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined bendit plans 

Unit issue expenses 

Interest distribution (refer note 43) 

At the end of the ~·car 

Total 

As at Mar·ch 31, 

2019 

( 18,28044) 

19,776.49 

(32 81) 

(51 ,37425) 

(49,911.00) 

(49,911.00) 

AsatMarch 31, 

2018 

(0 02) 

23,242.27 

6.26 

(9.89170) 

(31 ,637 25) 

( 18,280.44) 

(18,280.44) 



IRB lnviT Fund 

~otes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended M:u·ch 31,2019 

Note : 17 : BorTowings 

Non-cntTcnt borTowings 

Tcnn loans 
Indian rupee loan fi·01n banks (secured) 

I ~ess : current maturities expected to be settled 11 ithin 12 month from balance sheet date 

From other parties 

Deferred premium obligation (secured) 

Unamortised transaction cost 

Total 

l. Indian nrpcc loan from banks 

(Rs. in l.akhs) 

As at March 31,2019 As at Mar·ch 31,2018 

151.298.8 I 154.610.50 
(4.637.81) (3.299.50) 

146.661.00 151.3 I 1.00 

29.771.45 23.839.45 
( 1.206.25) ( 1.291.79) 

175,226.20 173,858.66 

i) Secured by first charge on escrow account and on receivable of fund arising out of principal and interest payment of the loans by fund to 

subsidiaries. 

ii) Pledge of shares held 5 I% of share holding in the total paid-up equity share capital of IRI3 .laipur Deoli Tollway Limited and IRB l'athankot 

Amritsar Toll Road Limited. 

iii) Interest rates on Indian rupee loan from State Bank of India is MCLR + O.I5% & IDFC First Bank is 8.I5%. The Indian rupee loans Ji·01n banks 

is repayable in unstructured monthly instalment as per the repayment schedule specified in loan agreement with the Lenders. 

2. Defer-red pr·emium obligation 

National Highways Authority of India has approved deferment of premium obligation which carries interest rate @2% above the RBI bank rate. 

Bank guarantee has been provided to NIIAI. The repayment is in accordance with the cash surplus accruing to the Company over the concession 

period. 

There have been no breaches in the financial covenants with respect to borrowings. 



IRB lnv!T Fund 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31,2019 

Note 18: Other financial liabilities 

Current maturities of long-term borrowings 

Interest accrued on borrowings 

Premium obligation/ negative grant to NHAI 

Interest on premium deferment 

Unclaimed distribution 

Deposits 

Retention money payable 

Revenue share payable 

Employee benefits payable 

Other payable 

Total 

Note 19 : Provisions 

Provision for employee benefits 

- Leave encashment 

-Gratuity (Refer Note 42) 

Others 

Resurfacing expenses * 
Total 

As at MHch 31,2019 

Current 

4.637.81 

10.90 

20,166.42 

31.09 

3,953.81 

3,543.43 

228.34 

46.70 
32,618.50 

4.94 

14.42 

18,493.83 
18,513.19 

Non-current 

572,929.56 

8,019.27 

580,948.83 

160.47 

4,512.41 

4,672.88 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at M::u·ch 31, 2018 

Current 

3,299.50 

746.92 

13,938.25 

13.20 

31.26 

3,892.85 

3,258.45 

221.80 

85.50 
25,487.73 

3.82 

13.67 

4,038.00 
4,055.49 

Non-current 

599,027.98 

5,293.25 

1.15 

604,322.38 

108.05 

18,725.69 

18,833.74 

* l11e above provisions are based on current best estimation of expenses that may be required to fulfil the resurfacing obligation as per the 
service concession agreement with regulatory authorities. It is expected that significant portion of the costs will be incurred over the period. 
The actual expense incurred may vary from the above. No reimbursements are expected from any sources against the above obligation. 

The movement in resurfacing expenses is as follows : 

Pat·ticulars 

Opening balance 

Additions 011 acquisition of projects 

Add : Provision made during the year 

Less: Utilised during the year 
Total 

Note : 20 : Trade payables 
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises (Refer Note 33) 
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and 
small enterprises 

Total 

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities: 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally seitled on 90 day terms. 

Note 21 :Other liabilities 
Advance from customers 
Duties and taxes payable 

Total 

As at March 
31,2019 

22,763.69 

5,558.55 

(5,316.00) 
23,006.24 

34.44 
9,695.41 

9,729.85 

36.35 
134.43 
170.78 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at March 31, 
2018 

19,131.].1 

5,208.55 

(I ,576.00) 
22,763.69 

85.25 
12,107.22 

12,192.47 

36.35 
35.44 
71.79 



IRB ln\'IT Fund 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements f<w the year ended M::u·ch 31, 20!9 

Note 22 : Revenue ft·om opet·ations 

Contract revenue (Utility shifting) 

Income arising out of toll collection (net) 

Toll collection charges (net of additional revenue share paid to NHA I) 

Sale of material 

Other operating income 

Total 

Oisaggr·egated revenue information 

______________ _..:._(l_<.s_:.0_ Lakhs)__ 
F<n the year· For· the yc:n 

ended 1\1 a t·ch 3 I, ended l\1 a r·ch .3!, 

2019 2018 
------------- --------

I ,604 :12 

119,50461 

9:1.91 

82.22 

!21,285.06 

129.17 

98,843.98 

77.55 

96.12 

54.02 

99,200.84 

The table below presents disaggregated revenue from contracts with customers for the year ended March 31, 2019. 

Income ft·om set·vices (Revenue fr·om contt·acts with Customct·s) 

Services transferred over time 

Income from toll collection 

Contract revenue (Utility shifting) 

Toll colle<:tion charges 

Revenue fnmt contntcts with customer·s 

Othet· opct·ating r·evenue 

Claim received 

Total r·evenue from operation 

Pe.-for·mance obligation 

Income from toll collection 

119,504.61 

L604.32 

93.91 

111,202.84 

82.22 

121,285.06 

98,843.98 

129.17 

77.55 

99,050.70 

54.02 

99,104.72 

The performance obligation in service of toll collection is recorded as per rates notified by NHAI and approved by management and 
payment is generally due at the time of providing service. 

Contract Revenue 

The performance obligation under contractual agreements is due on completion of work as per terms of contracts. 

Contr·act balances 

There are no reconciling items in the revenue recognised in the statement of profit and loss with contracted price. 

Note 23 : Other- income 

Interest income on 

- Bank deposits 

-Others 

Gain on sale ofproperiy, plant and equipment (net) 

Profit on sale of investments (net) 

Fair value gain on mutual funds 

Other non operating income 

Total 

Note 24 : Operating expenses 

Operation and maintenance expenses 

Site and other direct expenses 

Total 

Note 25 : Employee benefits expense 

Salaries, wages and bonus 

Contribution to provident and other funds 

Gratuity expenses 

Staff welfare expenses 

Total 

308.42 

79.30 

0.06 
1,348.71 

52.92 

266.12 

2,055.53 

242_55 

2,609.42 

2,851.97 

2,102.79 

105.64 

24.57 

291.24 
2,524.24 

99.85 

20.81 

38.73 

883.04 

100.77 

171.74 

1,314.94 

5,070.81 

986.85 

6,057.66 

1,699.35 

97.61 

25.44 

204.24 
2,026.64 



IRB ln\'IT Fund 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements fort he year ended i'vla t-ch 31, 2019 

- ------------

Note 26 : Dept·eciation and amor-tisation expenses 

Depr=iation on property, plant and equipment 

Amortisation on intangible assets 

To6'11 

Note 27: Finance costs 

Interest expense 

- Banks and financial institutions 

- Premium deferment 

Other finance cost 

Total 

Note 28 : Other expenses 

Power and fuel 

Rent 

Rates and taxes 

Water charges 

Travelling and conveyance 

Vd1icle expenses 

Communication cost 

Printing and stationery 

Advertisement expenses 

Dit·=tors sitting fees (including GST I service tax) 

Legal and professional expenses 

Payment to Auditor (including GST I service tax) 

- Statutory audit fees 

- Limited review fees 

-Tax audit fees 

-Certification 

- Reimbursement of expenses 

Bank charges 

Donation 

Miscellaneous expenses 

Total 

~-----------------'-(R_s__:_ in Lakhs) 
Fot· the ye:;u· 

ended Mat·ch 31, 

2019 

4.03 

64,050.26 

64,054.29 

12,649.21 

2,726.02 

533.46 

15,908.69 

209.83 

75.15 

76.13 

48.22 

71.30 

9.81 

162.52 

35.85 

32.40 

230.76 

43.77 

26.57 

1.18 

9.70 

2.37 

110.14 

0.50 

26.36 

1,172.56 

Fo,- the yeat· 

ended Mat·ch 31, 

2018 

5.70 

48,707.18 

48,712.88 

7,151.91 

1,898 10 

874.69 

9,924.70 

187.84 

62.65 

41.83 

2.09 

29.72 

40.30 

7.12 

135.64 

5.11 

24.38 

142.40 

42.86 

19.64 

1.83 
2.)~ 

0.26 

67.55 

0.06 

434.50 

1,248.36 



RH lnd"f Fund 

\()(('"' fo ('otholid:llt'd Fin:mci:ll Stakm<'lll' fo1· lh(' ~(·ar endl'd :\l:1n·h 31.2019 

)ro(!l! (1{)\S) ;1\tnhuuhk \1) LrHI h,)!d~·r··· fur l>a:,!( ~md dr!ut<.'d (':Hntng~ 

.\\•,ghkd a;.,:r:1:._!'' li:.i11bL'1 of Umt" m r:dcuhun:: b:\\JC :1:1d ddut~·d E('~; 

h')JC e":umn~ p~1 Lnu (Rupecs·'UIH\) 

Jduted c:H!lllll! P·~~ L"mt (Ruw~cs!unll) 

'\<tk 30 : ('omtHllH'IIfS of Othet· Comun:·hensi\"(· lncom<' 

----~--·~·~----~~~-~~-~l-
FOI"th(· _,eat Fot· the ~<"a! 

ended \Ltn·h 3 I. <'tukd \bt·ch ] I. 
___ 2_tll_9 __ . ___ . ..c2cct1.oo!S'----

!9.77{) -19 

)SO . .'iOO.fH~o 

3.-ll 

3-11 

:n_2-12 27 

~sz;,:-\(JlJ,OOu 

-1()() 

-1 O(J 

The- d!Saggl('gallon of dungc'> tn on by e.ach tyrc of k!-.('rve 111 equity IS sho\',ll below (R:. HI Lak!ls) 

Re-me.""i<;;urcment gMnsi (losses) on ddlncd benefu plan~ (R~fc.1 note .t2) 

Toi:d 

,_, (~<llllf11f(Ul('I1{S 

.a) Estimal<:!d value of contracts in Ctp11al account remaining to be executed 

b) Comlllrtnl<.'nf fot acqwsrtron of toll e-qUipment & machrnenes 

c) Other commitments 

h. Conf~n~e-nt liahifit~ 

Con~ingen1 tiahi:litles not JH·ovided fot· 

!\!HAl cl.sim f01 shnnfall in Revenue share 

T<lC~1 

Fot·thc .H·~u- F01· dH.· ye;.H· 

cndC'd Mat"Ch 31, <·nded i\t.at·ch 31. 
2019 1018 

(32 81) 616 
---- -(32.81)-- 6:26 

------·-~"--~~~'SJ .. ---~ 
Fot· the :year F<H" ch-e y<'":u· 

<'lld<'d Man-h 31, end<""d M.ar·ch 31. 

-~-9 _____ 1_~----
.l-1.53 

16 74 

----------------------~-~9-2~-

(Rs in l...<tkbs) 

As at M~u·ch 31, As at Man.-~1 31, 

2019 1018 

3.289.08 3.189.08 

3,289.08 3,289.08 

1) Future c.ash outflows. if .any. in resp.xt of above arc determinable only on I<XCrpt of judgcnh.·nt/de<:isions pending at vanous forums/authonties. 

i1) 11te Group's pendrng hhgatwns compnse of claims against the Group pnmarily by the commuters and rr.:gulators The Group has reviev .. 'ed all rts pending litigations and 

proceedings .and has adequalely provided for "'·here -provistons arc required. The Group has not provided for or drsdose.d contingent liabilities for matters considen .. -d as rcmoh! for 
pending IJtiglHrons/public liti_g.<tttons(PIL)/daims whC"rcin the m.1nagcm~nt tS confident. based on the intemallcg:ll assessment and advice of its lawyers that these ltt•gattOllS would 
not r~sult into any liabilitK'"S. The Group does not expcd the outcome of these proceedings to have a material adverse effect on the consolidated frnancial St3tements 

ni) lllere are numerous interpretati,-c issuL~ relating to the Supreme C our1 (S(') JUd~ement on Provident fund d:-~.ted 28th Fcbru.ary. 2019 Management bdievo..':d and ev.alu.at<!d thai 

the Impact is not mate-rial lltc company will ur}(:b.tc its provision. on reccivin~ fw1her clarity on the subject 

t'\ote 32: SeguH'fl( Rel'oti:ing 

ll1e G10up's actl\'llies comprise of loll Collection in V~u,ous pans oflndra Based on the guidmg princ•pk"> gn·cn 111 lnd AS- I OS" Operating Segments". dHs .act1v1ty falls w11hm a 
smglc opcratrng segment and accordlllgly the drsclosu1es of the standard have not ~eparatdy bt...>en _given 

The following details r~garding !1.11CC0 :-~nd small Enterpnscs has been determined to the extent such part1es ha.<; been idenufied on the bas1s of information :wall able with the Group. 

rp;;;:;;~ula•~ ·- As ot M.,.<h 31, 

10f9 

!'.~nlClpul n~noum rc-mainin~ nnrairlto. ,;ny supplier as_atthe period end 34.4..:1 

Interest due thereon 

Amount of m!en:st pa1d by the ('ompan)· ul terms of scct1on 16 of the MSMED. along w1th the am-ount of tile paym...-nt made to the 
supplier-beyond the appOinted dav dunng the accounting penod 

Amount of interest due and payable for the pe11od of dday in making payment (\\~tich have been plud but beyond the appointed day 

dl1ring the penod) but Without addmg the rntcrest specified under the MSMED.2006 

Amount of interest accrued and rem:-~rnrng unpaid at the end of the accountmg period 

ll1e amount of fm1her interest rernarning due and payable even in the succeed mg. yc:trs. until such date whl"11 the interL'St dues as above 

.are .actually p~·ud to the small entl!rplist! for the purpose of drsallowance as a deductible expenditure under the i\·1SMED Act.2006 

The canying values of finane~als instruments of the _group arc rca.<;onablc and approximations offatr values 

Fin.ancial ;~.ssds 

l..oans 

Other fmanci.al assets 

Trade receivable 

Cash and cash cqmvalcnts 

H~nl b<'llan(~ 01h~r !han c;;.sh !'ln.-:{ ("il.Sh ·~'1•-ttvf\knts 

Jnvcsttnaus 

Bonowmgs 

Tr:1de p:wables 

Other financlallt:tbzhtJes 

12:" 72 

1,535.67 

-41.47 

1.413.10 

5,061.31 

12,704.36 
___ -¥J..88(.63 

17).216.20 

9,729.RS 

61.1567 33 

125.72 

1,535 67 

-41 47 

1,413 10 

5,061 31 

21.704 36 

30.881.~3 

176.432 45 

9,729 85 

613,567 :n 

------------------
798,52}.3S 799.719.6.) 

441.10 

1,256 36 

55.41 

9,303.70 

70,73 

21,460.-48 

325'87.78 

173.858 66 

12,19247 

629,810 10 

'815,S<i1.1.1 

(Rs in Lakhs) 

.its ~t M~1·da 31. 

2018 

85.~ 

----

( Rs ul Lakhs) 

441.10 

1.256 36 

~5.41 

9,303 70 

70.73 

21,-460.-48 

320d;7,78 

175.150 45 

12.192 47 

(t29,8!0 10 

817,153.02 



IRB bl\lrhmd 

''ole~- lo Con.,olid:Ht·d Fin:lllci:tl Siah·nH'Itl,<; fo1· I he _n·:u· ('"fld<'d \L11·ch -~ J. 20 l<J 

1 i·.· nl:;n:t:·:.'nl,"!ll ;,,,, • ..,~,·d th.ll L·.hh ,md c~:-.h L'q.ll\ :tl:•nt-.; !f:ttk Jt:l<'l\ :thk·-.. lt.1<k p:t\ :1bll'\ b.ull <1\ ,•·dr:Jfl.; :1nd otlwr curol·nt IJ;;hdr1!,·-. :1pJ11n-..::n.lk t!·-·u c.u:-..·:n_!' .1muur1h l.u;•t'i\ 

du<' !•' th:~ -.;h<Hl·k'llll null!!llh''> <'(th~·-.,c mqrunlt'llh 

lh,· (1u \.tl;.,· .1ftlh, fin:!th"r:tl ;J''"-'h :md lt:tb!lflJ:.'' h 1!\dtHi:d ,,; the ;1!\10\Jili.H \<.!J.•.-il1hc ttiSI:um~·m could b,~ ,"·.,h.llll!~·d 111 ,I (!:t•~·nt r~:l!J-..:IC!ron h<.'l\\t'L';\ wd!1n;• ;l:lil!::·,. uth<.'l 1h.t!l 

HI .I f(ll < ,•d <ll !Jqrud:HI<)Il S:tk 

rhc (;tuup h IL'(jllllL'd 10 j)IL'SL'!ll the St.'ltemcnl oflot.11.1SS't'IS (I{ (:Ill \":!IUL' ,1nd St:tlem;.;-nt nflot:ll!C(tl!llS :ll l:ur value a.'> Jl<.'r sr:nl Clrctrl:tr No ('IR 11l\1DiDI'·'II-1.'20!(l dall'd 
0d<"•hcr ~<J. !U I (• :i-.. .1 p.1f1 ofth<C-'><.' nm:-.ol1dated fin:mCJ.:tl s1:11enwnb- Refc1 S(;t!Cilll'nt of \:et a~:>cl:i :tt Lw \·:tlu.:- .1mi Stak'tn'-'l\1 u!'Tot.d Return~ at (ur \'::t!uc 

llw lllf'u!:-; to th~· '- :dw!tion mode!<; for comprna~r(~n d .. f:'lrr \':'l!u,· of ro~rd :'I'>'>L'lS fo1 tht~ :'!hove nh~nlrnnt'd <;t:'lt~·mcnh arc taL~n from ob<>cr' abk nurkct<. \~ hcrt' po~-.;1bk. b1H ~dr~.·r ,. !In~ 

IS not f.:-;t;,rbk. :r d<e~rce ofjudgem~nt1;, requtrcd 111 csl~tbl!sbrng f:lrr \·;due'> Judgement<, 111clmk coJbld<.'r:won;, oftnputs such ;1:, \\':\CC T:lx r;ltt"s, Inn:Jtlon rates. etc 

i'.<t(<' 35; Fai1· Valu(' lficntrchy 

All fin:mcul ln'>!lunwnh for wh1ch h1r \'3ltk· rs rcco~rHscd or drsclosed <He ol.lcgorJ:><..'d \\"Jthlll the fmf \'a(w.;' h1ccuchy <ksntbed as follow~. based 0n the lowe'>! kwlurput that I'> 

Significant to the \;J.Il v:tlue m<::isurement :'IS a \.._.i10k: 

l.C\'d I ()uoted (un:tdjusted) pr1ce IS active m:trkt·t fo1 tdentJe::tl a-;set-; 01 lt::~hdJtJcs 

(..,e\·d 2 ValuiliiOII tcchmqu~ fm whtch the lowest le\'ellllput that has a sigmficant effect on the fau \'aiue m~asur~ment are ob~cl\·cd. e11her drr.:ctly or md1rectl) 

Levd 3 V.a]u:ltiOil tcchr11que for whiCh the lowest lew! input h:ls a stgmficant eff,·ct on the fait \'aluc measurement ts not ba!S~d on ob;,erv:~blc rnarlet data 

ll1c follO\o..·rn~ t.:~bk presents f:w \ .alue h1erarchy of .:~ssets and habrlt11CS nl(';tstncd at f:{lr \'alue on a recurrmg ba.s1s as of \1arch :; I. 20! R 

!rwc:>tmcnb Hlllllr!u:-rl fund 

Investments in mutual fund 

There has been no transf~r between Level I, Level 2 & Level 3 dunng the ye.:~r 

1'.'-<J(<" 36 : f-'tuanci<tl c-lst.: m,..mt~-e"tn«tt oUj«1i\'t"S .and ftollctes 

As~t 

Mardt 3!. 
2019 

22,703 96 

As at 

Man:·h3t~ 

(Rs in Lakhs) 

U·,d l IA·\d3 

n.7o:> '>6 

( Rs in L.akhs) 

2<118 ---~..,.,-.. -~-~----~-_,-,-.. -, 2--- ---~--"'-.. -,-3--

21,46008 21.46008 

ll1e (Jrqup 's risk management poliocs arc estab!i:,;hcd 10 tdentlfy .and analyse the nsks faced by the Group. to sci appropnate nsk lnmts and controls, and to mom tor nsks and 

.adherence to ltmits Risk man3gement policies and systems are re\·tcv .. 'ed regularly to r-c11ect changes 111 market condrhonS tu\d th~ Gwup·~ <tLtl\•tllt.."!> 

TI1c Bn:~rd ofDtre.ctors has overall responsibility for tht~ est3blishment and oversight of the Group ·s risk 1n<Ut:lgement framework 

ln perfomt1ng tiS ope rat mg. mvcsting and financing activitieS, the Group is e~pns{..>d to the Credit risk. Liquidity r-isk and CurrC:IK:'-' nsk 

M~t~Rist: 

Mar+..:et nsk IS the risk 1hat the fair value of future cash flow'S <lf a fin3Ilcial instrument will fluctuate b¢eause of d1anges m marke-t pnces Markel r-isk comprises three typL>s of risk· 

mterest rate risk .currency r-isk and other price l'"isk, sudt as equity price ris!-.: and commodity risk Fmancial mstnuncnts affected by market risk include loans and borrowings and 

deposits 

<" .. '<'ditf.t:is:t~ 
('1·cdit risk is 1hc risk 1hat11 C{)unter pany will not meet its obhgattons undl':r a fmanc1al instrumC:Ilt or custona.'l· conlract. kadutg to a financmlloss-. llw Fund rs exposed to credtt nsk 

from tts mws11ng actt\~I!CS includ111g mvestments, trade recetvables. loans. deposits \\~th banks and other financial instruments As at March 31. 2019. and As at Mard1 31, 2018 

1he crcdll nsk IS constdcrc.d low smcc substantial transactwns of the Fund arc w1th tts subsidiaries 

lflC<"t~Sf Rot(<"Rfsi-.: 

JnteiCSI rate nsk is the nsk that 1he fatr value- or future cash flows of a ftnanctal mstrumC:Itt \\·ill fluctuate because of changes 111 maTl.;et mterc-sl rates ll1c Group's exposwe to the 
nsk of d1anges 1t1 marl..ct mtc,est rate-s rdatt..~ primauly to the Group's long-tel m debt obligations \Vith floating mlerest rates 

lu~<.-t't"$( •·.ate seiiSi(i\'i(~· 

n1c foUowmg table demonstrates the SCil~tivlly to a r.:asonably pos;;able c.h:mgc 10 interest rates on that ponion of loans and !>Orro\\'ln~s aflCe1ed, aftcr dtc exdudin~ the etcdit 
exposme for which uHe1est rate sw.a.p has been taken and hence the interesl rate IS fi:-:cd \Vith all other variabk>s hdd constant. the fund's profi1 before tax is affected through lhe 
imp3ct 01~ fl<\:'ltlng rat.:: borrowmgs, as follows 

Increase m basTS pourts 

-lNR 

Effect on profit bdore tax 

-INR 

Decrease in bas1s poutts 

-tNR 

Effect on profit before ta~ 

f'-oa·du.·~·<-.;u· 

~ded' 1\bc·dt 31~ 

20«9 

50 

(90:>.35) 

'0 

(Rs 111 Lakhs) 

F-ot"dte,'<'.at· 

...,h.i ... -..:1 MJUxi1 3 (. 

2(1(8 

'0 

(892 2)) 

'0 
905 35 R92 2) 

-INR ____________________________ ·-----------------------------------·--------------------------~~----------~~ 



IRB Ill\ IT rund 

'ol<'" to ('ot~<;olid:tkd Fin:wci:tl SL!I<'ItH'nh fell lhe \niJ"('flrkd M:trch J!. 201(} 

Ltquidity t·isk 

!.H)IJI(ltf\"lt'>k I'> th:.: JJ-;k 1h.H lhc' (rtt\llfl 111.1\"1101 bl' .thh•Jo llh'~'lth pt~\<'llf and fullltl' chh :uu1 colbtt'r:d obb:~a!lnth \<.t!hOtJltll(Wtl!l;· un.tt"Cc'jll:thlc klS'>t.''> Th~ ()roup-; obJt'<."IO\-..' I'· 

l•' at all ttlllt"'> m·!ml:ml opttn:.:::J ],·,,·1.., or ltqutdH' to nwet l!'- t :t~h and co!b:.·r:tl requH<:mem-; fhl· (irnup d<~·-cl~- monfl<)l'- .:.~ l!qutdiiY po ... tuon .md d,·pf,,,., · robu..;t c::~h 

m.uu:_• .. ·nk'lll <;y<;to.:rn it nl:tml:llth :ttL·qu:tk' -.otHtl'' nf l!iunnn~· mduritn~.· dd11 :tnd O\ crdt:d"t (iom ban f.:.., :11 ;tn opttmt-.<.'d oht 

:\ ... il1 i\bt"dt 31.2019 

Bot rowmg~ 

Olitcr financta! llabthties 

Tr<Jdo.: pa~·ables 

To(;tl 

As <tt M•w<"h 3J, 2()18 

Borrmvings 

O!hcr financial liabilrtt<.~S 

Ttadcpayablcs 

Ta~~tt 

12.595 01 

32,618 )() 

9.729 8) 

5-t,9-0.36 

17.712.34 

2:'i.487 73 

12,19147 

55.392.5~ 

I lo 5.\'<':tr:-. 

67,)80 !:1 

83JO~ 08 

223,779)\(l 

497.6..13 7-1 

{Rs m !.akhs) 

Tot~l 

."iO.~_<))_"i (J! 

613567 33 

9.729.8" 

1 50,885.23 ___ 7,__,2'-'1-'=,4'-"2"-.l."'6c._1 __ 

80.233 99 

S-1,771 82 

16:5,005.81 

239,890 s 1 

:'i 19.""10 "6 

759,-4-41.37 

(Rs m LakhsJ 

Total 

J37.s.n J-1 

629.f:: 10 I I 

12,19247 

~79,839.72 

At prcs..:n1. 1hc- Group does e-.:pects to rt'pay all lt:~bdrtJcs at thcrr conll.ac!Ual m:uunt~· In order to OlCt'"t such cash wmrnttrncnts, 1he opcraung aclivity is C'-'pectcd to generate 
sufficient cash inflows 

1\"ok 37; Ca1li{al manag<'m<'nt 

Capi1<1l includes equity <lltributabk 10 1hc equity holders to ensure that rt mauuams an effrCJen1 ca.Jlrtal structure and hc..·dthy capil:-~1 ratios m order to suppon lts business and 
maxunrse sh<~reholdcr value The Group m:magcs tts ..:..aprt:-~1 structure and makes ad;u::.tmcnts to lt. u1 ltght of changes in economrc cond11rons or rt.<. busmess reqwrements ·1 o 
maintam or adjust the capit:J! structure. the Group may adjuSt the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to sharehold<.:!S or issue new shares. No changes \<>ere made 111 the 

objectives, policies or processes during the year ended Mard1 3 I. 20 I 8 and 1\·1arch 3 I. 2017. 
The Group momtors caprtal usm~ a geanng rattO, v.illdl rs net debt d1vrdcd by total captLal plus net debt Net dcbl rs calculated as loans and borrov.rings less cash and cash 

e.c.Jui\·alents 

Borrowings (Note 17) 

Less· cash and cash equivalents (i'otc I I) 

N<1"ddl1 

Equity{Notc 15& lfJ) 

l'<01.R1 <-q«ity 

c~.ptta1 and net dd)( 

Ge.-uiu-g_f".afi() (%) 

As at Man:·h 31, 

1019 

181.070.26 

(1.413 101_ 

510,S52.JO 

510,851.10 

<\90,509.26 

(Rs m Lakhs) 

A~ a( M~n:i1 3L 

2~18 

178.449.95 

(9.303.701 

169,1-46.15 

561.63'9.16 

730,785A1 

23.15% 

In order 10 ad1ievc this ovecall objective. the Group's caprtal managemcnl. amongst other ~hings. aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants :attad1t!d to the intcrest-be.·umg 

loans and borrov • .,ngs that do:...-fine capital ~iructure requirements. Brcad1es in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immcdratdy call loans and bonowings. 1ltcfe 
havt'" bce.n no brcache!'. m1hc finannal covenants of any mtercst-beanng borro\vmgs 10 the current p<.·riocl 

~o<<· 3S : Octails of Pc·oj«t nu1.n~e1· <lnd fnw·sHufilt m:-tn.ttge1· f«s 

Dctatls of fees paid 10 project manage1 .and invcSlmentmanagcr as rc<Juired pursuant 10 SEBI C1rcula• No CIRIT\10/DF/127/20 16. dated Novcmbc!" 29. 2016 are as under 

iJ J•t·oj~ct mana~~mfit( (("<('"!'; 

In accordance \\•ith the ProjeCt Implementation Agreements, 1he fees and remuneration payable by the PlojeCt SPVs to the Project i\·1anager has been worked out and agreed upon 

lor the duration of current financral year. between the Project "Manager, Investment Manager and the respective Projed SP\', on an arm's length basis. afler takrng mto account the 
=xtem of work to be don~ in fespet.:t of nl3m!cnancc- and other SCf\~Ce~ to be prO\"Ided by the Project Manager to such Project srv 

t') lnv-eshnen( mana.g<·nu.-n( ftt~ 

f>ursuant tO the lm'c:-.tment Managemefll Agre-ement. the Investment Manager is entitled to an lnvt..-stment Management fe::s to be calculated @ I '!/<1 per annum. exclusive of Servrcc 
fax I GST. of the consolrdatcd toll revenue {net of premium paid I revenue shared \\~th NHA1) of the fund at the end of1he reportmg period subject to a floor of Rs. 100 million 
u\d a cap of its 250 million 



IRB hn. n hmd 

'\ill<''> to Clw,ohd;Ltl'd Fin:ut<"i:li St:Lh'llH'Ilb fm· the yc.1L"C"IL{kd :\Lu·ch Jl. 201') 

J"h~· pt~•pat.~l!Oll 01 lhc· (i:oujl\ (m:uKr.d \\:I!L'.'lk'l\1$ f<'(jlllr~'S rn:ut1.0~~Ilk'::t1u m:tk<:ji!d;!~'Jl'•<..'llh .;·,!1111:\kS and ;1':-~L!Il\J)il•':.; th:ll :lf1't:ct till' lc'pnlk'd :HllOUl\IS of 1<.''>~/lllc' .jl~1l'>~'> 

:t-.v't•; :wd lr.dltltttc''>. ;u;; tilt" :tCln!llp.ln_\ ;n~: dJ,dosurc-s. and th~ dts..:lnsr1r<: of contul~l·nt l!:!billlt(''> l incL'rl:J.I!lt\ :iboul tilL''><.' a..;._,ump!L(llh .liHJ ,_•._,tttn:ll<:s could L..:~ult 111 outCOIIll'> 

tlut f1'qrure :1 m:!L'L u! : lju~tnJL•nt !u th,· C.\! lYing amount of a..:;o;;cl'- 01 l!:lhdttte•; affected 111 futw.: v•.-aro.; 

Estilll;ii<'S and assumptions 

Eo.;.lml:Uc<; :tnd un<kd~·rn~· :L"S>Uillp\Hl!l'-; :Ire· IC\'Il'W~d on an ongomg b:L:-.LS RcvtsJOLh to :1cnwntm~· l'<;llmates ;ue r(.'co;:nucd Ll\ the: n~a1 m Hht..:h thl' e<;lllll:l\e~ :He 1~'\I':>Cd and (uturl' 
penodc; :'lr<' :-d)~·, ~<?d 

Th<: Group bas~d 11:-: <-h'>lllllJULOII~ and c~tun:\1~5, on pararnet>::!!> av:lll:o~ble \\·h,c:n thl' llnanual st:Hcn1ents were pre:p:ucd [xLstmg cucu;:l<;t:m..:e:-. and assurnptrons about future 

dC\'doptm:nt:>. howl'\'<:r, Ill:'!~· ch:mgc due !o marl.;.:t chang ... ~ or circumstance~ ansmg th:tt ;ue beyond the control oft he Grnup Such chan.~;~" are rctl<..'ctcd rn the nssumpt1ons Hilcn 

thC\' occur 

CLts-stfi.cati:on of unit hold<'t·s' funds 

Under th(' proviswns of the lnviT Regul:ll!ons, the Group rs rc.qmrcd to dtstnbutc to unn hold<:rs not l<.'s'i than mnety percL'nl of the net dr~orbutabk cashflmvs of the Group for each 

llnancral year An:ord1ngly. a port1on of thl.' unrt holdcrs'fund:: .contains a contractual ohltg:Hron of the Fund tn p3y tons unLt holders c~1sh distrrbutions. ll1c unrt holders' funds 

could the!l'for.: have been classdlcd :1:,. compound financial iLb1rumcm '"'iHch cont:un both eqwry and IL.abil1ty C"mpon.:nts 111 ao:ordance wnh lnd AS .12- Fm:mcr.al Instruments 

Presentation. 1-iO\\"C\W, 111 accordance with SEBI Circulars (No CIR/Hv1D/DF/! /4/2016 dated October 20, 2016 and No C!Rili\10/DF/12712016 d:1ted 29-Nov-2016) issued under 

the lndT Regulations, the unit holder~· funds havo:: been dassificd as equity in order to comply with the mandatory tequtrcrncnts ofSccuon H of Annexure A to the Sf:BI Cucular 

da.1ed October 20, 20/6 dc-~1lrng \\'llh th..: muHI1Ulf11 d1sdosures for ~ey fin:eu1cral statements In lrn<.' wrth dtc above. the d!vLdend pa~·ablc- to un1t holders IS recognised as l1abtlitv \d1cn 

the same LS approved by the Investment 1\-bm1ger 

£s(im.aks "-"d ~ssutntHions 

The key a'):;;un:;)llons conccming the future and odtcr kc:y s.owu:. ci..e~itmauon unccr1.t~ulty at the reponmg d:11..:. ·~~:t: have a Stgmficam n:,k of causing a 111ateti:!i :!•'.il!s1ment to the 

canymg a:nouats of assets snd lt<lb1littes wtthin the next fi:1-ancial year. are dt.'SCrtb<:d below Existmg circumst:~nces and assumptions :tbout future dcvclopmen!S, hov,·(~\·cr. ma~· 

change due to msrket ch:Hlges or CLrCtHllSt~nccs an sing that .are beyond dte control of the Trust Such changes ~rc reflect~d in the assumptKJns \\~lCttthey occur 

i) l\f:tjorm;ift11<'n:tna <'~pe-rtsc-s fRc-stwf;-~du-g E~{l<"ft~ 

'As per the 5;en·~c~ Concession Agn:ements, the Group is <lbligatcd to carry out resurfactng of the roads und('J conceSSIOn 'll1e G10up cstunatcs the likely provi;.,ron re(Juired 

towards resurfacing and accrues the costs on a straight lme basis over the period at the end of ''~trdt resurfacing would b<: rc(JUrrcd. in the statement of profit and loss in accordance 

with lnd AS 37 "Pro\'JStons, Contm~cnt L1:~btlt!ie-s and Contingen.t Assets" 

tt) F.at,· ,.Aiu<> ""'nd dts<"l<~sun·.s 

SEBI (',rculars rssucd unde.r the lnviT Regulations require disclosures rebtmg to net assets at f.;ur value and total retums at f;m value (refer Statement of net assets at fair value .and 

Statement of total reiUms at f.atr \'alue) In L"':>'llmatmg the fa1r valueoftransrntSSIOn prOJect<; (\dttch constitutes substanHal pottron of tl1c tot.al assets). dtc Gtoup engages independent 

qualdie.d exte.rnal valuc•s to perform the valuation. 1ltc management works closc:ly with the valuers to est.tbhsh the appropnatc valuatron ted1ntqucs and rnputs to 1hc model The 

management reports the valuation report and findings to the Board of the lnvestmCtlt Manager half yearly to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of ~he transmission 

projects. Tite inputs 10 the valuation models arc ta\..:¢0 fi·om observable marlets \vf1ere possible, but where this is not feastblc, a degree of judgement is required m establishing fair 

values Judgements 111cludc oonsJdcrallons of mputs sud1 as Debt-equity ratio, W ACC, Tax rates, lnflatroo rates, etc 

itiJT-"-~<"S 

Oderced tax .assets are recognised fOr unused tax losses 10 the <::x1.ent that 11 is probabl..:- that taxable profit v.~U be .available against '~~uch the losses can be utilised. Si,gmf1cant 

managc111ent judgement is requited to de.termine 1he am<'unt of deferred tax assets that csn be rccogmsed, base.d upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits 

together \Vtth future tax planmng. str.ategLCS 

The subsidiary oornpanres shall be d.airnrng deduction undcr section SO-IA of the Income Tax Act. 1961. lltere arc sig.nifrcant tinung differences that result in deferred tax .assets/ 

ll.ab11it1es and v.Auch shall be n..·veL"Sfng dunn:; the said tax holiday penod. Consequently. the Company has not recru_Jmu-d any dcfeTrcd 1<~x a'>S~t/J,ability on sud1n01Hax;:o~ble income 

A lmbihty m respect <lf defined benefit plans iS •ec.ogniso::d in 1h.: balance sheet and 1s mcasw ed .as 1he prese . .nt value of the defined lh'nefit oblrgat1on .at the reporting date 1l1c 

present value of the ddln~ benefit obligation IS based on expected future paymc.nts at the reporting date, calculated .annually by independent actuaries. Consideration is £1VCI1 to 

expected fllture salary levels, expcrrencc of employee departures and pc.1iods of s<:rvicc Ref('r note 42 for details of the key assumpt1ons used 111 determining the acoountmg for 

these plans 

v) Am<H1i:r.a(ion flf 4utan~ibl.e- Assets 

Tite intangible a:-.sets v..~t~~ .. ·h arc rccogmzed in the fomt of Right to d1.arg<: u<>ers of the mfrastructure asset .are amnrt1zcd by tskmg proponlollate of actual revenue rcce1vcd for the 

year over Total PrOJ<X1cd Rt..'\·enuc from pmject to Cost oflnt.an~iblc a<>scts 1l1e e.stim.1.11on of total projection fC\'cnue tcquin ... 'S s1gnificant assumptron about cxpeded gro"1h rate 
and traffic projoction for future All assumptions are reviewed at eadt reporting date 

N-ot< 40: R<"'<:-.tHe shan:ifl'1<c--mium p.aymectt (.o NHAf 

(a) Ounng the year ended 'March .11, 2019. 1hc Group has paid/accrued Rs 37,103. II Jakhs (Mardt 31, 2018 R...:; 18.178.46 lakhs) as Revenue Share to N<~.t1onal Htghw.ays 

Authority of India CNHA1") out of its toll oolloctJOn in accordance wtth the Concesston Agreements entered with NHAI Income from Operations in the financuds for 1he above 

periods i~ net off the above Revenue Share to NHAI 

(b) Subsidiary compantes i.e IRBTC and MVR have been awaf'ded contrads on a DBFOT b:'lsrs As per the terms of the concCSStOn ag1eemen1. the group is .obligated to pay !\'HAl 

as additional concesston fcc over the concession period. Accordingly. the liabrlity for tf1c entire amoum of concession fel.' pa:v.ablc h.as been created and the corresponding amount is 

shown .as Toll Colle-<:tton R1ghts under the hc.ad Intangible Assets. 



IRB lnv!T Fund 
:\otes to Consolidated Financial Stlltcments for the venr ended \larch 31,2019 

:\ote 41 :Statement of related party transactions: 

i. List of Related Parties 

a) IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) (Sponsor) 

i. Parties to the Fund IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL) (Investment Manager) 
Modern Road Makc:·s Private Limited (MRMPL) (Project Manager) 
JDBI Trusteeship Scr;ices Limited (ITSL) (Trustee) 

-------

ii. Promoter·s/ Directors of the parties to the IRB lnv!T Fund specified in (i) above 

Particulars 

b) 

Promoters 

Directors 

c) 

iii. Directors of Subsidiaries 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (Sponsor) 

Mr. Vircndra D. fv:hriskar 

Mrs. Decpali V. Mha:skar 

Vircndra D. Mhaiska: HUr-

Mr. Vircndra D. Mha:skar 

Mrs. Deepali V. Ml·aiskar 

Mr. Mukeshlal Guptii 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hosl'ing 

Independent Dircctcrs 
Mr. C S. Kaplan 
Mr. Sunil H. Talati 
Mr. Sandecp .1. Shah 
Mr. Sunil Tandorl 

Mr Vinodkumor tv en on 
Mr. Tushar Kawedia 
Mr. Urmil Shah 
Mr. Bajrang Lal Gq~:a 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee 

Mr. Jitcndro Sharnoa 
Mrs. Hcena Raja 
Mr. Raj paul Sharma ~resigned on I 0.05.20 17) 
Mrs. Kshama Ver~sorkar (resigned on I 0.05.20 17) 
Mr. Sandeep Shilh (resigned on 10.05.2017) 
Mr. C S Kaplan (res·gned on10.05 2017) 
Mr. /\jay Deshmu>h (resigned on 10.05.2017) 
Mr. Dar·shan Sangudekar (resigned on I 0.05.20 17) 
Mr. Naresh Tancja (:csigncd on 10.05.2017) 
:Vir. Mukcsh La! G·.rpta(rcsigned on10.05.20171 
Mrs. 1\rati Taskar (resigned on I 0.05.20 17) 
Mr. Om Prakasl1 S n"'h (resigned on 10 05 2017) 

I RB I nfrastructu rc 
Private Limited 

(Investment illanagcr) 

IRB lnJi·astructurc 
Developers Limited 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon 

Independent Director·s 
Mr. R P Singh 
Mr. 13 L Gupta 

Mr. Sumitl3anerjec 

\lodern Road illakcrs 
Pr·ivate Limited (Project 

!\tanager) 

IRI3 lnJi·astnrcturc 
Developers Limited 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta 

'vir. Dhananjay K. .loslri 

Mr. ;\jay P. Deshmukh 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma 

independent Directors 
Mr C S. Kaptan 
Mrs. Hcena Ra1a 

IDBI Trusteeship Services 
Limited (Tnrstee of the 

IRB lnviT Fund) 

1Di31 Bank Limited 

LiCe lnsura11cc Corporation 

General ln~urancc 

Corporntio11 

Mr. G.M. Yndwndkar 

Mr. Ravi.shankar (). Shindc 

Ms. Madlruri .1. Kulkarni 
Ms. Mvthili 

Ba!asubramanian 
Mr. rl. B<1lachnndr;r 



IRB IndT Fund 

'-:oks to Consolidakd Financial Statements for· s·car ~ndcd \lan·h 31,2019 

'-:ole -11 :Slatcnrcnt of r·clatcd party transactiom:: 

Rs in lakhs 
~--------------------------,--------·------------------~----------, 

Sr-. Panicular·s Rclalion Year· Year· ended 
:\o. ended !\·1an·h 31, 

Related )Jar·ty transactions at the 
vcar· end 

l'r·oject Manager· Fees 

MRMPL 

1 lm·estmeni Management fees 

paid (including indir·ect taxes) 

l'rojccl Manager 

.\lar·clr 31, 2018 
2019 

13,937.00 8,308.82 

13.937.00 8 .. 308.82 

1,246.79 1,053.36 

---.. - ----········· .... ----·-··------- c--::----------------·----+-----::-..,..,...~t---~--::-::-::-::-::1 
IRBFL lnveslment Manager 1.246.79 1.053.36 

-·--------
3 Repayment of loan )!:ivcn .. 2,353.21 

IRBIDL Sponsor .. 2.353.21 
--

4 Rc)la\'ment ofl()an taken 62,742.77 
IRBIDL Sponsor .. 47 .. 521..20 
MRMI'L Project Manager .. 15 .. 221 .. 57 

5 Subordinated debts a·q1aid - 99,43LOO 
IRBIDL Sponsor - 81.305.51 
MRMPL Project Manager - 18.125.49 

Repayment of rekntion money/ 
(, Sceut-ity nc.,osit - 25,750.00 

MRMPL Project Manager - 25.750.00 

- 2,950.00 

MRMPL Project Manager - 2,950.00 

8 Oit·ector sitting fees 27.46 20.89 

Mr. Ajay Deshmukh - 0.70 

MLRajpaul Shanna - 0.60 
- 0.47 Mr. Sandeey __ S_h_a_h ________ -; __ -------+------t------::-c::l 

047 Mr. Ch;mdrashekhat Kap!al! 

Mrs. Kshama Vengsarkar 

Mr.Vinodkumar Menon 

Mr.Tushar Kawedia 

Mr.Unnil Shah 

Mr.::iunut Uanat]ce 

Mrs.Hcena Raja 

Mr. Jitendra Shanna 

Mr. M LGupta 

Mr. Omprakash Singh 

Mr. Bajrang La! Gupta 

Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar 

Mr.Naresh Taneja 

------.. -+-----------------i-----------
9 Put·chase of equity shares of 

subsidiaries tlu·ough issue of 

Unit CafJital "" 
IRBIDL 
MRMPL 

10 Pur-chase of equity shat·es of 
IPATRL 
IRBIDL 

Sponsor 

Project Manager 

Sponsor 

-

- 0.30 
4.46 4.74 
2.10 3.46 
2.10 3.56 
6.70 1.78 
8.00 1.81 
1.40 0.96 

- 0.29 
- 0.40 
- 0.11 

2.70 0.83 
- 0.31 
- 0.10 

- 106,501..76 

- 101J95.26 
- 4,706.50 

- 9,909.00 

- 8,918.10 



Rs. in lakhs 
.--···--,---------------------.----- ·······---·--·-··------- ----·-··-·-·· -- . --·----------
St·. l'artieulat·s Helalion y,., ... Year ended 
'\o. ended March 31, 

Man·h 31, 1<llS 
2019 

----
MRMPL Prn.icct iv1anagcJ - 990 90 

--------

II Tt·ading sales - 96.12 

MRMPL Projcc1 Manager - 96.12 

·----
12 Payment against tt·ade payable - 1,807.98 

MRMPL Project Manager - 1.807.98 

13 Tt·usteeshijJ F<.-es 29.50 -

ITSL Trustee 29.50 -

--
14 CQttt.-ad expenses 68.62 -

MRMI'L Project Manager 6!1.62 -

15 Oistributi()n in the f()rnt ()f 8,816.39 4,874.89 
interest 
IRBIDL Sponsor 8.204.39 4,869.61 

-~-----· 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 520.36 -

Mrs. Dccpali V_ Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 69.26 3.74 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing Director of Sponsor 7.74 1.31 
Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta Direclor of Sponsor & 4.29 -

Project Manager 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon Director of Investment 1.32 -
Manager 

Mr. BLGupta Director of Investment 0.44 -

Manager 

Mr. Sumii Banerjee Director of Project 1.77 0.11 
Manager 

ML Dhananjay K. Joshi Director of Project 0.66 -
Manager 

ML Ajay P. Deshmukh Director of Project 5.72 -

Manager 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Shamn Dircctm of Project 0.44 -

Manager 

iii J)i~kilwti<~o in du:- l<~nn of 3,19:-.A"I I,Sh.(;t} 

return of c:Apit.al 
IRBIDL Sponsot· 3.059.27 1,873.68 

ML Virendra D. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 200.90 -
Mrs. Dccpali V_ Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 26.71 1.36 
ML Sudhir Rao Hoshing Director ofSponsot· 1.90 0.48 
Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta Director of Sponsor & L70 -

Project Manager 

ML Vinodkumar Menon Director oflnvestment 0.51 -

Manager 

Mr. B.LGupta Director of Investment 017 -

Manager 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee Dircctm· oflnvcstment 0.67 0.08 
Manager 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi Director of Project 0.26 -

Manager 

Mr. A jay P. Deshmukh Director of Project 2.21 -

Manager 

ML Rajpaul S. Shmma Director of Project Mana 0.17 -



IRB Ill\ IT l·und 

'..ol<-'~ to Co11..;olidat<"<f Finan('ial Sfith'lll<'nts fOI-~·<·;-u·(·ndrd ;\lan·h 3L 2019 

\.of{' ..f 1 :Stat<.·mcnt of rdatrd p:1rty transartious: 

1\s tn lakh:-. 
,~~- ~-------- ------·--------------··--·- -----------~ -------------,------.-------------. 
Sr. Partiru1an R<"lation :\~·on .-\s <HI 

'\o_ \1Hch 31, !\1an·h 31, 

2019 201S 

1----------------------------------
Rdatrd pad,- halanas : 

9,291.09 11,3S2.91 

MRMPL l'ro1ect Manager 8.999.60 11.116.61 

1 
__ 

1
_I_R_B_l_·l_. ___________________________ -+_l_n_v_estment Manager ~----2~9~1~.4~9~-----266.30 

1
___1: ~:fonnan«· s~n"_·i~~~~--------------------------J----------;---2~,9,..5,..<_1.-:-0-:-0-i ___ 2_,c.9_5_0_.0_(--ll 

MRMPL Protect l\-1anaget 2.950.00 2,950.00 

r---;------------------------------------------------~--------~--------+---------1 
3 Din·e(or· siHing fees pay«hle Director 3.60 

Mr. V111odkumar Menon O.ll5 
Mr. Tushar Kawcdia 0.50 
Mr. Urmil Shah 0.55 
Mr Sumt! Banerjee 0 71 
Mrs. Heena Raja 0.71 

Mr. Jitendra Sharma 0 14 

Mr Bataranglal Gupta 0.14 

4 R<'l<"ntion money/ Seeut·ity lkposit 759.23 75(1.00 

MRMPL Protect Manager 759.23 750.00 



IJtmng tile prnt<ll" wJr. the I tmd h<" «cqu11cd v·'c" prorc·ch r ,, IIJ,\Yrl ISIJrL II All IJDTI Ml II. II"CII '"''iII'·\ 11{1 from 

/R/3/D/. cmd I!> ...,uh~rdr<HY ('omp~illl~·s 

Pur'lll£!!1110 Sh<:ue Purl'llaSe J\gr(·l"mcnt(S) d:lk'd i\LI~ tJ. ~(J17.thc lund h;!'\anJUI!Cd ~I\ p!OJCCIS I c JD/\.1\ n. ISI)Tf .. I I:\ J'J !.II)! l 

,\·1JTL anJ ITCTL fi·O!n I RBI!)/ '"n'~ Jh suhsh.kli~ Cl>!llJMilJCS Tht' J!l\CS'!llLlll f(ll ihL' s~HJ acquJSJtion \\a:-. i~~!';cJ thruugh ln:tr;J/ J>uhl1l· 

Summar~ or\ aluatJO!l report dakJ Mdrch .20. 20; 7 ISSUed by the independent \ 3lllL'I under the lndT Rcgulatrorr:-. I') a:-. follo\\ s -

Fatr I enter prrsc 1 aluc of6 SI'Vs' as on Marcil 3 I. 2017 rs as under.-

(Rs in million) 

:\a me oft he Sf'\. 

IDAAIL 7,170.33 
JJDTL 23,114.58 
ISDTI. 13,879 05 
ITATL 7,176.06 
ITCTL 15,503.79 
MilL 3,663 85 
rota I Enterpr·isc value of all the 6 SI'Vs' ---·----______ 7_0c,_507.66 

Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated September 28. 2017_ IRB lnvlT Fund has further acquired IPATRI. hom IRBIDI. and 

MRMPI. 

Summary of 1·aluation report dated August 31. 2017 issued by the independent valuer underthe InviT Regulations is as follows·-

Fair Enterprise value oflPATRL as on September 30. 2017 is as under.-

(Rs in million) .. 

Nam.- of the SI'V Fair enlefllliSe ~·alue 

ll'ATRL 17,857.30 

Alter considering the aforesaid Valuation Rcpm1s submitted by the relevant independent intennediarics and pursuant u. the negotiations 

between the Investment Manager and the Sponsor, IPATRL has been acquired at an enterprise value of Rs. 15,693.30 million. ·n,e 

acquisition price of IPA l"RL, negotiated between the Investment Manager and the Sellers_ represcng a diswunt of 12% to the Fair 
Enterprises Value mentione-d above. 

1l1e project was acquired through external bon·owings of Rs. 15,500 million@ 8.15% p.a. rate of interes1. 

The following approach and assumptions have been considered for the valuation exercise:-

a. The Free Cash Flows to Fnm under the Discounted Cash Flow Method has been use.d for the purpose of valuation of each of the 3bove 
SPVs. 

h The Weighted Average Cost of Capit3l fi1r each of the SPVs has been considered as the discount rate for respective SPV for the 
purpose of valuation. 



IRB lndT Fund 

'\ole-; to Consolidated Financial Statements fot·thc n•at-etHk<f \lan·h 31, 201<) 

.'\ole -41: Ct·atuit\ and othe1· post cmplonnent benefit plans 

(a) f)dlned contribution plan 

!'he filllo\1 in!! amount rcco:2nizcd as an expense in Statcn1cnt or profit and loss on :1ccount or pnn idcnt fund and othn ltlllds_ 
There arc no olhct oblit•ations other than the contt·ihution payable to the rcspecti\e autlwritics 

Contribution in defined plan 

(b)Ocfined benefit plan 

Fo1· the ~·cat· 

ended 1\l:u-ch 31, 

2019 
I 05.64 

(Rs in Lakhs) 

For the \Car ended 

1\lan·h 31, 201li 

97.61 

ThcGmup has a unfunded defined benefit gratuity plan. The gratuity plan is go,crncd by the Payment of Gratuity Act 1972. 
Under the aCl. employee who has completed Jive years or service is entitled to speci lie bcnclit. The level of bendits provided 
depends on the member's length of service and salary at retirement age. E\'ery employee \\'ho has completed live years or 
mot·e of scn·ice gets a gratuity on depa11ure at 15 days salary (last drawn salary) for each completed vear of service as per the 
provision of the Payment of Gratuity Act. 1972. 

The following tables summarise the components of net benefit expense recognised in the Statement of Profit and I ,oss and 
the funded status and amounts recognised in the balance sheet f()r the Gratuity plan. 

St:akment of pnlfii and foss 

l'\ct employee benefit expense r·ecognised in the erntJioyee cost 

Current service cost 

Past service cost 

Interest cost on hcnefit ohligation 

(Gain) I losses on seu Jement 

1'\e( benefit extJense recognised in statement of profit and loss (A) (befor·e tax) 

Amount r·econlcd in Othet· Compn:hcnsivc Income (OCI) 

Rcmcasnr·emcn( dur·ing the year due (o : 

Actuat·ial Joss I (gain) arising from change in financial assumptions 

Actuat·ial loss I (gain) arising from change in Demographic Assumptions 

Acwarialloss I (gain) arising on account of experience changes 

Amount r·ecognised in OCI dur-ing the year· (H) (before tax) 

Total dtaq'.'-' • n:<~gui~cd dut·in1~ ihc yeat· in ~tal<~nwni of fll'ofit and l<1ss and 
OCI (A+H) 

Recoociliati<ln of net liability I asset 

Opening defined benefit liability I (assets) 

Additions on acquisition of projects ( Refer note no 39) 

Expense charged to prollt & loss account 

Amount recognised in outside prollt and loss statement 

Actual Benefits paid 

Cl<lsing oct defined benefit liability I (asset) 

Balance shed 

Benefit liability I (asset) 

Defined benefit obligation 
Fair value of plan assets 

Presenl value of unfunded obligations 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

For· the year· For the yeat· ended 

ended l\-tar·ch 31, J\1ar·ch 3!, 20lli 

2019 

15.75 

9.02 

24.76 

22.53 

(3.0-1) 

13.32 

32.81 

57.57 

121.72 

24.76 

32.81 

(4.40) 

174.89 

174.89 

174.89 

13.77 

3.92 

7.76 

25.44 

5.65 

2.85 
(2.24) 

6.26 

31.70 

100.37 

25.44 

6.26 

(10.34) 

121.72 

121.72 

121.71 



IRB ln\IT Fund 

'\oi<'s to Consolidated Financial Statements fo•· the \car ended \larch 31,2019 

Changes in the pn·scnt \aluc oftiH' defined benefit obligation arc as folio\\s: 

( Jpcning defined hcnclit obligation 

Addition,; on acqui:;ition of' project,; ( Rc!Cr 1Wk no 39) 
( 'urrcnt SCJYicc cost 

Past service cost 

Interest on dell ned bcncll! obligation 

Rcmeasurcmcnt during the period due to : 

Actuat·ialloss I (gain) arising fi·orn change in financial assumptions 

Actuarial loss I (gain) arising from change in Demographic Assumptions 

Actuarial loss I (gain) arising on account of experience changc:s 

Benefits paid 

Ci<lsin:g dcfin<·d benefit obligation 

l'\'d liability is bifun:ated as follows : 

Cuncnt 

Non-cunent 

l'\c( liability 

I 21 72 

100.37 

15.75 13.77 

3.92 

9.02 7.76 

22.53 5.65 
(3 ()~) 2.85 

13.32 (2 24) 

( 4 .40) (10 34) 

174.89 l2L71 

14.42 13.67 

160.47 108.05 

174.89 111.72 

The pt·incipal assumptions used in dctcnnining gratuity benefit obligation for the GnJup's plans ar-c shown below: 

Discount rate 

Expected rate <lf rctum on plan assets (p.a.) 

Salary escalation 

Mortality pre-retirement 

A quantitative analysi~ for si:gnifiuut :ass«nt(ltion is as shown hcl'lw: 

lndtan gt·atuity plan: 

Assumptions -Oiscount t·atc 

Sensitivity Level 

Impact of Increase in 50 bps on defined benefit obligation 

Impact of Decrease in 50 bps on defined benefit obligation 

Assumptions- Sata~' Escalation .-:ate 

SenSitivity L.:w·l 

Impact on defined benefit obligation 

Impact of lnnease in 50 bps on defined benefit obligation 

Impact of Decrease in 50 bps on defined benefit obligation 

For the yea•· 
ended March 31, 

1019 

7.75% 
N.A. 

8.50% 

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2012-14) 

Fot· the ycac· 

ended l\h.t·ch 31, 
1019 

0.50% 

(8.24) 

8.96 

0.50% 

7.89 

(7.25) 

F<~t· the year ended 

l\1uch 31,1018 

7.85% 

N.A. 

7.00% 

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2006-08) 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

Foe· the yc:u· ended 

l\fa•·ch 31,2018 

0.50% 
(4.21) 

4.50 

0.50% 

4.32 

(4.05) 

The estimates of future salai)' increases, considered in actuarial valuation_ take account of inflation. seniority_ promotion and 
other .-.~levant factors. such as supply and demand in the employment market. 

The gratuity liabilities of the Company arc unfunded and hence there arc no assets held to meet the liabilities. 

The 1ollo"·ing payments arc expected contributions to the defined benefit plan in future years 

Within the next 12 months (next annual reporting period) 

Between 2 and 5 years 

Benvccn 6 aud I 0 years 

Total C"'(K-<:tcd pa)'mcnts 

The weighted avnage duration of the defined bcnc11t plan obligation at the end of 
the t·eporting period 

--------------------------------
For the )'car 

ended l\taxch 31, 
2019 

14.42 
54.61 

68.73 

137.7<i 

9.93- 10.56 years 

Fot· the year· ended 
l\1at·ch 31,2018 

13.67 

52.18 

52.23 

I 18.08 

6.44 - 8.61 years 



IRB lin IT Fund 

·'ole~ to Comolid:ll<'d FinaiH'ial St:~lcmenh fo1· llw ye:11· ('lldt•d :'\1:H'th 31. 2019 

;\.ole ·0 : Di-;tdhution m:tdt• 

Dl'>trJbu!<.'d dur1ng lh<: H~.H ;1s 

ln!t.'J<.'"I 
Rt•twn nn ClpHal 

1\oh' -t-t : lurmnc tax 

The maJor cornpon<:rHs of rncomc Ia'\ e-.:pen<;e for the ~·t!ar ended \larch .1!. 20 I <.J <11\d \ 1arch } 1, 20 1 g art! 

Ctt!Tt·nt in('ome tax: 

Current 1ncomc tax charge 

Adjustnwnts m respect of cw rerH mcome tax o!'prc,·tous ~·e;u 

Dcft'ITt.·d Ia'\: 

Rdat1ng to orrglnatlon and rc\ersal of temporary ddl'erences 

lncom<' tax cxpensc r·cpor·t<'d in the statem<'nt of profit or loss 

"1 17.1 ::-; 31.637 2) 

-~----~ ---~1_2._!_(_Jr_,_o_ 
.51.374.2.5 43,1-!27.75 

For the yt•a,· 
e!HI('(l \f:tn:h 31. 

2019 

I"O 77 

~----"150.77 

(Rs m Lakhs) 

For the yc:u· 
C'!Hicd M :-u·ch J I, 

2018 

3361 

33.61 

Reconult:ltlon of tax e-.:pen~t!~ ,mel the accu\mtmg of J)J<Ji!t mulupl1ed by lnd1an Jor~:esuc tax 1;\le for \l;uch 3 J. 2019 and \1a•ch 3 t. 20! S ;u<.:: 

Profit/( loss) befor<.! tax 

Ta-.: rate 

Expected mcomc tax at India's statutory rate 

lmjX1Cl of e~:emptton u's I 0(2.\FC} of !he lrKon1e Ta-.: Act 19(, I a\at!able to the Trust 

MAT llabdtty on book profit 

lncom<' t:n: CXIl<'llSC n'pot·tcd in th<' stal<'lll<'nt ofp•·ofitand loss 

F01· the Y<'<lt' 

<'nd<'d ~1arch J I, 

2019 

19,927 2(l 

).l 6! 0 c. 

(6.896 4.\) 

6.S%.H 
1 )0 77 

IS0.77 

(Rs in Lakhs) 

Fot· the y<':u· 

('ndrd l\1:u·clt31, 

2018 

23,275.88 

34 61'% 

(8.05\ 32) 

8,05'".32 
33 (,j 

33.61 

The Group had opted to ddcr/ capitalise exchange drf'l'ercnces arismg on long-term foreign currency monetary 1tems in accorda.nce wtth paragraph ·16A of AS I I under Prcvious 
GAAP Ho\W\'er, lnd AS 21 docs not allow capltahsatton of exchange dift"t!rences arising frorn settlement of non current non-monetary items in rei alton to acquiSIIlOil of deprecJable 
assets and required recognitton of the same to statement of comprehenstve income. lnd AS 1 0 I gi,·es an exempt1on whereby thl' compan~' '~ill continue Its l)rcYious GAAP policy 
foe accounting of exchange differences aristng from uanslatton of non-current foreign currency monetary items recognised in the Previous GAAP financtal statem<.'nts for the pcnod 
ending immedmtely before the- begmning of the frrst lnd AS financial ccporting period. However. for any new non-current foteign currency monetary llelll recogmsed from the first 
lnd AS ftnancral reportmg penod. the Group will follow lnd AS 21 for recognition of gam and losses 

The tv1inlstry of Corporate Affatrs (MC A) has •ssued the amendment dated December 29, 20 II to AS I I ,.1 he Effects of Changes in Forctgn Fxchange Rate' to allow companies 
deferral capctalisatton of exchange dtfferences ar1smg on long term curretK)' monetary items 

In accordance\\ 1th the amendment I earl1er amcndrnerHs to AS II and c1rcular no 25/20! 2 dated August 9. 1012. the Group has capcta!Jscd exchange loss. ansmg on long-term 
foretgn cu••cncy Joanm I~R as follO\\S to thL' CO'>\ o1'111tangtble a~sct under development- toll collcctton r1ghts 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

F01· thc ye:-u· Fo1· th<' )'<'at· 
ended l\1an·h 31, ended l\1at·ch 31, 

2019 2018 

.-\mount of exchange (gam),' loss capitalised ansmg on long-tcnn foreign currency loan (775 93) 

Note .t6: NUAI Claim 

Trafllc fo1 the toll road has b ... -cn tmpa<..kd due to ban on mHHng tn the area. ~1anagem._"llt believes th1s is tempor.1!)' and expects tmffic w1ll be normalized by the end of next 
financial year In accordance \Vith tlw Concl'SSton Agreernem, the subsidiary company has lodged clarm mth NHAI towards loss of revenue due to ban on mining and compet111g 

road. Pendmy approv~l from ~HAL there 1~; uncert:lulty and the claun IS not recognised as revenue mthe current pcnod. 

~ole 47: Suhsequenl ('\C"nts 

The Board of Dr rectors of th~ Investment i\1anager have ~pproved -lth Distributton of Rs 3 10 per unct winch compnscs of Rs 2 20 per w111 as uuerest and Re 0 90 per unit as 
retum of cap1tal in the1r meeung held on i\1ay 02. 2019 

As per our report of e\'en date 

Fot· Stu-esh Surana & Associates LLP 

1"v1embershl J No I 02306 

P\;Kc J\1 umb;u 

Date lv1a~· 02, 20 19 

Signatu•·e to i\'o(e 1 to 47 

For and on bl'halfofiRB lnfrastructUJe Pnvate Lumted 

(lnwstmcnt i\bnagcr· of IRH In\' IT Fund) 

\'iliu<fh.ulH;.\1 M(~uun 

Wholeumc Ducctor 

DIN· 0307SJ4:'\ 

Tusha•· Kawedia 

Clu.:f Fmanc1:tl Ollicer 

Place tdumba1 

Date t\1ay 02, 2019 

Unnil Shah 
Company Secrc:a!) 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To, 
The Unit holders of IRB lnviT Fund 

Report on the Audit of Standalone Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of IRB lnviT Fund ("the Fund"), 
which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2019, the Statement of Profit and Loss including the 
statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Cash Flows and the Statement of 
Changes in Unit Holders' Equity for the year then ended and the Statement of Net Assets at fair value 
as at March 31, 2019 and the Statement of Total Returns at fair value and the Statement of Net 
Distributable Cash Flows ('NDCFs') for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as "the standalone financial 
statements"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 
standalone financial statements give the information required by the Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time including any 
guidelines and circulars issued thereunder in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in 
conformity with Indian Accounting Standards (lnd AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in the Rule 
2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rule, 2015 and other accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Fund as at March 31, 2019, its profit including 
other comprehensive income, its cash movements and movement of the unit holders' funds for the 
year ended March 31, 2019, the net assets as at March 31, 2019, the total returns and the net 
distributable cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2019. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit of the standalone financial statements in accordance with the Standards on 
Auditing (SAs) issued by Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ("ICAI"). Our responsibilities under 
those Standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the Code of Ethics 
issued by the ICAI and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the !CAl's 
Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion on the standalone financial statements. 

Rcgis\crnd Office: 



Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matters 
described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. 

Sr.No. 

1 

Key Audit Matter 

Impairment of investments in subsidiary companies 

The Fund has made investments in equity instruments of 
subsidiary companies which operates the toll assets. The 
toll assets were constructed on Build Operate and 
Transfer (BOT) basis. In accordance with its accounting 
policy (Refer Note 3.9) and requirements under lnd AS 36 
"Impairment of Assets", the Management has performed 
an impairment assessment by comparing the carrying 
value of the investments in subsidiary companies to their 
recoverable amount. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, value in use has been determined by forecasting 
and discounting future cash flows of subsidiary 
companies. Further, the value in use is highly sensitive to 
changes in critical variable used for forecasting the future 
cash flows including traffic projection for revenues and 
discounting rate. The determination of the recoverable 
amount from subsidiary companies involves significant 
judgment and accordingly, the evaluation of impairment of 
investments in subsidiary companies has been 
determined as a key audit matter. 

Auditor's Response 

Our audit procedures included the following: 
- Assessed the appropriateness of the 

Fund's valuation methodology 
applied in determining the 
recoverable amount. In making this 
assessment, we also evaluated the 
objectivity, independence and 
competency of specialists involved 
in the process; 

- Assessed the assumptions around 
the key drivers of the cash flow 
forecasts, discount rates, revenue 
projection based on the independent 
experts traffic study report, etc.; 

·· Assessed the appropriateness of the 
weighted average cost of capital 
used in the determining recoverable 
amount by engaging valuation 
expert; 

Discussed/Evaluated potential 
changes in key drivers as compared 
to previous year I actual 
performance with management in 
order to evaluate whether the inputs 
and assumptions used in the cash 
flow forecasts were suitable; 

Assessed the recoverable value 
headroom by performing sensitivity 
analysis of key assumptions used 

Tested the arithmetical accuracy of 
the model. 

Information Other than the Standalone Financial Statements and Auditor's Report 
Thereon 

The management of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (" Investment Manager") is responsible for the 
preparation of the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 



Management Discussion and Analysis, Investment Manager's Report including Annexures to Investment 
Manager's Report and Investment Manager's Information, but does not include the standalone financial 
statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the standc;!one financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
standalone financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Management's Responsibility for the Standalone Financial Statements 

The Management of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited ('Investment Manager'), is responsible for the 
preparation of these standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position 
as at March 31, 2019, financial performance including other comprehensive income, cash movements 
and the movement of the unit holders' funds for the year ended March 31, 2019, the net assets as at 
March 31, 2019, the total returns and the net distributable cash flows of the Fund for the year ended 
March 31, 2019, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the 
Indian Accounting Standards (lnd AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) of the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended read with the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to 
time including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder (together referred to as the "lnviT 
Regulations"). This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in 
accordance with the provisions lnviT Regulations for safeguarding of the assets of the Fund and for 
preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate 
accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; for ensuring the 
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the 
financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 

In preparing the standalone financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Investment ~1anager is also responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Standalone Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 



As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

" Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the standalone financial statements that, individually or in 
aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the 
financial statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) 
planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the 
effect of any identified misstatements in the standalone financial statements. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the standalone financial statements of the current period. We 
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 



Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Based on our audit and as required by lnviT Regulations, we report that: 

a) We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and 
belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit; 

b) The balance sheet, and statement of profit and loss are in agreement with the books of account 
of the Fund; and 

c) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the Accounting 
Standards (lnd AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. 

FOR SURESH SURANA & ASSOCIATES LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Reg. No. 121750WIW-100010 

~ 
(Ramesh Gupta) 
Partner 

Membership No.:102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Dated: 02 May 2019 



IRB lnviT Fund 
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2019 

-----------------------------

I ASSETS 
{1) Non-current assets 

Financial assets 
i) Investments 
ii) Loans 

Total non-current assets 

{2) Current assets 
Financial assets 

i) Investments 

ii) Cash and cash equivalents 

Particulars 

iii) Bank balance other than (ii) above 
iv) Loans 
v) Other financial assets 

Current tax assets (net) 

TOTAL ASSETS 

II EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity 

Unit capital 
Other equity 
Total unit holder's equity 

{1) Non-current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

Borrowings 

(2) Current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

Note No. 

4 
4.1 
4.2 

5 
5.1 
5.2 
5.3 
5.4 
5.5 
6 

7 
8 

9 

As at 
March 31, 2019 

-----

2,26,936.48 
4,15,785.51 
6,42,721.99 

22,703.96 
4.30 

5,031.09 
40,434.28 

7.68 
29.54 

68,210.85 

7,10,932.84 

5,60,763.10 
(291.14) 

5,60,471.96 

1,45,454.75 

1,45,454. 75 

(Rs. in lakhs) 
As at 

March 31, 2018 

2,31,963.76 
4,49,520.41 
6,81,484.17 

13,609.07 
5,926.22 

13.20 

35,739.73 
0.78 

55,289.00 

7,36,773.17 

5,79,919.60 

2,493.01 
5,82,412.61 

1,50,019.21 

1,50,019.21 

i) Trade payables 10.1 
a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 
b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and 

small enterprises 

ii) Other financial liabilities 
Other current liabilities 

Total liabilities 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Summary of significant accounting policies _____________ _ 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 
For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Registration Number: 121750W I W-100010 

R•me~ 
Partner 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 
Date : May 02,2019 

10.2 
11 

3 

322.93 
4,679.80 

3.40 
5,006.13 

1,50,460.88 

7,10,932.84 

289.55 
4,049.25 

2.55 
4,341.35 

1,54,360.56 . 

7,36,773.17 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

{Investment Manager of IRB lnviT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 

Whole-time Director 
DIN : 03075345 

Tushar Kawedia 
Chief Financial Officer 

Place : Mumbai 
Date : May 02,2019 

~~t:~gl:,:~::: -~--- -
1rector 
IN: 07175777 

Urmil Shah 

Company Secretary 



IRB lnviT Fund 

Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2019 

Particulars 
-------------------· 

Income 
Revenue from operations 
Other income 

TOTAL INCOME 

Expenses 
Finance costs 

Investment Manager Fees 
Annual listing fee 

Trustee fee 

Other expenses 
TOTAL EXPENSES 

Profit I {loss) before tax 

Tax expenses 
Current tax 

Deferred tax 
TOTAL TAX EXPENSES 

Profit/ (loss) after tax {A) 

Other comprehensive income/{ loss) for the year {net of tax) (B) 
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax : (A+B) 

Earnings per unit 

Basic 

Diluted 

Summary of significant accoun.:.:ti:.:ng"'-!:p.::.o::.lic=-ie::cs=------­
See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's~Regk~s~ra:on Number: 121750W 1 W-100010 

Rame pt . 
Partner 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Date :May 02,2019 

in 

Note No. 
For the year ended For the year ended 

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 

12 61,725.95 51,122.81 

13 1,117.14 446.14 
62,843.09 51,568.95 

14 12,775.74 6,412.99 
1,246.79 1,053.36 

60.81 

29.50 

15 140.15 80.62 
14,252.99 7,546.97 

48,590.10 44,021.98 -------

48,590.10 44,021.98 

48,590.10 44,021.98 

16 

8.37 7.58 

8.37 7.58 

3 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

(Investment Manager of IRB lnviT Fund) 

Vi nod Kumar Menon 

Whole-time Director 

DIN : 03075345 

Tushar Kawedia 

Chief Financial Officer 

Place : Mumbai 

Date : May 02,2019 

~?---~'~----'-·" 
( 

jranglal Gupta 

. irector l DIN: 07175777 

Urmil Shah 

Company Secretary 



IRB lnviT Fund 

Statemant of changes in unit holders equity for the year ended March 31, 2019 

a. Unit Capital 

At the beginning of the year 

Issued during the year 

Less: Capital reduction during the year (Refer Note 26) 

At the end of the year 

b. Initial settlement amount 

At the beginning of the year 

Received during the year 

At the end of the 

c. Other Equity 

At the beginning of the year 

Profit I (loss) for the year 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 

Unit issue expenses 

Interest distribution (Refer Note 26) 

At the end of the year 

Summary of Significant Policies (refer note no.3) 
See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 
For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Registration Number: 121750W I W-100010 

Partner 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 
Date : May 02,2019 

As at 

March 31, 2019 

5,79,919.50 

(19,156.50) 

5,60,763.00 

0.10 

0.10 

2,493.01 

48,590.10 

(51,374.25) 

(291.14) 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

As at 

March 31, 2018 

5,92,110.00 

(12,190.50) 
5,79,919.50 

0.10 

0.10 

(0.02) 

44,021.98 

(9,891.70) 

(31,637.25) 

2,493.01 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager of IRB lnviT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 

Whole-time Director 

DIN : 03075345 

Tushar Kawedia 

Chief Financial Officer 

Place : Mumbai 
Date : May 02,2019 

)7, r. jranglal Gupta 
' 1rector 

Urmil Shah 

Company Secretary 



IRB lnviT Fund 

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO SEBI CIRCULARS 

(SEBI Circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/114/2016 dated 20-0ct-2016 and No. CIR/IMD/DF/127 /2016 dated 29-Nov-2016 

A. Statement of Net Asset at Fair Value 

(Rs in lakhs) 

As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018 

Particulars Book value Fair value Book value Fair value 
A. Assets 7,10,932.84 7,55,738.02 7,36, 773.17 8,26,225. 73 

B. Liabilities (at book value) 1,50,460.88 1,50,460.88 1,54,360.56 1,54,360.56 
C. Net Assets (A-B) 5,60,471.96 6,05,277.14 5,82,412.61 6,71,865.18 

D. Number of units (in Lakhs) 5805.00 5805.00 5805.00 5805.00 
E. NAV (C/O) (Amount in Rs.) 96.55 104.27 100.33 115.74 

B. Statement of total returns at Fair Value 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Particulars For the year ended March 31, 2019 For the year ended March 31, 2018 

Total Comprehensive Income 
48,590.09 44,021.98 

(As per the Statement of Profit and Loss) 

Add/(less): Other Changes in Fair Value 44,805.18 
------c=-::-:::-:.-

89,452.56 

Comprehensive Income- 93,395.28 1,33,474.54 

Notes: 
Fair value of assets as at March 31, 2019 and as at March 31, 2018 and other changes in fair value for the year then ended as disclosed in the above 
tables are derived based on the fair valuation reports issued by the independent valuer appointed under the lnviT Regulations. 

As per our report of even date 
For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Registration Number: 121750W I W-100010 

''m'~ 
Partner 
Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 02,2019 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager of IRB lnviT Fund) 

Vi nod Kumar Menon 
Whole-time Director 
DIN : 03075345 

/('# 
Tushar Kawedia 
Chief Financial Officer 

Place : Mumbai 
Date: May 02,2019 

Urmil Shah 
Company Secretary 



IRB lnviT Fund 

Cash flow statement for the year ended March 31, 2019 

(Rs in lakhs) 
Year ended Year ended 

Particulars 
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 

Cash flow from operating activities 
Profit before tax 48,590.10 44,021.98 
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows: 
Finance costs 12,775.74 6,412.99 
Fair value gain on investments (52.92) (96.54) 
Profit on sale of investments (761.88) (348.82) 
Interest income on 

- Fixed deposits (302.34) (0.78) 
Transaction cost on loan given 20.83 9.59 
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes 60,269.53 49,998.42 

Movement in working capital: 
Decrease/(increase) in others financial assets 

lncrease/(decrease) in trade payables 33.38 289.55 
Increase/( decrease) in other financial liabilities (13.21) 

Increase/( decrease) in other current liabilities 14.06 2.55 
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 60,303.76 50,290.52 
Direct taxes paid (net of refunds) (29.54) 

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 60,274.22 50,290.52 

B. Cash flows from investing activities 

Purchase of units of mutual fund (1,10,998.07) (64,377.85) 
Proceeds on sales of units of mutual fund 1,07, 745.26 46,186.86 

Investment in subsidiaries' (38,688.98) 
Investment in sub debt of subsidiaries (99,431.00) 
Loan given to subsidiaries (2,110.00) (5,10,489.91) 

Transaction cost on loan (416.52) 

Repayment of loan given to subsidiaries 31,129.52 25,636.71 

Bank deposits placed (having original maturity of more than three months) (5,000.00) 

Interest received on fixed deposit 295.44 

Net cash flows from/( used in) investing activities 21,062.15 (6,41,580.69) 

C. Cash flow from financing activities 

Proceeds from issuance of unit capital • (19,156.50) 5,03,293.50 

Unit issue expenses (9,891.70) 
Distribution to unit holders (51,374.25) (43,827.75) 
Proceeds from long term borrowings 1,55,000.00 
Repayment of long term borrowings (3,311.69) (389.50) 
Transaction cost on long term borrowings (1,336.68) 
Finance cost paid (13,415.85) (5,631.56) 
Net cash flows from/(used In) financing activities (87,258.29) 5,97,216.31 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) (5,921.92) 5,926.14 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 5,926.22 0.08 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (refer 5.2) 4.30 5,926.22 

#The Fund had issued its 870,075 units in exchange of equity share to sponser. The same has not been reflected in cash flow since it was a non-cash 
transaction. 

Summary of significant accounting policies 3 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

Notes: 

1. All figures in bracket are outflow. 

2. Taxes paid are treated as arising from operating activities and are not bifurcated between investing and financing activities. 



IRB lnviT Fund 

Cash flow statement for the year ended March 31, 2019 

3. Reconciliation between opening and closing balances for liabilities arising from financing activities 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Particular Long term borrowing 

1- Apr- 2017 

Cash flow 

-Interest (6,968.24) 

-Net of proceeds and repayment of long term borrowings 1,54,610.50 

Accrual for the year 6,412.99 

31- Mar- 2018 1,54,055.25 

Cash flow 

·Interest (13,415.85) 

·Net of proceeds and repayment of long tenn borrowings (3,311.69) 

Accrual for the year 12,775.74 

31- Mar- 2019 1,50,103.45 ----

4. The cash flow statement has been prepared under Indirect Method as per lnd AS 7 "Statement of Cash Flows" as notified under section 133 of the 
Companies Act, 2013. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

istration Number: 121750W I W-100010 

Partner 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Date : May 02,2019 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

''~?!"'"""'""'' / 
Vinod Kumar Menon ~~/z;~;~~;~:/ .. ~-
Whole-time Director ( D" ector 

DIN: 030,5345 . \j N: 07175777 
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·1~v -0'~,£,\A. 
Tushar Kawedia Urmil Shah 
Chief Financial Officer 

Place : Mumbai 

Date : May 02,2019 

Company Secretary 
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IRB lnviT Fund 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) 
Amount Rs in Lakhs 

Sr. No. Particulars 
Year ended Year ended 

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 

1 Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Interest 61,725.95 51,122.81 

2 
Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of 

- -
Dividend 

Any other income accruing at the Trust level and not captured 
3 above, including but not limited to interesUreturn on surplus 1,117.14 446.14 

cash invested by the Trust 

4 
Cash flows received from the project SPVs towards the 

31,109.52 21,911.70 
repayment of the debt issued to the Project SPVs by the Trust 

5 Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A) 93,952.61 73,480.65 

Less: 

Any payment of fees, interest and expense incurred at the 
6 Trust level, including but not limited to the fees of the (14,252.99) (7,546.97) 

Investment Manager 

7 Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust Level - -

8 Repayment of external debt (3,311.69) (389.50) 

9 Total cash outflows I retention at the Trust level (B) (17,564.68) (7,936.47) 

10 
Net Distributable Cash Flows 

76,387.92 65,544.18 
(C)= (A+B) 

During the year, an amount of Rs. 70,530.75 lakhs ( P.Y. Rs. 43,827.75) has already been distributed to unit holders. 
( Refer note 26) 



IRB InviT Fund 
Summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information for the 
year ended March 31, 2019 

1. Nature of Operations 

The IRB InviT Fund (the "Fund" I "Trust") is a trust constituted by "The Indenture of 
Trust" dated October 16, 2015 registered under the Registration Act, 1908 and under the 
Securities Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trust) Regulations, 2014. 
The Fund is settled by the Sponsor, IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited ("IRB" or the 
"Sponsor"), an infrastructure development company in India. The Trustee to the Fund is 
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (the "Trustee") and Investment manager for the Fund 
is IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (the "Investment Manager"). 

The Fund has been formed to invest in infrastructure assets primarily being in the road 
sector in India. All of the Fund's road projects are implemented and held through special 
purpose vehicles ("Project SPVs") 

During the previous year, the Fund had acquired the following projects from the Sponsor 
which are road infrastructure projects developed on DBFOT basis. 

Sr. 
Project SPV Name 

No. 

1 IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAA) "'* 
2 IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (IRBTA) "'* 
3 IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IRBJD) "'* 
4 IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (IRBSD) "'* 
5 IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (IRBTCY' * 

6 M.V.R Infrastructure and Tollways Limited (MVRY'* 

7 IRB Pathankot Toll Road Limited (IRBPA) #* 

AAcquired on May 9, 2017 
# Acquired on September 28, 2017 
* During the previous year, these Companies have been converted from private limited to 
public limited Companies. 

The registered office of the Investment Manager is IRB Complex, Chandivali Farm, 
Chandivali village, Andheri- East, Mumbai-400072. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with resolution passed 
by the board of directors of the Investment manager on May 02, 2019. 



2. Basis of preparation 

The financial statements of IRB InviT Fund have been prepared in accordance with 
Indian Accounting Standards as defined in Rule 2(l)(a) of the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, prescribed under Section 133 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 ("Ind AS") read with SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) 
Regulations, 2014, as amended and the circulars issued thereunder ("InviT Regulations") 
and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. 

The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and under the historical 
cost convention except for certain financial assets and liabilities (refer accounting policy 
regarding financial instruments) which have been measured at fair value. 

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupee ('INR') which is the functional 
currency of the Fund and all values are rounded to the nearest lakhs, except when 
otherwise indicated. Wherever the amount represented '0' (zero) construes value less than 
Rupees five hundred. 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies 

3.1. Use of estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements and the results of operations during the reporting period 
end. Although these estimates are based upon management's best knowledge of current 
events and actions, actual results could differ from these estimates. 

3.2. Current versus non-current classification 

The Fund presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/ non-current 
classification. 
An asset is treated as current when it is: 
-Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle 
- Held primarily for the purpose of trading 
-Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. 
All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 
- It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle 
- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting period. 

All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 



Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 
The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their 
realisation in cash and cash equivalents. The Fund has identified twelve months as its 
operating cycle. 

3.3. Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow 
to the Fund and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is 
being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the cons.ideration received or 
receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding 
taxes or duties collected on behalf of the government 

The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is 
recognised: 

Interest income 
Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount 
outstanding and the rates applicable. For all debt instruments measured either at 
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, interest income is 
recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR). 

Dividends 
Revenue is recognised when the Fund's right to receive the payment is established, which 
is generally when shareholders approve the dividend. 

3.4. Taxes 

Current income tax 
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date in the countries where the Fund operates and generates taxable income. 
Current income tax relating to items recognised outside the Statement of Profit and Loss 
is recognised outside the Statement of Profit and Loss (either in other comprehensive 
income or in equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their canying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes at the repmiing date. 

Defened tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 
- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset 
or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 



- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry 
forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 

- When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets 
are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside statement of profit and loss is 
recognised outside statement of profit and loss (either in other comprehensive income or 
in equity). Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction 
either in OCI or directly in equity 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

Sales/value added tax and goods and service tax paid on acquisition of assets or on 
incurring expenses 

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales/value added taxes and 
goods and service tax paid, except: 

When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax 
authority, in which case, the tax paid is recognised as pmi of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable. 

When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included. The net 
amount of tax recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 



3.5. Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an 
asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or 
sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed 
in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that 
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also includes 
exchange differences to the extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs. 

3.6. Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Fund has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. When the Fund expects some or all of a provision 
to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The 
expense relating to a provision is presented in the Statement of Profit and Loss net of any 
reimbursement. 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a 
current pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When 
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised 
as a finance cost. 

3.7. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence 
will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occmTence of one or more uncertain future 
events beyond the control of the Fund or a present obligation that is not recognised 
because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation. A contingent liability also arises in extremely rare cases where there is a 
liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be measured reliably. The Fund does 
not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial statements. 
A contingent assets is not recognised unless it becomes virtually certain that an inflow of 
economic benefits will arise. When an inflow of economic benefits is probable, 
contingent assets are disclosed in the financial statements. 
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date. 

3.8. Financial instrument 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and 
a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 
All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets 
not recorded at fair value through Statement of Profit and Loss, directly attributable 
transaction cost to the acquisition of the financial asset. Purchases or sales of financial 
assets that require delivery of assets yyithin a time frame established by regulation or 



convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., 
the date that the Fund commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified m following 
categories; 

at amortised cost 
at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

Financial Assets at amortised cost 
A financial asset is measured at the amortised cost if both the following conditions are 
met: 
a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for 

collecting contractual cash flows, and 
b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

This category is the most relevant to the Fund. All the Loans and other receivables under 
financial assets (except Investments) are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 

After initial measurement such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral 
part of the EIR. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the Statement of 
Profit and Loss. 

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Statement of Profit and Loss/Other 
comprehensive income 

All investments in scope of Ind AS 1 09 are measured at fair value. The Fund has 
investment in Debt oriented mutual fund which are held for trading, are classified as at 
FVTPL. The Fund makes such election on an instrument by instrument basis. The 
classification is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable. The gain/ loss on sale of 
investments are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 
Instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 

Derecognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a the Fund of 
similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the Fund's balance 
sheet) when: 
The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 
The Fund has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party 
under a 'pass-through' arrangement; and either (a) the Fund has transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Fund has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rew s of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 



When the Fund has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has 
entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained 
the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, 
the Fund continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Fund's 
continuing involvement. In that case, the Fund also recognises an associated liability. The 
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights 
and obligations that the Fund has retained. 

3.9. Impairment of assets 

Impairment of financial assets 

Expected credit losses are recognized for all financial assets subsequent to initial 
recognition other than financial assets in FVTPL category. 

For financial assets other than trade receivables, as per Ind AS 109, the Fund recognizes 
12 month expected credit losses for all originated or acquired financial assets if at the 
reporting date the credit risk of the financial asset has not increased significantly since its 
initial recognition. The expected credit losses are measured as lifetime expected credit 
losses if the credit risk on financial assets increases significantly since its initial 
recognition. 

The impairment losses and reversals are recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Fund assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may 
be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required, the Fund estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair value less costs of 
disposal and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset 
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets or Fund's assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. 

Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and 
borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

1 



The Fund's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings 
including bank overdrafts, financial guarantee contracts and derivative financial 
instruments. 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described 
below: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for 
trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through 
profit or loss. Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for 
the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes derivative 
financial instruments entered into by the Fund that are not designated as hedging 
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by Ind AS 1 09. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of 
profit and loss. 

Loans and borrowings 
This is the category most relevant to the Fund. After initial recognition, interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. 
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are de-recognised as 
well as through the EIR amortisation process. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is 
included as finance costs in the statement of profit and loss. 

De-recognition 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged 
or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from 
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition 
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
standalone balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets 
and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 



3.10 Investment in subsidiaries 

Investments (equity instruments as well as subordinate debt) in subsidiaries are carried at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Where an indication of impairment 
exists, the carrying amount of the investment is assessed and written down immediately to 
its recoverable amount. On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, the difference between 
net disposal proceeds and carrying amounts are recognised in the Statement of Profit and 
Loss. 

3.11Foreign currencies 

The Fund's financial statements are presented in INR, which is also the Fund's functional 
currency. The Fund does not have any foreign operation and has assessed the functional 
currency to be INR. 

Transactions and balances 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Fund at their respective 
functional currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. 

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. 

3.12 Fair value measurement 

The Fund measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives at fair value at each 
balance sheet date. 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair 
value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 
transfer the liability takes place either: 
.,... In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
.,... In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 
liability. 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Fund. 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market' 
participants act in their economic best interest. 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market 
participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and 
best use or by selling it to another market pmiicipant that would use the asset in its 
highest and best use. 
The Fund uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for 
which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 



All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial 
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 
~ Level 1 -Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities 
~ Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
~ Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement is unobservable 
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring 
basis, the Fund determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the 
hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 
The Fund's Management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair 
value measurement, such as derivative instruments and unquoted financial assets 
measured at fair value, and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for 
distribution in discontinued operations. 
At each reporting date, the Management analyses the movements in the values of assets 
and liabilities which are required to be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Fund's 
accounting policies. For this analysis, the Management verifies the major inputs applied 
in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to 
contracts and other relevant documents. 
The management also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and liability 
with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable. 
On an annual basis, the Management of Investment Manager presents the valuation 
results to the Audit Committee and the Fund's independent auditors. This includes a 
discussion of the major assumptions used in the valuations. 
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Fund has determined classes of assets and 
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and 
the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above. 
This note summarises accounting policy for fair value. Other fair value related disclosures 
are given in the relevant notes. 

Disclosures for valuation methods, significant estimates and assumptions (note 27) 
Financial instruments (including those carried at amortised cost) (note 22 and 23) 
Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy (note 22 and 23) 

3.13 Contributed Equity 

Units are classified as equity. Incremental costs attributable to the issue of units are 
directly recorded in equity, net of tax. 

3.14 Distribution to unit holders 

The Fund recognises a liability to make cash distributions to unit holders when the 
distribution is authorised and a legal obligation has been created. As per the InviT 
Regulations, a distribution is authorised when it is approved by the Board of Directors of 
the Investment Manager. A corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity. 



3.15 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and 
short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash 
and short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are 
considered an integral part of the Fund's cash management. 

3.16 Earnings Per Unit (EPU) 

Basic earnings per unit are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable 
to unit holders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per unit, the weighted average number of 
units outstanding during the year are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential units. 

3.17 Recent accounting pronouncements 

Adoption of New standard : Effective from April 01, 2018 the Fund has adopted Ind 
AS 115 " Revenue from contracts with customers" based on the assessment done by the 
management, there is no impact on the revenue recognised during the year. 

3.18 Standard issued but not effective 

Ind AS 116 Leases: On March 30, 2019, Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Ind 
AS 116, Leases. Ind AS 116 will replace the existing leases Standard, Ind AS 17 Leases, 
and related Interpretations. The Standard sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract i.e., the 
lessee and the lessor. Ind AS 116 introduces a single lessee accounting model and 
requires a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 
twelve months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. Currently, operating lease 
expenses are charged to the statement of Profit & Loss. The Standard also contains 
enhanced disclosure requirements for lessees. Ind AS 116 substantially carries forward 
the lessor accounting requirements in Ind AS 17. The effective date for adoption of Ind 
AS 116 is annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 20 19. The standard permits two 
possible methods oftransition: 

• Full retrospective - Retrospectively to each prior period presented applying Ind AS 8 
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. 

• Modified retrospective - Retrospectively, with the cumulative effect of initially 
applying the Standard recognized at the date of initial application. Under modified 
retrospective approach, the lessee records the lease liability as the present value of the 



remaining lease payments, discounted at the incremental borrowing rate and the right of 
use asset either as: 

" Its carrying amount as if the standard had been applied since the commencement date, 
but discounted at lessee's incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application or 

• An amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued 
lease payments related to that lease recognized under Ind AS 17 immediately before the 
date of initial application. 

Certain practical expedients are available under both the methods. 

The Fund does not have any impact on account of this ammedment. 

Ind AS 12 Appendix C, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments: On March 30, 2019, 
Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Ind AS 12 Appendix C, Uncertainty over Income 
Tax Treatments which is to be applied while performing the determination of taxable profit 
(or loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is 
uncertainty over income tax treatments under Ind AS 12. According to the appendix, 
companies need to determine the probability of the relevant tax authority accepting each tax 
treatment, or group of tax treatments, that the companies have used or plan to use in their 
income tax filing which has to be considered to compute the most likely amount or the 
expected value of the tax treatment when determining taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, 
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates. 

The standard permits two possible methods of transition - i) Full retrospective approach -
Under this approach, Appendix C will be applied retrospectively to each prior reporting 
period presented in accordance with Ind AS 8 - Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors, without using hindsight and ii) Retrospectively with cumulative effect 
of initially applying Appendix C recognized by adjusting equity on initial application, 
without adjusting comparatives. 

The effective date for adoption of Ind AS 12 Appendix C is annual periods beginning on or 
after April 1, 2019. The Fund has evaluated the effect of this on the financial statements and 
the impact of this is not material. 

Amendment to Ind AS 12 -Income taxes : On March 30, 2019, Ministry of Corporate 
Affairs issued amendments to the guidance in Ind AS 12, 'Income Taxes', in connection with 
accounting for dividend distribution taxes. 

The amendment clarifies that an entity shall recogmse the income tax consequences of 
dividends in profit or loss, other comprehensive income or equity according to where the 
entity originally recognised those past transactions or events. 



Effective date for application of this amendment is annual period beginning on or after April 
1, 2019. This amendment will not have any impact on the financial statements. 

Amendment to Ind AS 19 - plan amendment, curtailment or settlement- On March 30, 
2019, Ministry of Corporate Affairs issued amendments to Ind AS 19, 'Employee Benefits', 
in connection with accounting for plan amendments, curtailments and settlements. The 
amendments require an entity: 
• to use updated assumptions to determine current service cost and net interest for the 
remainder of the period after a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement; and 
e to recognise in profit or loss as part of past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, any 
reduction in a surplus, even if that surplus was not previously recognised because of the 
impact of the asset ceiling. 

Effective date for application of this amendment is annual period beginning on or after April 
1, 2019. The Fund does not have any impact on account of this amendment. 



IRB lnviT Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2019 

Note 4 : Financial assets (Non-current) 
4.11nvestments 
A) Investments at cost 

Particulars 

Investments in equity instruments of subsidiaries (unqoated) 

510,842,000 (March 31,2018 510,842,000) equity shares of IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway 
Limited 
131,750,000 (March 31, 2018 - 131,750,000) equity shares of IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway 
Limited 

198,120,003 (March 31, 2018- 198,120,003) equity shares of IDAA Infrastructure Limited 

98,600,000 (March 31, 2018 - 98,600,000) equity shares of IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll 
Road Limited 
49,250,000 (March 31, 2018 - 49,250,000) equity shares IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway 
Limited 
155,500,002 (March 31, 2018- 155,500,002) equity shares IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway 
Limited 
6,910,170 (March 31, 2018 - 6,910,170) equity shares M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways 
Limited 
Investment in equity instruments of related parties (unquoted) 

B) Investments at fair value through profit & loss 

Investments in mutual fund (quoted) 

SBI Magnum lnsta Cash Fund Liquid Floater- Direct Plan-Growth 

Nil (March 31, 2018: 172,812.256 units@ Rs.2,909.0976) 

(All units of SBI Magnum lnsta Cash Fund Liquid Floater- Direct Plan-Growth marked as lien 

in favour of SBI CAP Trustee Company Limited, shown as non current investment) 

Investments in Mutual Funds 

C) Investments at cost 

Investments in sub debt of subsidiaries (unquoted) 
IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited 

Subordinated debt to related parties (interest free) 

Total non-current investments (A+ B +C) 

Aggregate book value of quoted investments 

Aggregate market value of quoted investments 

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 

4.2 Loans 

(Secured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 

Loans to related parties (Refer note no. 21) 
- Interest bearing 

Less: Current maturities of loans to related parties 
Total- (A) 

(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 
Loans to related parties (Refer note no. 21) 
-Interest bearing 

Less: Current maturities of loans to related parties 
Total- (B) 

Add : Unamortised transaction cost (C) 
Total (A+B+C) 

As at March 31, 2019 

----.----· 

53,232.48 

13,175.00 

19,812.00 

9,909.00 

4,925.00 

15,550.00 

10,902.00 
1,27,505.48 

39,525.00 

29,581.00 
14,775.00 

15,550.00 

99,431.00 

2,26,936.48 

2,26,936.48 

3, 75,858.01 

(27,808.63) 

3,48,049.38 

73,258.1',7 

(5,908.45) 

67,350.02 

386.11 
4,15,785.51 

As at March 31, 2018 

53,232.48 

13,175.00 

19,812.00 

9,909.00 

4,925.00 

15,550.00 

10,902.00 

1,27,505.48 

5,027.28 

5,027.28 

39,525.00 

29,581.00 

14,775.00 

15,550.00 

99,431.00 

2,31,963.76 

5,027.28 

5,027.28 

2,26,936.48 

4,06,967.53 

{31,112.53) 
3,75,855.00 

73,258.47 

73,258.47 

406.93 

4,49,520.41 



IRB lnviT Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2019 

Note 5 : Financial assets (current) 
5.11nvestments 

Particulars 

Investments at fair value through Profit & Loss 
Investments in mutual fund (quoted) 

IDBI Liquid Fund 

34,589.4630 units@ Rs.2,002.9905 (March 31, 2018- Unit nil ) 

Aditya Birla Sun Life Money Manager Fund 

2,508,356.210 units@ Rs. 251.7000 ( March 31, 2018- Unit nil ) 

Sundaram Money Market Fund 

34,553,586.854 units @ Rs. 10.4401 ( March 31, 2018- Unit nil ) 

Reliance Money Market Fund 

127,040.226 units@ Rs.2,839.3181 ( March 31, 2018- Unit nil ) 

L& T Ultra Short Term Fund 

11,582,079.949 units@ Rs.31.1393 (March 31, 2018- Unit nil ) 

Aditya Birla Sun Life Liquid Fund 

533,248.902 units@ Rs.300.4362 (March 31, 2018- Unit nil) 

Reliance Liquid Fund 

35,117.483 units@ Rs. 4,561.8889 (March 31, 2018- Unit nil) 

Canara Robeco Savings Fund 

5,083,797.936 units@ Rs. 29.5491 (March 31, 2018- Unit nil ) 

SBI Liquid Fund 

5,812.176 units @ Rs. 2,928.5700 (March 31, 2018- Unit nil) 

SBI Magnum lnsta Cash -Direct Plan -Growth 

Unit- Nil (March 31, 2018: 104,830.335 units@ Rs. 3,843.1599) 

Aditya Birla Sun Life Saving Fund -Growth-Direct Plan 

Units- Nil (March 31, 2018 : 3,429,922.285 units @ Rs.279.3146) 

Investments in Mutual Funds (quoted) (FVTPL) 

Aggregate book value of quoted investments 

Aggregate market value of quoted investments 

5.2 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash on hand 

Balances with banks: 
- In current accounts 

-In escrow accounts 

Deposits with banks 

-Original maturity less than 3 months 

Escrow account as hypothecated against sucured loan. 

5.3 Other bank balances 

Debt service reserve account with banks 

- Maturity more than 3 months but upto 12 months 

Unpaid dividend distribution accounts 

5.4 Loans 

(Secured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 

_Current maturities of long term loans to related parties 

(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 

Loans to related parties 

Current maturities of long term loans to related parties 

As at March 31, 2019 

692.82 

6,313.53 

3,607.43 

3,607.08 

3,606.58 

1,602.07 

1,602.02 

1,502.22 

170.21 

22,703.96 

22,703.96 

22,703.96 

0.04 

2.17 

2.09 

4.30 

5,000.00 

31.09 

5,031.09 

27,808.63 

6,717.20 

5,908.45 
40,434.28 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

As at March 31, 2018 

4,028.80 

9,580.27 

13,609.07 

13,609.07 

13,609.07 

0.03 

2.34 

973.85 

4,950.00 

5,926.22 

13.20 

13.20 

31,112.53 

4,627.20 

35,739.73 . 



IRB lnviT Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2019 

Particulars 

5.5 Other financial assets 

(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 

Interest accrued on fixed deposits 

Other receivable 

NOTE 6 : Current tax assets (net) 

Advance income tax (net of provision for tax Rs. Nil) 

(March 31, 2018: Rs. Nil) 

__________ __;.:_(R:.:os:_::_. in: lakhs) 

As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018 

7.68 0.78 

7.68 0.78 

29.54 
29.54 



IRB lnviT Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2019 

Note 7 : Equity 

I. Unit capital 

a. Issued, subscribed and fully paid up unit capital 

580,500,000 (March 31, 2018- 580,500,000) 

b. Initial settlement amount 

At the end of the year 

c. Terms I rights attached to units 

Rights of unit holders 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018 

5,60, 763.00 

0.10 

5,60,763.10 

5,79,919.50 

0.10 

5,79,919.60 

Subject to the provisions of the lnviT Regulations, the Indenture of Fund, and applicable rules, regulations and guidelines, the rights of the unit holders include: 

a) right to receive income or distributions with respect to the units held; 

b) right to attend the annual general meeting and other meetings of the unit holders of the Fund; 

c) right to vote upon any matters/resolutions proposed in relation to the Fund; 

d) right to receive periodic information having a bearing on the operation or performance of the Fund in accordance with the lnviT Regulations; and 

e) right to apply to the Fund to take up certain issues at meetings for unit holders approval. 

In accordance with the lnviT Regulations, no unit holders shall enjoy superior voting or any other rights over any other unit holders, and there shall not be multiple classes of 

units. There shall be only one denomination of units. Notwithstanding the above, subordinate units may be issued only to the Sponsor and its Associates, where such 

subordinate units shall carry only inferior voting or any other rights compared to the other units. 

Limitation to the Liability of the unit holders 

The liability of each unit holders towards the payment of any amount (that may arise in relation to the Fund including any taxes, duties, fines, levies, liabilities, costs or 

expenses) shall be limited only to the extent of the capital contribution of such unit holders and after such capital contribution shall have been paid in full by the unit 

holders, the unit holders shall not be obligated to make any further payments. 

The unit holders(s) shall not have any personal liability or obligation with respect to the Fund. 

II. Reconciliation of the number of units outstanding and the amount of unit capital: 

At the beginning of the year 

Issued during the year 

Less: Capital reduction during the year (Refer note26) 

At the end of the year 

Details of unit holding more than 5% units · 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 

Government Of Singapore 
Aditya Birla Sun Life Trustee Private Limited A/C Aditya Birla Sun Life 
Equity Hybrid '95 Fund 

Note :8 Other Equity 

A. Retained earnings 

At the beginning of the year 

Profit I (loss) for the year 

Unit issue expenses 

Interest distribution (Refer Note 26) 

Total Other Equity (A+B) 

Retained earnings 

As at March 31, 2019 

No. of units in lakhs Amount Rs. in lakhs 

5,805.00 5,79,919.50 

- -

19,156.50 

5,805.00 5,60,763.00 

As at March 31, 2019 

No. of units in lakhs %of total unit capital 

927.05 15.97% 

477.55 8.19% 

371.00 6.40% 

As at March 31, 2018 

No. of units in lakhs Amount Rs. in lakhs 

-
5,805.00 5,92,110.00 

12,190.50 

5,805.00 5,79,919.50 

As at March 31, 2018 

No. of units in lakhs %of total unit capital 

927.05 15.97% 

416.50 7.17% 

-

(Rs. in lakhs) 

As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018 

2,493.01 (0.02) 

48,590.10 44,021.98 

(9,891.70) 

(51,374.25) (31,637.25) 

(291.14) 2,493.01 

Retained earnings are the profits that the Fund has earned till date, less any transfers to general reserve, dividends or other distributions paid to unit holders. 



IRB lnviT Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2019 

Note 9 :Non-current financial liabilities 

Borrowings 
Secured 
Term loans 
Indian rupee loan from banks 

Particulars 

Less: Current maturities of long term loans 
SubTotal 

Less : Una mortised transaction cost 
Total 

1. Secured Term loans 

i) Secured by first charge on escrow account and on receivable of fund arising out of 
principal and interest payment of the loans by Fund to subsidiaries. 

ii) Pledge of shares held 51% of share holding in the total paid-up equity share capital of 
IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited and IRB Pathankot Amritsar Tollway Limited. 

iii) Interest rates on Indian rupee loan from State Bank of India is MCLR + 0.15% & IDFC 
First Bank is 8.15% . The Indian rupee loans from banks is repayable in unstructured 
monthly instalment as per the repayment schedule specified in loan agreement with the 
Lenders. 

iv) There have been no breaches in the financial covenants with respect to borrowings. 

Note 10 : Current financial liabilities 

10.1 Trade Payables 

a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 

b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 
Total 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 90 day terms. 

10.2 Other financial liabilities 

Current maturities of long-term borrowings 
-Indian rupee loan from banks (Refer note 9) 
Interest accrued but not due on borrowings 
Unpaid distribution 
Total 

Note 11: Other current liabilities 
Statutory dues payable 
Total 

As at March 31, 2019 

1,51,298.81 
(4,637.81) 

1,46,661.00 

(1,206.25) 
1,45,454.75 

322.93 
322.93 

4,637.81 
10.90 
31.09 

4,679.80 

3.40 
3.40 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

As at March 31, 2018 

1,54,610.50 
(3,299.50) 

1,51,311.00 

(1,291.79) 

1,50,019.21 

289.55 
289.55 

3,299.50 
736.55 

13.20 
4,049.25 

2.55 

2.55 



IRB lnviT Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2019 

Note 12 : Revenue from operations 

Operating income 
Interest income 

Note 13 :Other income 

Interest income on bank deposits 

Gain on sale of investments 

Fair value gain on investments 

Note 14 : Finance costs 

Interest expense 

-Term loan from bank 

Other borrowing cost 

Other finance costs 

Note 15 : Other expenses 

Legal and professional fees 

Payment to auditor (refer note below) 

Miscellaneous expenses 

Payment to auditor (including service tax I GST) 

As auditors: 

-Statutory audit fees 

-Limited review fees 

-Tax audit fees 

In other capacity: 

-Other services (certification fees) 

Reimbursement of expenses 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

For year ended March For year ended March 

31,2019 31,2018 

61,725.95 

61,725.95 

302.34 

761.88 

52.92 

1,117.14 

12,649.21 

126.53 

12,775.74 

107.93 

12.69 

19.53 

140.15 

7.08 

3.54 

1.18 

0.47 

0.42 

12.69 

51,122.81 

51,122.81 

0.78 

348.82 

96.54 

446.14 

6,362.20 

50.79 

6,412.99 

62.61 

12.66 

5.35 

80.62 

7.08 

3.66 

1.18 

0.71 

0.03 

12.66 
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Note 16 : Earnings per unit (EPU) 

The following reflects the income and unit data used in the basic and diluted EPU computations: 

Profit attributable to unit holders of the Fund for basic & diluted earnings 

Weighted average number of unit for basic & diluted EPU* (in lakhs) 

Basic earning per unit (Amount in Rs.) 

Diluted earning per unit (Amount in Rs.) 

Note 17 : Capital and other commitments 

There are no capital and other commitments as at March 31, 2019 (March 31,2018: Rs. NIL). 

Note 18 :Contingent liabilities 

There are no contingent liabilities as at March 31, 2019 (March 31,2018: Rs. NIL). 

Note 19 : Details of dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006 

For year ended March 31, 

2019 

48,590.09 

5,805.00 
8.37 

8.37 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

For year ended March 31, 
2018 

44,021.98 

5,805.00 
7.58 

7.58 

The following details regarding Micro and small Enterprises has been determined to the extent such parties has been identified on the basis of information available with the Fund. 

Particulars 

Principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the period end 

Interest due thereon 

Amount of interest paid by the Company in terms of section 16 of the MSMED, along with the amount of the payment made to the 

supplier beyond the appointed day during the accounting period. 

Amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which have been paid but beyond the appointed day 

during the period) but without adding the interest specified under the MSMED, 2006 

Amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the accounting period 

The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, until such date when the interest dues as 

above are actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible expenditure under the MSMED Act, 

2006 

Note 20 :Operating segment 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018 

The Fund is engaged in to invest in infrastructure assets primarily being in the road sector in India which in the context of lnd AS 108- Operating Segments is considered as the only segment. 

The Fund's activities are restricted within India and hence no separate geographical segment disclosure is considered necessary. 
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Note 21 : Related party transaction 
I. list of Related Parties 

I. Subsidiaries/ SPVs IDAA Infrastructure Limited ( IDAAIL) 
IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited ( IJDTL) 
IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited ( IPATRL) 
IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited ( ISDTL) 
IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited ( ITATL) 
IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited ( ITCTL) 
M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) 

ii. Parties to the Fund • IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) (Sponsor) 

'As per lnviT regulations 

IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL) (Investment Manager) 
Modern Road Makers Private Limited (MRMPL) (Project Manager) 
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (ITSL) (Trustee) 

iii. Promoters/ Directors of the parties to the Fund specified in (ii) above 

IRB Infrastructure Developers 
IRB Infrastructure Private 

Particulars Limited 
Limited (Sponsor) 

(Investment manager) 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Promoters Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar IRB Infrastructure Developers 
Limited 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar HUF 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar Mr. Vinodkumar Menon 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing 

Directors 

Independent directors Independent directors 

Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kaplan Mr. R P Singh 

Mr. Sunil H. Talati Mr. B L Gupta 

Mr. Sandeep J. Shah Mr. Sumit Banerjee 

Mr. Sunil Tandon 

Mrs. Heena Raja 
(w.e.f.30.03.2019) 

Modern Road Makers Private I DBI Trusteeship Services 
Limited Limited 
(Project manager) (Trustee of the IRB lnviT Fund) 

IDBI Bank Limited 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Life Insurance Corporation of 
Limited India 

General Insurance Corporation 
of India 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta Mr. G.M. Yadwadkar 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi Mr. Ravishankar G. Shinde 

Mr. Ajay P. Deshmukh Ms. Madhuri J. Kulkarni 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma Mr. Swapan Kumar Bagchi 

Mr. Saurabh Chandra 
(w.e.f. 21.05.2018) 

Ms.Sashikala Muralidharan 

Independent directors 

Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kaptan 

Mrs. Heena Raja 
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II) Related party transactions during the year 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Sr. No. Particulars Relation 
Year ended March Year ended March 

31,2019 31,2018 

Subordinate debt given 99,431.00 
IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited Subsidiary 39,525.00 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited Subsidiary 29,581.00 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited Subsidiary 14,775.00 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited Subsidiary 15,550.00 

2 Secured loans given (Long term) 4,28,879.23 

IRB Sural Dahisar Tollway Limited Subsidiary 66,182.05 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited Subsidiary 92,661.77 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited Subsidiary 25,115.73 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited Subsidiary 93,603.44 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited Subsidiary 37,153.84 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited Subsidiary 93,712.76 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited Subsidiary 20,449.64 

3 Repayment of secured loan (Long term) 31,109.52 21,911.70 

IRB Sural Dahisar Tollway Limited Subsidiary 18,172.90 14,421.76 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited Subsidiary 11,326.75 7,386.98 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited Subsidiary 149.77 102.96 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited Subsidiary 1,460.10 

4 Unsecured loans given (Long term) 73,258.47 

IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited Subsidiary 11,006.23 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited Subsidiary 3,107.71 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited Subsidiary 25,767.36 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited Subsidiary 15,490.04 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited Subsidiary 8,905.47 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited Subsidiary 7,338.07 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited Subsidiary 1,643.59 

5 Unsecured loans given (Short term) 2,110.00 8,352.20 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,110.00 3,052.20 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited Subsidiary 5,300.00 

6 Repayment of unsecured loan given (Short term) 20.00 3,725.00 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited Subsidiary 20.00 2,200.00 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited Subsidiary 1,525.00 

7 Interest income 61,746.77 51,122.81 

IRB Sural DahisarTollway Limited Subsidiary 7,302.20 7,964.43 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited Subsidiary 12,450.03 10,846.88 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited Subsidiary 5,182.05 5,555.46 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited Subsidiary 14,158.15 7,138.12 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited Subsidiary 5,987.71 5,216.69 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited Subsidiary 13,376.41 11,628.56 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited Subsidiary 3,290.22 2,772.67 

8 Investment Management fees (including indirect taxes) 1,246.79 1,053.36 

IRB Infrastructure Private Limited Investment Manager 1,246.79 1,053.36 

9 Purchase of equity shares of Subsidiaries through Issue of 
1,06,501.76 Unit Capital • 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor 1,01,795.26 

Modern Road Makers Private Limited Project Manager 4,706.50 
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II) Related party transactions during the year 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Sr. No. Particulars Relation 
Year ended March Year ended March 

31,2019 31, 2018 

10 Purchase of equity shares of IPATRL - 9,909.00 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor 8,918.10 

Modern Road Makers Private Limited Project Manager - 990.90 

11 Interest distributed 8,816.39 4,874.89 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor 8,204.39 4,869.61 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 520.36 -
Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 69.26 3.74 
Mr. Sudhir Rao Hashing Director of Sponsor 7.74 1.32 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta Director of Sponsor & 
4.29 -Project Manager 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon Director of Investment 
1.32 

Manager -
Mr. B.L.Gupta Director of Investment 

0.44 
Manager -

Mr. Sumit Banerjee Director of Investment 
1.77 0.22 Manager 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi Director of Project 
0.66 -Manager 

Mr. Ajay P. Deshmukh Director of Project 
5.72 Manager 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma Director of Project 
0.44 -Manager 

12 Capital distributed 3,295.47 1,875.60 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor 3,059.27 1,873.68 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 200.90 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 26.71 1.36 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hashing Director of Sponsor 2.90 0.48 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta Director of Sponsor & 
1.70 -Project Manager 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon Director of Investment 
0.51 

Manager 

Mr. B.L.Gupta Director of Investment 
0.17 

Manager 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee Director of Investment 
0.67 0.08 Manager 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi Director of Project 
0.26 -Manager 

Mr. Ajay P. Deshmukh Director of Project 
2.21 Manager 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma Director of Project 
0.17 -Manager 

13 Trustee fee 29.50 

lOBI Trusteeship Services Limited Trustee 29.50 
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• IRBIDL and MRMPL has sold units in Offer for sale amounting toRs. 12,973.66 lakhs and Rs. 4,706.50 lakhs respectively. 

During the FY 2018-19, IRB lnviT Fund has not acquired any asset from related parties. 

During the previous year ended March 31, 2018, Fund has acquired seven projects i.e. IDAATL, ISDTL, ITATL, IJDTL, MITL, ITCTL and IPATL from 
IRBIDL and its subsidiary Companies. 

*Pursuant to Share purchase agreement dated May 8, 2017, Fund has acquired six projects i.e. IDAATL, ISDTL, ITATL, IJDTL, MITL and ITCTL from 
IRBIDL and its subsidiaries companies. The investment for the said acquisition was raised through Initial Public Issue. 

Summary of valuation report dated March 29, 2017 issued by the independent valuer under the lnviT Regulations is as follows:-

Fair Enterprise value of 6 SPVs' as on March 31, 2017 is as under:-
(Rs in lakhs) 

Name of SPV's Fair enterprise value 

IDAAIL 71,703 

IJDTL 2,31,146 

ISDTL 1,38,791 

ITATL 71,761 

ITCTL 1,55,038 

MITL 36,639 

Total Enterprise value of all the 6 SPVs' 7,05,078 

• Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated September 28, 2017, IRB lnviT Fund has further acquired IPATRL from IRBIDL and MRMPL. 

Summary of valuation report dated August 31, 2017 issued by the independent valuer under the lnviT Regulations is as follows:-

Fair Enterprise value of IPATRL as on September 30, 2017 is as under:-

Rs. in lakhs) 

Name of SPV's Fair enterprise value 

IPATL 1,78,573 

After considering the aforesaid Valuation Reports submitted by the relevant independent intermediaries and pursuant to the negotiations between the 
Investment Manager and the Sponsor, IRBPA has been acquired at an enterprise value of Rs. 15,693.30 million. The acquisition price of IRBPA, 
negotiated between the Investment Manager and the Sellers, represents a discount of 12% to the Fair Enterprises Value mentioned above. The 
project was acquired through external borrowings of Rs. 15,500 million @ 8.15% p.a. rate of interest. 

• The following approach and assumptions have been considered for the valuation exercise:-

1. The Free Cash Flows to Firm under the Discounted Cash Flow Method has been used for the purpose of valuation of each of the above SPVs. 

2. The Weighted Average Cost of Capital for each of the SPVs has been considered as the discount rate for respective SPV for the purpose of 
valuation. 

• There is no material condition or obligations in relation to the transaction. 

• No fees or commission were received or to be received by any associate of the related party in relation to the transaction. 
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III) Related party outstanding balances 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Sr. No. Particulars Relation As on March 31,2019 As on March 31,2018 

1 Equity Investment 1 ,27 ,505.48 1,27,505.48 

IRB Sural Dahisar Tollway Limited Subsidiary 53,232.48 53,232.48 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited Subsidiary 13,175.00 13,175.00 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited Subsidiary 19,812.00 19,812.00 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited Subsidiary 9,909.00 9,909.00 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4,925.00 4,925.00 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited Subsidiary 15,550.00 15,550.00 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited Subsidiary 10,902.00 10,902.00 

2 Subordinated debt 99,431.00 99,431.00 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited Subsidiary 39,525.00 39,525.00 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited Subsidiary 29,581.00 29,581.00 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited Subsidiary 14,775.00 14,775.00 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited Subsidiary 15,550.00 15,550.00 

3 Secured loan receivable (Long term) 3,75,858.01 4,06,967.53 

IRB Sural Dahisar Tollway Limited Subsidiary 33,587.39 51,760.29 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited Subsidiary 92,661.77 92,661.77 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited Subsidiary 6,402.00 17,728.75 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited Subsidiary 93,350.71 93,500.48 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited Subsidiary 37,153.84 37,153.84 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited Subsidiary 93,712.76 93,712.76 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited Subsidiary 18,989.54 20,449.64 

4 Unsecured loan receivable (Long term) 73,258.47 73,258.47 

IRB Sural Dahisar Tollway Limited Subsidiary 11,006.23 11,006.23 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited Subsidiary 3,107.71 3,107.71 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited Subsidiary 25,767.36 25,767.36 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited Subsidiary 15,490.04 15,490.04 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited Subsidiary 8,905.47 8,905.47 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited Subsidiary 7,338.07 7,338.07 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited Subsidiary 1,643.59 1,643.59 

5 Unsecured loan receivable (Short term) 6,717.20 4,627.20 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,942.20 852.20 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited Subsidiary 3,775.00 3,775.00 

6 Trade payables 291.49 266.30 

IRB Infrastructure Private Limited Investment Manager 291.49 266.30 



IRB lnviT Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2019 

Note 22 : Fair Values 

Financial assets and liabilities 

The carrying values of financials instruments of the Fund are reasonable and approximations of fair values. 

The accounting classification of each category of financial instruments, their carrying amounts and the categories of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value, are set out below: 

(Rs. in lakhs) 
Carrying amount Fair Value 

Financial assets 

Loans 

Other financial assets 

Investments in mutual funds 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Financial liabilities 

Trade payables 

Borrowings 

Other financial liabilities 

As at March 31, As at March 31, 

2019 2018 

4,56,219.79 4,85,260.14 

7.68 0.78 

22,703.96 18,636.35 

4.30 5,926.22 

322.93 289.55 

1,50,092.55 1,53,318.71 

41.99 749.75 

As at March 31, 

2019 

4,56,219.79 

7.68 

22,703.96 

4.30 

322.93 
1,51,298.81 

41.99 

As at March 31, 
2018 

4,84,853.20 

0.78 

18,636.35 

5,926.22 

289.55 
1,54,610.50 

749.75 

The management assessed that the fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables, bank overdrafts and other current liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely 

due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. 

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or 

liquidation sale. 

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts that the company has determined that market participants would take into account when pricing the investments. 

The Fund is required to present the Statement of total assets at fair value and Statement of total returns at fair value as per SEBI Circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/114/2016 dated October 20, 2016 as a part 

of these financial statements- Refer Statement of Net assets at fair value and Statement ofTotal Returns at fair value. 

Note 23 : Fair Value Hierarchy 

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole. 

Levell: Quoted (unadjusted) price is active market for identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2: Valuation technique for which the lowest level input that has a significant effect on the fair value measurement are observed, either directly or indirectly. 

Level 3: Valuation technique for which the lowest level input has a significant effect on the fair value measurement is not based on observable market data. 

The following table presents fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2019: 

Assets 
Investments in mutual funds( Quoted) 

As at March 31, 

2019 

22,703.96 

The following table presents fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2018: 

Assets 
Investments in mutual funds( Quoted) 

There has been no transfer between Levell, Level 2 & Level 3 during the year. 

Note 24: Financial risk management objectives and policies 

As at March 31, 

2018 

18,636.35 

(Rs. in lakhs) 
Fair value measurement at end of the reporting year 

using 
Levell Level2 Level3 

22,703.96 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Fair value measurement at end of the reporting year 

using 

Levell Level2 Level3 

18,636.35 

The fund's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the fund, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk 

management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the fund's activities. 

The Board of Directors of Investment Manager have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the fund's risk management framework. 

In performing its operating, investing and financing activities, the fund is exposed to the Credit risk, Liquidity risk and Market risk. 

a. Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, 

currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk and commodity risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings, deposits. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a tin>mcl;ill in<trllrr,ent or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Fund is exposed to credit risk from its investing 

activities including loans to subsidiaries, deposits with banks and other 31, 2019, the credit risk is considered low since substantial transactions of the Fund are with 

its subsidiaries. 

Interest Rate Risk 
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Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The fund's exposure to the risk of changes in 
market interest rates relates primarily to the fund's long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. 

Interest rate sensitivity 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans and borrowings affected, after the excluding the credit exposure for which 
interest rate swap has been taken and hence the interest rate is fixed. With all other variables held constant, the Fund's profit before tax is affected through the impact on floating rate borrowings, 

as follows: 

Increase in basis points 

-INR 

Effect on profit before tax 

- INR 

Increase in basis points 

-INR 

Effect on profit before tax 

-INR 

c. Liquidity risk 

For year ended 
March 31, 2019 

50 

747.84 

50 

(747.84) 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

For year ended 
March 31, 2018 

50 

766.26 

50 

(766.26) 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may not be able to meet its present and future cash and collateral obligations without incurring unacceptable losses. The Fund's objective is to, at all times 

maintain optimum levels of liquidity to meet its cash and collateral requirements. 

The Fund closely monitors its liquidity position and deploys a robust cash management system. It maintains adequate sources of financing including debt and overdraft from banks at an optimised 
cost. 

The liquidity risk is managed on the basis of expected maturity dates of the financial liabilities. The average credit period taken to settle trade payables is about 30 to 90 days. The other payables are 
with short-term durations. The carrying amounts are assumed to be a reasonable approximation of fair value. The following table analyses financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities: 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

March 31, 2019 On demand 
less than 3 

less than 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total 
months 

Borrowings 4,318.36 12,914.45 67,580.14 1,94,008.41 2, 78,821.3 7 
Other financial liabilities 31.09 10.90 41.99 
Trade payables 322.93 322.93 
Total 31.09 4,652.19 12,914.45 67,580.14 1,94,008.41 2,79,186.29 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

March 31, 2018 On demand 
less than 3 

less than 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total 
months 

Borrowings 3,912.50 11,677.51 67,150.89 2,07,819.19 2,90,560.09 
Other financial liabilities 13.20 736.55 749.75 
Trade payables 289.55 289.55 

Total 13.20 4,938.61 11,677.51 67,150.89 2,07,819.19 2,91,599.40 

At present, the fund does expects to repay all liabilities at their contractual maturity. In order to meet such cash commitments, the operating activity is expected to generate sufficient cash inflows. 

Note 25 : Capital management 

Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders to ensure that it maintains an efficient capital structure and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder 

value. The company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions or its business requirements. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
company may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 
March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018. 

The company monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as loans and borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 

Borrowings (Secured) 

Trade and other payables 

Other financial liabilities 

less: cash and cash equivalents (including unpaid dividend account) 

Net debt (A) 

Unit capital 

Initial settlement amount 

Total equity (B) 

Capital and net debt C = A + B 

Gearing ratio (%) (CIA) 

In order to achieve this overall objective, the fund's capital management, amongs 
borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeting the fin 
the financial covenants of any interest-bearing borrowings in the current period. 

(Rs. in lakhs) 
As at March 31, As at March 31, 

2019 2018 

1,51,298.81 1,54,610.50 

322.93 289.55 

41.99 749.75 

(35.39) (5,939.42) 

1,51,628.34 1,49,710.38 

5,60,763.00 5,79,919.50 

0.10 0.10 

5,60,763.10 5,79,919.60 

7,12,391.44 7,29,629.98 

21.28% 20.52% 

s to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and 
ermit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. There have been no breaches in 
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Note 26 : Distribution made 

Distributed during the year as : 

Interest* 

Return on capital' 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2019 

51,374.25 

19,156.50 

70,530.75 

(Rs. in lakhs) 
For the year 

ended 
March 31, 2018 

31,637.25 

12,190.50 

43,827.75 

• Pertains to the distributions made during the financial year along with the distribution related to the last quarter of FY 2017-18 and does not include the distribution relating to the last quarter of FY 
2018-19 which will be paid after March 31, 2019. 

The distributions made by the Fund to its unit holders are based on the Net Distribution Cash Flow (NDCF) of Fund under the lnviT Regulations and hence part of the same includes repayment of 
capital as well. 

Note 27 :Significant accounting judgement, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Fund's financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities 
and the accompanying disclosures and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in out comes that require a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. 

Judgement 

In the process of applying the Fund's accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. 

Classification of unit holders Funds 

Under the provisions of the lnviT Regulations, Fund is required to distribute to Unit holders not less than ninety percent of the net distributable cash flows of Fund for each financial year. Accordingly, 
a portion of the unit holders' Funds contains a contractual obligation of the Fund to pay to its Unit holders cash distributions. The Unit holder's Funds could therefore have been classified as 
compound financial instrument which contain both equity and liability components in accordance with lnd AS 32-Financiallnstruments: Presentation. 

However, in accordance with SEBI Circulars(No.CIR/IMD/DF/114/2016 dated 20-0ct-2016 and No.CIR/IMD/DF/127 /2016 dated 29-Nov-2016) issued under the lnviT Regulations, the unit holders' 
Funds have been classified as equity in order to comply with the mandatory requirements of Section H of Annexure A to the SEBI Circular dated 20-0ct-2016 dealing with the minimum disclosures for 

key financial statements. In line with the above, the income distribution payable to unit holders is recognized as liability when the same is approved by the Investment Manager. 

Estimates and assumptions 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities or fair value disclosures within the next financial year, are described below. The Fund based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial 
statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of 

the Fund. Such charges are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 

Fair valuation and disclosures 

SEBI Circulars issued under the lnviT Regulations required is closures relating to net assets at fair value and total returns at fair value. In estimating the fair value of investments in subsidiaries (which 
constitute substantial portion of the net assets), the Fund engages independent qualified external valuers to perform the valuation. The management works closely with the valuers to establish the 
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The management reports the valuation report and findings to the Board of the Investment Manager half yearly to explain the cause of 

fluctuations in the fair value of the transmission projects. The inputs to the valuation models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement 
is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as WACC, Tax rates, Inflation rates etc. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the fair value. 

(refer note 22 & note 23 for details). 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

Non-financial assets of the Fund primarily comprise of investments in subsidiaries, Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, 
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recordable amounts for the investments in subsidiaries are based on value in use of the underlying projects. The value 
in use calculation is based on a DCF model. The cash flows are derived from budgets I forecasts over the life of the projects. 

Note 28 : Taxes 

In accordance with section 10 (23FC) of the Income Tax Act, the income of business Fund in the form of interest received or receivable from Project SPV is exempt from tax. Accordingly, the Fund is 
not required to provide any current tax liability. Further, deferred tax assets on carry forward losses is not being created sin:::e th~r~ jc; no virtr.t:'l c-:rt2i:~ty cf re11ersal of the s3r.1e in the neJr fut'Jre. 

Note 29 : Subsequent events 

On May 02, 2019, the Board of directors of the Investment Manager approved a distribution of Rs.3.10 per unit for the period January 01, 2019 to March 31, 2019 to be paid on or before 15 days 
from the date of declaration. 



IRB lnviT Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2019 

Note 30 : Previous year comparatives 

Consequent to the issuance of" Guidance Note on Division II- lnd AS Schedule Ill to the Companies Act, 2013" certain items of financial statements have been regrouped/ reclassified, 
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IRB Infrastructure Private limited 
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2019 

As at M arch 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018 

Note (Rs. In millions) (Rs. In millions) 

I ASSETS 
(1) Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 4 0.64 0 .74 
Financial assets 

Investments 5 0.00 
Deferred tax assets (net) 6 0.51 

1.15 0.74 

(2) Current assets 
Financial assets 

I) Trade receivables 7 29.15 26.63 
II) Cash and cash equivalents 8 0.40 18.14 
Ill) Loans 9 358.31 361.89 

Current tax assets (net) 10 1.59 1.59 
Other current assets 11 0.42 0.39 

389.87 408.64 

Total assets 391.02 409.38 

II EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Equity 
Equity share capital 12 100.00 100.00 
Other equity 

Retained earnings 12 (c) 268.11 216.37 
368.11 316.37 

(1) Non-current liabilities 

Provisions 13 1.68 0.37 
1.68 0.37 

(2) Current liabilities 

Financial liabilities 

I) Borrowings 14 6.62 86.77 
II) Trade payables 15 

a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 
b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small 

0.58 0.53 
enterprises 

Iii) Other financial liabilities 16 1.80 0.76 

Other current liabilities 17 5.25 4.47 
Provisions 18 0.79 0.11 

Current tax liabilities (net) 19 6.19 

21.23 92.64 

Total liabilities 22.91 93.01 

Total Equity and liabilities 391.02 409.38 

Summary of significant accounting policies 3 
The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information are as an integral part of the financial statements. 
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IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2019 

Income 
Revenue from operations 
Other income 
TOTAL INCOME 

Expenses 
Employee benefits expense 
Depreciation expenses 
Other expenses 
TOTAL EXPENSES 

Profit I (loss) before tax 

Tax expenses 
Current tax 

Deferred t ax 
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

Profit/( loss) for the period 

Other comprehensive Income 
Item that will not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 
Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans (net of taxes) 
Net other comprehensive Income not to be reclassified to profit or loss In subsequent 

periods 

Other comprehensive Income for the period (net of tax) 
Total comprehensive Income for the year ( net of tax) 

Earnings per equity share (of Rs. 100 each) 
Basic 
Diluted 

Note 

20 
21 

22 
23 
24 

25 

28 
28 

Summary of significant accounting policies 3 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2019 

(Rs. In millions) 

10S.66 
0.83 

106.49 

27.55 
0.10 
5.81 

33.46 

73.03 

20.56 
(0.16) 
20.40 

52.63 

(0.89) 

(0.89) 

(0.89) 

51.74 

52.63 
52.63 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2018 
(Rs. In millions) 

89.59 
16.34 

10S.93 

12.79 
0.25 

133.70 
146.74 

(40.81) 

10.95 
4.41 

15.36 

(56.17) 

0.99 

0.99 

0.99 

(55.18) 

(56.17) 
(56.17) 

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information are as an integral part of the financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 
For S.R. Batllbol & Co. LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

ner 
Membership Number: 046447 

Place: Mumbal 
Date :May 02, 2019 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

Vlnodkumar Menon 

Director 
DIN: 03075345 

1# 
Tushar Kawedla 
Chief Financial Officer 

Place : Mumbal 
Date : May 02, 2019 

t\('1.()."" 
0·~·/ 

Urmll Shah 
Company Secretary 


